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Glossary of Terms

Abbreviation Term
ASC Accounting Standards Codification

BluJay BluJay TopCo Limited, a private limited liability company registered in England and Wales which owned
BluJay Solutions, a cloud-based logistics execution platform company

Business Combination purchase of E2open Holdings, LLC and its subsidiaries by CCNB1 on February 4, 2021

CC Capital CC NB Sponsor 1 Holdings LLC

CCNB1 CC Neuberger Principal Holdings I

Class A Common Stock Class A common stock, par value $0.0001 per share

Class V Common Stock Class V common stock, par value $0.0001 per share

Common Units common units represent limited liability company interests of E2open Holdings, LLC, which are non-
voting, economic interests in E2open Holdings, LLC. Every economic common unit is tied to one
voting share of Class V Common Stock at E2open Holdings Parent, Inc.

Domestication CCNB1 changed its jurisdiction of incorporation from the Cayman Islands to the State of Delaware on
February 4, 2021

Forward Purchase
Agreement

agreement dated as of April 28, 2020 by and between CCNB1 and Neuberger Berman Opportunistic
Capital Solutions Master Fund LP

Forward Purchase
Warrants

5,000,000 redeemable warrants purchased pursuant to the Forward Purchase Agreement

Insight Partners entities affiliated with Insight Venture Management, LLC, including funds under management; controlling
shareholder of E2open Holdings, LLC holding less than 50% voting interests

LIBOR London Interbank Offered Rate

Logistyx Logistyx Technologies, LLC, a private limited liability company headquartered in Chicago, Illinois, which
connects top retailers, manufacturers and logistics providers to more than 550 in-network carriers with
strategic parcel shipping and omni-channel fulfillment technology.

nm not meaningful

NYSE New York Stock Exchange

OEM original equipment manufacturer

RCU restricted common units representing Series 1 and Series 2 of E2open Holdings, LLC

SaaS software-as-a-service or a software distribution model in which a company hosts applications for clients
and makes these applications available to clients via the internet/cloud technology

SCM omni-channel and supply chain management

SEC U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission

SOFR Secured Overnight Financing Rate
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Abbreviation Term
TAM total addressable market, which is the estimated potential market size for SCM software in North America

and Europe

Temasek Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited

U.S. GAAP generally accepted accounting principles in the United States
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Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (2025 Form 10-K) contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the federal
securities law, and are subject to the safe harbor created under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking
statements include all statements that do not relate solely to historical or current facts, and generally can be identified by the use of
words such as “may,” “can,” “should,” “will,” “estimate,” “plan,” “project,” “forecast,” “intend,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “believe,”
“seek,” “target” and similar expressions or future or conditional verbs. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, forward-
looking statements contained in this document include expectations regarding the future growth, operational and financial
performance and business prospects and opportunities.

These forward-looking statements are based on information available as of the date of this 2025 Form 10-K and management's current
expectations, forecasts and assumptions, and involve a number of judgments, known and unknown risks and uncertainties and other
factors, many of which are outside the control of E2open Parent Holdings, Inc (we, our, us, Company or E2open) and outside the
control of our directors, officers and affiliates. Accordingly, we can give no assurance that any expectation or belief will result or will
be achieved or accomplished. Investors therefore should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements.

As a result of a number of known and unknown risks and uncertainties, our results or performance may be materially different from
those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. Some factors that could cause actual results to differ include:

• the effect of the volatile, negative or uncertain macro-economic and political conditions, tariffs, inflation, changes in interest
rates, fluctuation in foreign currency exchange rates and the political effects of these factors on our business, our slowing
growth rate, results of operations and financial condition as well as our clients' businesses and levels of business activity;

• the inability to realize the value of the goodwill and intangible assets, which could result in the incurrence of material charges
related to the impairment of those assets;

• the inability to develop and market new product innovations and monetize our network;

• the slowing of our growth rate due to lower than anticipated new bookings and higher than expected churn;

• risks associated with our acquisitions, including churn, the ability to maintain client relationships and greater than expected
liabilities;

• the inability to attract new clients or upsell/cross sell existing clients or the failure to renew existing client subscriptions on
terms favorable to us;

• risks associated with our international operations, including the risks created by geopolitical instability;

• the failure of the market for cloud-based SCM solutions to develop as quickly as we expect or failure to compete successfully
in a fragmented and competitive SCM market;

• the diversion of management's attention and consumption of resources as a result of the strategic alternatives process;

• failure to maintain adequate operational and financial resources or raise additional capital or generate sufficient cash flows;

• cyber-attacks and security vulnerabilities;

• inability to attract or retain key employees; and

• certain other factors discussed elsewhere in this 2025 Form 10-K.

All forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this 2025 Form 10-K and are expressly qualified in their entirety by the
cautionary statements included in or incorporated by reference into this 2025 Form 10-K. We do not undertake any obligation to
update, add or to otherwise correct any forward-looking statements contained herein to reflect events or circumstances after the date
they were made, whether as a result of new information, future events, inaccuracies that become apparent after the date hereof or
otherwise, except as required by law.

For a further discussion of these and other factors that could impact our future results and performance, see Part I, Item 1A, Risk
Factors.
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PART I

Item 1. Business

Company Overview

We are a world-class provider of cloud-based, end-to-end SCM and orchestration software. Our connected supply chain software
platform enables the largest companies to transform the way they make, move and sell goods and services. With a cloud-native global
SaaS platform purpose-built for modern supply chains, we connect more than 500,000 manufacturing, logistics, channel and
distribution partners across our multi-enterprise network processing over 18 billion transactions annually. Our SaaS platform spans
many key strategic and operational areas including omni-channel, demand sensing, supply planning, global trade management,
transportation and logistics and manufacturing and supply management. We generate revenue from the sale of software subscriptions
and professional services. Our software combines networks, data and applications to provide a deeply embedded, mission-critical
platform that allows clients to optimize their channel and supply chains and accelerate their growth, reduce costs, increase visibility
and improve resiliency. Given the mission-critical nature of our solutions, we maintain long-term relationships with our clients, which
is reflected by our long client tenure. We serve approximately 5,600 clients in all major countries in the world across a wide range of
end-markets, including consumer goods, food and beverage, manufacturing, retail, industrial and automotive, aerospace and defense,
technology and transportation, among others.

We operate in what we believe is an attractive industry with strong secular tailwinds and a TAM which includes significant
whitespace within our current client base. This upsell opportunity within our existing client base is largely driven by their current
technology landscape which is often a combination of legacy point solutions and home-grown applications along with a combination
of manual processes and spreadsheets. As the process of bringing goods and services to market continues to evolve, supply chains
have grown more complex and the need for modern cloud-based solutions has continued to increase. Our SaaS platform has the ability
to anticipate disruptions and opportunities in order to help companies improve efficiency, reduce waste and operate sustainably. We
believe our cloud-based, end-to-end supply chain software platform offers a differentiated and more connected solution for clients to
run a fully integrated supply chain solution providing not just visibility, but the ability to orchestrate their extended supply chain.

Our Platform

Our SaaS platform brings together networks, data, applications and a collaborative user experience to facilitate end-to-end supply
chain visibility across omni-channels, planning, execution and procurement and delivers a strong value proposition.

Network

Our network consists of four distinct, but connected, ecosystems: Demand, Supply, Logistics and Global Trade.

Our Demand ecosystem represents the global cohort of partners that brands rely on our network to sell their products. Retailers,
distributors, re-sellers and those who sell goods primarily through online channels are grouped under this ecosystem.

Our Supply ecosystem is comprised of partners for the production of goods that brands rely on to manufacture their products,
including components, materials and manufacturing capacity. Contract manufacturers, co-packers, component and raw material
suppliers across multiple tiers of the manufacturing process are grouped under this ecosystem.
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Our Logistics ecosystem includes global logistics services that transport components, raw materials and finished goods across all
modes.

Our Global Trade ecosystem allows participants to automate the global movement of goods and facilitate cross-border transactions for
businesses, which we believe is increasingly important given the velocity with which import and export laws change on a global scale.

Our network connects participants across all of these ecosystems, enabling clients to analyze data, identify problems proactively and
optimize asset efficiency. We are a leading provider with a unique network of ecosystems, and do not rely on third party providers for
network information.

Data

Our proprietary algorithms capture, cleanse, normalize and harmonize the data within our network ecosystems that feed our solutions
to deliver compelling value to our clients. Additionally, our clients can combine internal and external vendor data with our network to
drive informed decision-making based on real-time information. Our ability to capture and harmonize data from our clients and their
trading partners in any native format demonstrates the strong capabilities of our software architecture and integrated data model. The
combination of network ecosystems, data and applications provides end-to-end supply chain visibility in a way that is unique to our
platform and provides cost savings measures for our clients.

Applications

Our end-to-end applications include advanced algorithms with artificial intelligence (AI) to help clients gain insights for enhanced
decision-making across channel, supply chain planning, execution and procurement functions. The AI embedded within our
applications encompasses a variety of technologies, including supervised machine learning, unsupervised machine learning and
generative AI with large language models. Our applications are organized into five product families: Channel, Planning, Global
Trade, Logistics and Supply.

Channel: Complete 360-degree view of retail, distribution and online activity with the decision-grade partner data to empower clients
to manage incentive programs and retail execution, access and optimize partner performance and measure the return on channel
investments.

Planning: Create accurate plans that align demand, supply and inventory across the entire value chain, send changes using real-time
data, assess the business impact of deviations, evaluate corrective actions and collaborate with sub-tier partners to put plans into
actions.

Global Trade: Manage every aspect of trade on a single platform from import and export duties to free trade agreements, bonded
warehouses, custom filings and compliance with government regulations backed by the most comprehensive, up-to-date trade content
available.

Logistics: Plan and execute the movement of goods anywhere in the world across any mode of transportation with the agility and
resiliency to respond rapidly to changes or disruptions.

Supply: Gain agility and resiliency with multi-tier visibility into supply, including materials and capacity, enable complex direct
sourcing and procurement efficiencies and achieve consistent quality and control for both internal and external manufacturing.

Competitive Strengths

World-Class End-to-End Mission Critical Software

We are focused on providing a world-class cloud-based, end-to-end SCM and orchestration software that will provide the full supply
chain visibility and solutions needed by our clients.

• Single connected SCM platform for planning and execution, making aligned decisions that consider the realities of our
client’s extended supply chain and orchestrating actions across internal and sub-tier ecosystem partners.

• Connected decisions to comply with regulations that increasingly extend to sub-tiers beyond our client’s immediate
control, manage risks and disruptions across extended supply chains that impact production and client service, accelerate
growth to expand sales and revenue and improve operational efficiencies reducing waste and increasing profitability.



8

• Largest supply chain operating network that includes all four ecosystems, increasing the likelihood that the partners our
clients trade with are already on our network, with reusable connections to lower the barrier, reduce the time to value and
cost to implement.

• Full range of best-in-class planning and execution applications on a single platform offering the ability to reduce
enterprise complexity, lower integration costs and enable cross-functional workflows to unlock value in more advanced
deployments.

• Decades of multi-enterprise experience in understanding complex sub-tier processes to make, move and sell goods as well
as design products to operate in multi-enterprise environments which are exponentially more complex than the traditional
enterprise approach.

• Decades of experience in deploying artificial intelligence in production at scale, with deep expertise on the corner cases
and exception handling required to make applied artificial intelligence in supply chains successful. Our network provides
access to sub-tier value chain partner data required to feed artificial intelligence for supply chain decisions and the ability
to automate process orchestration across sub-tier parties to put artificial intelligence decision into action.

Strong Network Effects Enhanced by a Flexible and Integrated Data Model

Our core offerings are underpinned by an integrated data model that facilitates the flow and processing of data for participants across
several ecosystems and applications. This model facilitates low latency, “many-to-one-to-many” data exchange across trading partner
ecosystems. The combination of our integrated and flexible data model along with our connected ecosystems powers our clients'
solutions allowing them to efficiently orchestrate their end-to-end supply chains. This architecture is designed to ensure that each
participant and data source within these ecosystems enhances our applications, which in turn improves the network and the value we
deliver to our clients and participants. Additionally, we believe utilizing our software to efficiently orchestrate our clients' end-to-end
supply chains enables our clients to realize significant value and return on investment.

Our software architecture and ability to normalize and harmonize data creates a scalable software platform that can efficiently
integrate acquisitions and new product applications seamlessly into a consolidated and holistic SaaS solution. Our software
architecture and this ability have been driving forces behind our robust track-record of successful acquisition integrations.

Importantly, we believe there is incremental value we can create by utilizing the data flowing through our network to develop insights
that can further help our clients as well as other target markets. We plan to develop a comprehensive strategy to capture this market
opportunity and deepen our relationships with clients, which has the potential to meaningfully accelerate revenue growth.

Long-Term Relationships with Diversified, Fortune 1000 Client Base

We deliver solutions for some of the largest global brand owners and manufacturers. Our diverse client base of large enterprise clients
spans a broad spectrum of industries including consumer goods, food and beverage, manufacturing, retail, technology and
transportation, among others.

Our software is critical to the operations of companies with complex supply chain needs. It not only provides operational efficiencies
but also contributes a financial impact through cost reductions and enabling new revenue opportunities. Our clients utilize our highly
differentiated solutions to orchestrate their supply chains, which enables them to realize significant value and return on investment,
especially in volatile environments.

Clients' focus and satisfaction are the bedrock of our mission. The success of our clients is the cornerstone of our successful growth.
As such, we are refocusing our culture and operations around our client-centric approach.

Growth Strategies

We intend to profitably grow our business and create shareholder value through the following strategic initiatives:

Expand Within Existing Clients

We believe there is a significant opportunity to drive growth through expansion of our existing client relationships. Cross-selling
represents a strong growth area for us given that we have substantial whitespace within our current client base. Our products and
network provide a unique opportunity to facilitate end-to-end SCM. This provides us a significant opportunity to cross-sell additional
products to our clients, accelerating growth and strengthening relationships with our installed client base.
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Win New Clients

As part of our growth strategy, another key growth lever is winning new clients. We have invested in strategic system integrator
partnership initiatives to reach clients we could not previously reach. We are building collaborative go-to-market partnerships with
key strategic system integrator partners. Our joint goal is to identify strategic integrator partners' clients carrying out broad digital
transformation projects who have supply chain software needs that match well with our vertical market expertise and product value
proposition. Additionally, we plan to continue pursuing strategic partnerships and leverage the networks of our board of directors,
advisory board and others to elevate conversations with C-level executives at key targets in our pipeline. We also intend to utilize
these relationships and networks as well as our own channel reseller and partner network to accelerate growth through the onboarding
of new clients.

Strategic Acquisitions

From time to time, we evaluate opportunities to acquire companies that will broaden our product offerings and expand our technology
capabilities. Our key strategic acquisition criteria include mission-critical solutions in core markets; complementary cloud applications
with minimal product overlap; new client relationships in vertical or geographic markets; and TAM, proprietary data and/or network
expansion. We will continue to use this strategic lever as the opportunities arise.

Intellectual Property

We consider the protection of our intellectual property and proprietary information to be an important facet of our business. We own a
number of trademarks, patents, copyrights and domain names registered in the United States and abroad that, together, are meaningful
to our business, including the e2open, BluJay, Logistyx and INTTRA marks, among others. From time to time, we have pursued
enforcement of our intellectual property rights against third parties and expect to do so in the future. In addition, we enter into
customary confidentiality and invention assignment agreements with employees and contractors involved in the development of our
intellectual property.

Government Regulation and Compliance

We are subject to various laws and regulations of the United States and other jurisdictions, including the European Union, by
supranational, national and local government authorities, including with respect to sanctions compliance, privacy laws, labor and
employment laws and other laws. In the United States, our global sanctions compliance is monitored by the Office of Foreign Assets
Control of the U.S. Treasury Department (OFAC), and certain of our subsidiaries have received a license from OFAC permitting
certain business, transactions or other activities involving sanctioned countries. We monitor these regulatory requirements, including
the requirements for retaining our OFAC license and our compliance on a regular basis.

Organizational Structure

Our organizational structure is what is commonly referred to as an umbrella partnership C corporation (or Up-C) structure. This
organizational structure allows certain owners of E2open Holdings to retain their equity ownership in E2open Holdings, an entity that
is classified as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes, in the form of Common Units and Series 2 RCUs. Each continuing
owner of E2open Holdings also holds a number of shares of Class V common stock equal to the number of Common Units held by
such owner, which has no economic value, but which entitles the holder to one vote per share at any meeting of our shareholders.
Those investors who, prior to the Business Combination, held Class A ordinary shares or Class B ordinary shares of CCNB1 and
certain other investors and vested option holders, by contrast, hold their equity ownership in the Company, a Delaware corporation
that is a domestic corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

Risk Management
Management conducts regular enterprise risk assessments, which are reviewed with the Risk Committee of the board of directors, and
then summarized for the board of directors. Enterprise risk assessments include an evaluation of the impact, likelihood, and velocity of
risks, which determines the level of oversight necessary, including the use of outside advisors and experts as needed. A management
comprised Executive Risk Committee responsible for reviewing and responding to risks also participates in the Disclosure Committee
and provides input on relevant disclosure areas. The board of directors has assigned certain risks to board committees, e.g.,
environmental, social and governance (ESG) to the Nominating, Sustainability and Governance Committee and Enterprise Risk
Management to the Risk Committee of the board of directors.
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Human Capital

We believe our success in delivering cloud-based, end-to-end SCM software relies on our culture, values, and the creativity and
commitment of our people. Each member of our global team performs an integral role within the organization that helps us to
successfully manage our operations and serve our clients. We operate in 22 offices across North America, South America, Europe and
Asia-Pacific. As of February 28, 2025, we had 3,873 full-time employees with 1,143 in North and South America, 451 in Europe and
2,279 in Asia-Pacific.

Embracing diversity worldwide is integral to finding the best people, not a box to check or standard to meet. This perspective is
adopted throughout the Company and reinforced in the U.S. through our annual training on diversity and inclusion and preventing
harassment and discrimination.

As a company, we strive to attract, retain, motivate and reward the best possible people. To accomplish this, we offer benefits
consistent with best practices in the areas where we operate. For example, in the U.S., our competitive Total Rewards and Health
Benefits Program includes the following:

• Fixed base pay;

• Unlimited paid time off;

• Incentive variable bonus plan and equity;

• Retirement plan match;

• Training and career development;

• Paid parental leave; and

• Health benefits - medical, dental, vision, Health Savings Account (HSA) and both long-term and short-term disability.

We invest in our people and strive to maintain a healthy, safe and secure work environment where our employees are treated with
respect and dignity. We endeavor to create an inclusive and diverse community that inspires collaboration, integrity, engagement and
innovation while offering the opportunity for personal and professional growth. Our culture is built upon our operating principles: be
prepared, build relationships on trust and respect, be direct and transparent, learn and operate with intensity, make and meet
commitments reliably, always add values and own the results.

We recognize and value the important role of employee training in our long-term growth. We strive to be the best in the industry,
which demands the best from each employee. Training starts on day one to help streamline the transition employee onboarding. We
created e2immersion, a several hour comprehensive introduction to e2open and how to navigate as a new hire. E2immersion includes
new hire material on everything from our applications to compliance procedures. To ensure our employees' ongoing personal and
professional growth, we developed e2open University where employees can participate in various online training classes. These
training classes are continually updated and new classes are added, so that our employees have a full range of classes available on
relevant topics. Each year, our employees receive role-specific training which includes product overviews, anti-harassment, insider
trading, cybersecurity awareness, compliance with our Code of Business Conduct and other compliance and industry-specific subjects.
E2open University also has courses on leadership and management skills, as well as business planning and application deployments,
to name just a few.

We use a framework called e2review to drive our performance review and engagement process. E2review encourages continual open
and interactive communication between employees and their managers allowing individual needs to be recognized and met, as well as
company goals to be supported. This allows the employee and their manager to establish a professional development plan that
facilitates personal employee growth while advancing our strategy.

E2WIN is the e2open Women’s Inclusion Network. It is a global group that is open to employees of any gender identity. E2WIN’s
mission is to create a gender equal community at e2open that enables talent of all backgrounds to inspire and empower one another
and to build a more equal and inclusive workplace. The objectives of the program are to provide unparalleled support to propel
professional development at e2open; allow more opportunities for our employees to connect with each other to grow their support
network; and increase attraction, retention and promotion of women at e2open. E2WIN achieves these objectives through several
initiatives including a mentoring program, regional and global group meetings, guest speakers, community service and training.



11

We foster innovation through the annual e2opennovation contest where individuals or teams develop innovative, useful, cost-saving
and cutting-edge solutions that benefit clients, us and/or fellow team members. The competition includes two categories: (1) move the
needle where innovation advances our three-year strategic goals and (2) hidden gems where innovation showcases work over the past
year that elevates us and our clients.

We have global culture and events committees which serve to embrace and share our global culture while generating programs and
social activities throughout the year with the goal of helping to unify the team and give back to our communities. We also launched a
way for our remote employees to connect and engage through an employee resource group called e2unite. The goal of e2unite is to
provide resources for our remote team members to stay connected through technologies, fostering social interactions, aligning team
members with our goals, values and operating principles while enhancing the sense of well-being.

We work to keep our employees updated on our developments, achievements and new product offerings through regular All Hands
meetings with our senior leadership team. We consistently work to improve the employee experience by addressing feedback collected
through our global employee survey as well as various targeted surveys we conduct with managers, new hires and employees leaving
the Company. We use Viva Engage as an internal communications tool, enabling employees to connect by posting pictures of holiday
and team celebrations, using it to share news about new hires and work anniversaries and otherwise connect in a more personal way.

Financial Information About Industry Segments

We have one reportable segment consisting of cloud-based, end-to-end SCM software and related professional services. All of our
activities are interrelated, and we evaluate our performance in total as one segment.

Available Information

Our website address is www.e2open.com. Electronic copies of our SEC filings are available through the Investor Relations tab as soon
as practicable after the reports are filed with the SEC. Additionally, our Code of Ethics, Corporate Governance Guidelines,
Whistleblower Policy and the charters of our Audit Committee, Compensation Committee, Nominating, Sustainability and
Governance Committee, and Risk Committee are located under the Governance tab of the Investor Relations section of our website.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to differ materially from the results contemplated by the forward-looking
statements contained in this 2025 Form 10-K and other public statements we make are described below. Based on the information
currently known to us, we believe that the matters discussed below identify the material risk factors affecting our business. However,
the risks and uncertainties we face are not limited to those described below. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to
us or that we currently believe to be immaterial, but that could later become material, may also adversely affect our business.

Summary of Risk Factors

The following summarizes risks and uncertainties that could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of
operations and stock price. You should read this summary together with the detailed description of each risk factor contained below.

Risks Related to Strategic Alternatives Process

• We cannot assure you that our strategic review will result in any particular outcome, and the strategic review process or its
conclusion will not adversely affect our business and our stockholders.

Risks Related to Macroeconomic and Market Competition

• Changes in the global economic environment, tariffs, inflation, elevated interest rates, recessions or prolonged periods of
slow economic growth, and economic instability and actual and threatened geopolitical conflict, could have an adverse effect
on our industry and business, as well as those of our clients and suppliers.

• Adverse or weakened general economic and market conditions may reduce spending on supply chain technology and
information, which could harm our revenue, results of operations and cash flows.

• We face intense competition, and our failure to compete successfully would make it difficult for us to add and retain clients
and would impede the growth of our business.
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Risks Related to our Indebtedness

• Our substantial level of indebtedness and significant leverage may materially adversely affect our ability to fund our
operations and limit our ability to react to changes in the economy or our industry.

• Our variable rate indebtedness subjects us to interest rate risk, which could cause our debt service obligations to increase
significantly.

• Our debt agreements contain restrictions that limit our flexibility in operating our business.

• We may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service all of our indebtedness, and we may be forced to take other actions
to satisfy our obligations under our indebtedness, which may not be successful.

• A lowering or withdrawal of the ratings assigned to our debt securities by rating agencies may increase our future borrowing
costs and reduce our access to capital.

Risks Related to our Business Model and the Markets in Which We Compete

• Our business depends on clients renewing their subscription agreements. Any decline in renewal or net retention rates could
harm our future operating results.

• Our largest revenue clients have substantial negotiating leverage, which may require that we agree to terms and conditions
that result in increased cost of sales, decreased revenue and lower average selling prices and gross margins, all of which
could harm our results of operations.

• Given many of our key clients are large enterprise clients, our sales cycle is longer and more expensive, and we may
encounter pricing pressure and implementation and configuration challenges.

• If we are unable to sell products to new clients or to sell additional products or upgrades to our existing clients, it will
adversely affect our revenue growth and operating results.

• Our ability to grow our business is dependent in part on the strategic relationships we develop and maintain with third parties.

• Our ability to develop our brand is important for our continued success.

• Delays in implementing our products could adversely impact our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial
conditions.

• Because we generally recognize revenue from subscriptions for our services over the term of the subscription, downturns or
upturns in new business may not be immediately reflected in our operating results.

• We have experienced rapid growth in historic periods that may not be indicative of our future growth.

• If we fail to maintain adequate operational and financial resources, we may be unable to execute our business plan or
maintain high levels of service and client satisfaction.

• Our success depends in part on our ability to develop and market new and enhanced solutions modules, and we may not be
able to do so, or do so quickly enough to respond to changes in demand. Even if we anticipate changes in demand, it may be
difficult for us to transition existing clients to new versions of our solutions.

• The market for cloud-based SCM solutions is still evolving. If this market develops more slowly than we expect, our revenue
may fail to grow or decline, and we may incur additional operating losses.

• Cyber-attacks and security vulnerabilities could result in serious harm to our reputation, business and financial condition.

• If we fail to integrate our products with a variety of operating systems, software applications, platforms and hardware that are
developed by others or ourselves, our products may become less competitive or obsolete and our results of operations would
be harmed.

• Integration of AI into our software solutions presents a number of risks that could materially affect our financial condition
and operations.

• We have a significant amount of goodwill and intangible assets on our balance sheet, and our results of operations may be
adversely affected if we fail to realize the full value of our goodwill and intangible assets.

• Inability to attract, integrate and retain management and other personnel could adversely impact our business, results of
operations, cash flows and financial condition.
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• Business disruptions could seriously harm our future revenue and financial condition and increase our costs and expenses.

Risks Related to International Operations

• Because our long-term success depends on our ability to operate our business internationally and increase sales of our
products to clients located outside of the United States, our business is susceptible to risks associated with international
operations.

• Our operating results include foreign currency gains and losses.

Risks Related to Key Third-Party Relationships

• Interruptions or performance problems associated with our products, including disruptions at any third-party data center upon
which we rely, may impair our ability to support our clients.

• The information we source from third parties for inclusion in our knowledge databases may not be accurate and complete.
Our trade experts may make errors in interpreting legal and other requirements when processing this information and our
trade content may not be updated on a timely basis, which can expose our clients to fines and other substantial claims and
penalties.

• Interruptions or performance problems associated with our internal infrastructure, and its reliance on technologies from third
parties, may adversely affect our ability to manage our business and meet reporting obligations.

• We leverage third-party software for use with our solution. Performance issues, errors and defects or failure to successfully
integrate or license necessary third-party software could cause delays, errors or failures of our solution, increases in our
expenses and reductions in our sales, which could materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Risks Related to Being a Public Company and Ownership of Our Securities

• CC Capital, Insight Partners, Francisco Partners and Temasek and their respective affiliates beneficially own a significant
equity interest in us and all have representation on our board of directors, except Francisco Partners, and their interests may
conflict with our or your interests.

• We may issue additional shares of our Class A Common Stock or other equity securities without your approval, which would
dilute your ownership interests and may depress the market price of your shares.

• If analysts do not publish or cease publishing research or reports about us, our business or our market, or if they adversely
change their recommendations regarding our Class A Common Stock, then the price and trading volume of our securities
could decline.

• We may amend the terms of the warrants in a manner that may be adverse to holders of the public warrants with the approval
by the holders of at least 50% of the then outstanding public warrants. As a result, the exercise price of your warrants could
be increased, the exercise period could be shortened and the number of shares of Class A Common Stock purchasable upon
exercise of a warrant could be decreased, all without your approval.

• Our warrants may have an adverse effect on the market price of our Class A Common Stock.

Risks Related to the Holding Company Structure and Tax Receivable Agreement

• We are a holding company and our only material asset is our interest in E2open Holdings, and we are accordingly dependent
upon distributions made by our subsidiaries to pay taxes, make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement and pay
dividends.

• Pursuant to the Tax Receivable Agreement associated with the Business Combination Agreement, we are required to pay
certain sellers 85% of the tax savings that we realize as a result of increases in tax basis in E2open Holdings. These payments
may be substantial, as well as exceed actual tax benefits. The timing of these payments may also be accelerated.

Risks Related to Legal and Regulatory

• Our use of open source software could negatively affect our ability to sell our products and subject us to possible litigation.

• We may be sued by third parties for various claims including alleged infringement of proprietary intellectual property rights.
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• We are subject to sanctions, anti-corruption, anti-bribery and similar laws, and non-compliance with such laws can subject us
to criminal penalties or significant fines and harm our business and reputation.

• Changes in tax laws or regulations in the various tax jurisdictions we are subject to that are applied adversely to us or our
paying clients could increase the costs of our products and services and harm our business.

• Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards may be subject to limitation.

• Privacy concerns and laws, evolving regulation of cloud computing, cross-border data transfer restrictions and other domestic
or foreign regulations may limit the use and adoption of our products and adversely affect our business.

General Risks

• Changes in laws and regulations related to the internet or changes in the internet infrastructure itself may diminish the
demand for our platform and could harm our business.

Risks Related to Strategic Review Process

We cannot assure you that our strategic review will result in any particular outcome, and the strategic review process or its
conclusion will not adversely affect our business and our stockholders.

In March 2024, the Company's management and board of directors announced a strategic review of the business to maximize value for
our stockholders. We continue to actively work with financial advisors and legal counsel in this review process.

No assurance can be given as to the timeline or outcome of the process, including whether the process will result in a transaction or
that any transaction that is agreed to will be completed. Entry into or completion of any potential transaction or other strategic
alternatives would be dependent on a number of factors that may be beyond our control, including, among other things, market
conditions, industry trends, regulatory approvals and the availability of financing for a potential transaction on reasonable terms. Even
if a transaction is entered into, there can be no assurance that it will be successful or have a positive effect on stockholder value. Our
board of directors may also determine that no transaction is in the best interest of our stockholders.

We have incurred and may continue to incur substantial expenses associated with identifying, evaluating, and negotiating potential
strategic alternatives. The process of reviewing potential strategic alternatives has been and may continue to be time consuming,
distracting and disruptive to our business operations. We have also incurred and may continue to incur additional unanticipated
expenses in connection with this process. In addition, we may be subject to costly and time-consuming litigation related to the process.
Further, the process has resulted and may continue to result in the loss of potential business opportunities and has had and may
continue to have a negative effect on the market price and volatility of our common stock, as well as our ability to recruit and retain
qualified personnel.

In addition, speculation regarding any developments related to the strategic review and perceived uncertainties related to the future of
the Company may continue to cause our stock price to fluctuate significantly.
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Risks Related to Macroeconomic and Market Competition

Changes in the global economic environment, tariffs, inflation, elevated interest rates, recessions or prolonged periods of slow
economic growth, and economic instability and actual and threatened geopolitical conflict, could have an adverse effect on our
industry and business, as well as those of our clients and suppliers.

Continuing concerns over economic and business prospects in the United States and throughout the world, including impacts related to
tariffs, inflationary pressures and geopolitical disruptions have contributed to increased volatility and diminished expectations for the
global economy. As a global company, we are subject to the risks arising from adverse changes in the domestic and global economies.
In addition, uncertainty in the macroeconomic environment and associated global economic conditions have resulted in volatility in
credit, equity and foreign currency markets. In fiscal 2025 and 2024, our revenues were subject to foreign currency exchange
volatility, resulting in a negative impact of approximately $0.3 million and a positive impact of approximately $2.2 million from
foreign currency exchange rates year-over-year, respectively. These macroeconomic conditions have and are likely to continue to
affect the buying patterns of our clients and prospective clients, including the length of sales cycles, our overall pipeline and pipeline
conversion rates and our revenue growth expectations. In addition, we have experienced, and could experience in the future, delays in
payments from our clients experiencing weakness in their business as a result of the macroeconomic environment and associated
global economic conditions, which could increase our credit risk exposure or adversely impact our cash flows and harm our financial
condition. For example, in fiscal 2025, we experienced lower new bookings, elevated churn, lengthening sales cycles, a decrease in
pipeline conversion rates and slower revenue growth. If macroeconomic or geopolitical conditions deteriorate, our overall results of
operations could be adversely affected; we may not be able to grow at the rates we have experienced in the past and we could fail to
meet the expectations of investors.

The full extent of the impact of current macroeconomic factors, including those related to inflationary pressures, foreign exchange
rates and geopolitical disruptions, on our operational and financial performance remains uncertain and will depend on many factors
outside our control. To the extent these factors adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition, this may
also have the effect of heightening many of the other risks described in this section.

Adverse or weakened general economic and market conditions may reduce spending on supply chain technology and information,
which could harm our revenue, results of operations and cash flows.

Our revenue, results of operations and cash flows depend on the overall demand for and use of technology and information for global
SCM, which depends in part on the amount of spending allocated by our clients or potential clients on supply chain technology and
information. This spending depends on worldwide economic and geopolitical conditions. The U.S. and other key international
economies have experienced cyclical downturns from time to time in which economic activity was impacted by falling demand for a
variety of goods and services; tariffs, poor liquidity; reduced corporate profitability; volatility in credit, equity and foreign exchange
markets; bankruptcies; a public health crisis; and overall economic uncertainty. These economic conditions can arise suddenly, and the
full impact of such conditions often remains uncertain. In addition, geopolitical developments can increase levels of political and
economic unpredictability globally and increase the volatility of global financial markets.

Concerns about the systemic impact of a global recession, tariffs, increasing energy costs, geopolitical issues or the availability and
cost of credit could lead to increased market volatility, decreased consumer confidence and diminished growth expectations in the
U.S. economy and abroad, which in turn could affect the rate of information technology spending and adversely affect our clients'
ability or willingness to purchase our services, delay prospective clients' purchasing decisions, reduce the value or duration of their
subscription contracts or affect attrition rates, all of which could adversely affect our future sales and operating results. Prolonged
economic slowdowns may result in requests to renegotiate existing contracts on less advantageous terms to us than those currently in
place, payment defaults on existing contracts or non-renewal at the end of a contract term.

We face intense competition, and our failure to compete successfully would make it difficult for us to add and retain clients and
would impede the growth of our business.

The SCM market is fragmented, competitive and rapidly evolving. We compete with other cloud-based SCM vendors, traditional
enterprise resource planning vendors such as SAP and Oracle and other service providers as well as with solutions developed
internally by enterprises seeking to manage their global supply chains and global trade. Some of our actual and potential competitors
may enjoy competitive advantages over us, such as greater name recognition, more varied offerings and larger marketing budgets as
well as greater financial, technical and other resources. Furthermore, some competitors may have best-of-breed solutions to problems
created by the unique trading requirements of particular countries, industries and/or business processes. Some key competitors are
private companies with lower overhead and no exposure to the public markets, which allow them to price deals in an unprofitable
manner or otherwise compete in ways that we cannot compete as a public company. As a result, our competitors may be able to
respond more quickly than we can to new or changing opportunities, technologies, standards or client requirements or devote greater
resources to the promotion and sale of their products and services than we can.
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The intensity of competition in the SCM market has resulted in pricing pressure as the market has developed, and our competitors
frequently offer substantial price discounts for their products. We expect the intensity of competition to increase in the future as
existing competitors develop their capabilities and as new companies, which could include one or more large software or trade content
providers, enter the market. Increased competition could result in additional pricing pressure, reduced sales, shorter term lengths for
client contracts, lower margins or the failure of our solutions to achieve or maintain broad market acceptance. If we are unable to
compete effectively, it will be difficult for us to maintain our pricing rates and add or retain clients, and our business, financial
condition and results of operations will be harmed.

Risks Related to our Indebtedness

Our substantial level of indebtedness and significant leverage may materially adversely affect our ability to fund our operations
and limit our ability to react to changes in the economy or our industry.

We have a substantial amount of indebtedness and are significantly leveraged. As of February 28, 2025, we had outstanding
indebtedness in the principal amount of $1,056.3 million. Our 2021 Revolving Credit Facility has a borrowing capacity of $155.0
million with no outstanding borrowings as of February 28, 2025. Our substantial level of indebtedness increases the possibility that we
may be unable to generate sufficient cash to pay the principal, interest or other amounts due in respect of our indebtedness. Our
substantial indebtedness, combined with our other financial obligations and contractual commitments, may have a material adverse
impact on us and our business. For example, it could:

• make it more difficult for us to satisfy obligations with respect to our indebtedness and any repurchase obligations that may
arise thereunder;

• require us to dedicate a substantial portion of cash flow from operations to payments on our indebtedness, thereby reducing
funds available for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, research and development and other purposes;

• increase our vulnerability to adverse economic, market and industry conditions and limit our flexibility in planning for, or
reacting to, these conditions;

• expose us to the risk of increased interest rates as the majority of our borrowings are at variable rates of interest;

• limit our flexibility to adjust to changing market conditions and our ability to withstand competitive pressures, and we may
be more vulnerable to a downturn in general economic or industry conditions or be unable to carry out capital spending that
is necessary or important to our growth strategy;

• limit our ability to borrow additional funds or to dispose of assets to raise funds, if needed, for working capital, capital
expenditures, acquisitions, research and development and other corporate purposes; and

• limit our ability to compete with others who are not as highly-leveraged.

Our variable rate indebtedness subjects us to interest rate risk, which could cause our debt service obligations to increase
significantly.

All of the borrowings under the credit agreement (Credit Agreement), including the senior secured term loan due in 2028 and
revolving credit facility due in 2026, bear interest at variable rates and are subject to the risk of changes in interest rates. In April
2025, the revolving credit facility due date was extended to February 2028. The Federal Reserve raised interest rates substantially
during fiscal 2023 and 2024, and as a result the interest we pay on our debt has increased significantly and has adversely impacted our
results of operations and cash flows. This adverse impact may continue or worsen during fiscal 2025 if the Federal Reserve maintains
interest rates at their current higher levels or elects to raise interest rates further.

In March and April 2023, we entered into interest rate collar agreements on a portion of our variable rate term loan debt in order to
reduce our exposure to further increases in interest rates. We have not entered into interest rate derivative or hedging agreements
related to our revolving credit facility, which is currently undrawn. In the future, we may enter into additional derivative or hedging
agreements to further reduce our exposure to variable interest rates. However, we may not hedge all of our indebtedness, and any
hedges that we may have, or will put in place, may not fully mitigate our interest rate risk.

Our debt agreements contain restrictions that limit our flexibility in operating our business.

The senior secured credit facilities contain various covenants that limit our ability to engage in specified types of transactions,
including, among other things:

• incur additional indebtedness or issue certain preferred shares;

• pay certain dividends or make certain distributions on capital stock or repurchase or redeem capital stock;
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• make certain loans, investments or other restricted payments, including certain payments with respect to subordinated
indebtedness;

• transfer or sell certain assets;

• enter into certain sale and leaseback transactions;

• incur certain liens;

• guarantee indebtedness or incur other contingent obligations;

• consolidate, merge, sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our assets; and

• engage in certain transactions with our affiliates.

In addition, under the senior secured credit facilities, we are required to satisfy specified financial ratios, including a first-lien secured
debt leverage ratio. Our ability to meet those financial ratios can be affected by events beyond our control, and we may not be able to
meet those ratios and tests.

A breach of the covenants under our Credit Agreement could result in an event of default under the applicable indebtedness. Such
default may allow the creditors to accelerate the related debt. In addition, an event of default under the Credit Agreement would
permit the lenders to terminate all commitments to further extend credit under that agreement. Furthermore, if we were unable to repay
the amounts due and payable under the Credit Agreement, those lenders could proceed against the collateral granted to them to secure
such indebtedness. A significant portion of our indebtedness could become immediately due and payable. We cannot be certain
whether we would have, or would be able to obtain, sufficient funds to make these accelerated payments. If any such indebtedness is
accelerated, our assets may not be sufficient to repay in full such indebtedness and our other indebtedness.

We may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service all of our indebtedness, and we may be forced to take other actions to
satisfy our obligations under our indebtedness, which may not be successful.

Our ability to make scheduled payments on or to refinance our debt obligations depends on our financial condition and operating
performance, which in turn are subject to prevailing economic and competitive conditions and to certain financial, business and other
factors beyond our control. We may not be able to maintain a level of cash flows from operating activities sufficient to permit us to
pay the principal, premium, if any, and interest on our indebtedness. Recent changes in market interest rates, including the recent
significant increases in market interest rates experienced in fiscal 2023 and 2024, may continue to increase, causing additional cash
requirements to meet increasing interest payments, Between February 2022 and February 2024, the 2021 Term Loan saw its variable
interest rate rise from 4.00% to 8.95%. The rising interest expenses may further hinder our ability to maintain a level of cash flows
from operating activities sufficient to permit us to pay the principal, premium, if any, and interest on our indebtedness.

If our cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to fund our debt service obligations, we could face substantial liquidity
problems and may be forced to reduce or delay investments and capital expenditures or to sell assets, seek additional capital or
restructure or refinance our indebtedness. Our ability to restructure or refinance our debt will depend on the condition of the capital
markets and our financial condition at such time. Any refinancing of our debt could be at higher interest rates and may require us to
comply with more onerous covenants, which could further restrict our business operations. The terms of existing or future debt
instruments may restrict us from adopting some of these alternatives. In addition, any failure to make interest and principal payments
on our outstanding indebtedness on a timely basis would likely result in a reduction of our credit rating, which could harm our ability
to incur additional indebtedness. In the absence of such cash flows and resources, we could face substantial liquidity problems and
might be required to dispose of material assets or operations to meet our debt service and other obligations. Our credit facilities restrict
E2open Holdings' and our restricted subsidiaries' ability to dispose of assets and use the proceeds from the disposition. We may not be
able to complete those dispositions or obtain the proceeds that we could realize from them and these proceeds may not be adequate to
meet any debt service obligations then due. These alternative measures may not be successful and may not permit us to meet our
scheduled debt service obligations.
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A lowering or withdrawal of the ratings assigned to our debt securities by rating agencies may increase our future borrowing costs
and reduce our access to capital.

Our debt currently has a non-investment grade rating, and any rating assigned could be lowered or withdrawn entirely by a rating
agency if, in that rating agency's judgment, future circumstances relating to the basis of the rating, such as adverse changes in our
performance under assorted financial metrics and other measures of financial strength, our business and financial risk, our industry or
other factors determined by such rating agency, so warrant. There can be no assurances that our credit ratings or outlook will not be
lowered in the future in response to adverse changes in these metrics and factors caused by our operating results or by actions that we
take, that reduce our profitability, or that require us to incur additional indebtedness for items such as substantial acquisitions,
significant increases in costs and capital spending in security and IT systems, significant costs related to settlements of litigation or
regulatory requirements or by returning excess cash to shareholders through dividends. Consequently, real or anticipated changes in
our credit rating will generally affect the market value of our indebtedness. Additionally, credit ratings may not reflect the potential
effect of risks relating to the structure of our indebtedness. Any future lowering of our ratings likely would make it more difficult or
more expensive for us to obtain additional debt financing and may reduce our profitability.

Risks Related to our Business Model and the Markets in Which We Compete

Our business depends on clients renewing their subscription agreements. Any decline in renewal or net retention rates could harm
our future operating results.

Approximately 85% of our revenue is recurring and consists of subscriptions revenue. Our subscription products generally have
recurring annual subscription periods. While many of our subscriptions provide for automatic renewal, our clients may opt-out of
automatic renewals and clients have no obligation to renew a subscription after the expiration of the term. Our clients may or may not
renew their subscriptions as a result of a number of factors, including their satisfaction or dissatisfaction with our products and
services, our pricing or pricing structure, the pricing or capabilities of the products and services offered by our competitors, the effects
of economic conditions or reductions in our clients' spending levels or ability to pay for our offerings and services. In addition, our
clients may renew for fewer subscriptions, renew for shorter contract lengths if they were previously on multi-year contracts or switch
to lower cost offerings of our products and services. If our clients do not renew their subscription arrangements, maintenance or other
services agreements or if they renew them on less favorable terms, our revenue may decline. A substantial portion of our quarterly
subscription revenue is attributable to agreements entered into during previous quarters. As a result, if there is a decline in renewed
subscription agreements in any one quarter, only a small portion of the decline will be reflected in our revenue recognized in that
quarter and the rest will be reflected in our revenue recognized in the following four quarters or more.

Our largest revenue clients have substantial negotiating leverage, which may require that we agree to terms and conditions that
result in increased cost of sales, decreased revenue and lower average selling prices and gross margins, all of which could harm
our results of operations.

Some of our clients have significant bargaining power when negotiating new licenses or subscriptions or renewals of existing
agreements; they have the ability to buy similar products from other vendors or develop systems internally. These clients have and
may continue to seek advantageous pricing and other commercial and performance terms that may require us to develop additional
features in the products we sell to them or add complexity to our client agreements. Currently, as clients become larger, our pricing
model recognizes various factors such as the number of products purchased and the penetration of those products within a client's
operations. As such, when a client buys more products, their average cost per product can decline even though the total revenue from
them increases. To date, we have generally seen sales to clients increase in proportion to or in excess of any reductions in the cost per
product. However, there can be no guarantee that these results will continue in the future. If we are unable to negotiate renewals with
our largest clients on favorable terms, our results of operations could be harmed.

Given many of our key clients are large enterprise clients, our sales cycle is longer and more expensive, and we may encounter
pricing pressure and implementation and configuration challenges.

Many of our clients are large enterprise clients, which means longer sales cycles relative to non-enterprise clients, greater competition,
more complex client due diligence, less favorable contractual terms and less predictability in completing some of our sales.
Consequently, a target client's decision to use our services may be an enterprise-wide decision and, if so, these types of sales require
us to provide greater levels of education regarding the use and benefits of our products and services as well as education regarding
privacy and data protection laws and regulations to prospective clients. In addition, larger enterprise clients may demand more
configuration, integration services and features. As a result of these factors, these sales opportunities may require us to devote greater
sales support and professional services resources to individual clients, driving up costs and time required to complete sales, while
potentially requiring us to delay revenue recognition on some of these transactions until the technical or implementation requirements
have been met.
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If we are unable to sell products to new clients or to sell additional products or upgrades to our existing clients, it will adversely
affect our revenue growth and operating results.

To increase our revenue, we must add new clients or sell additional products or upgrades to existing clients. Even if we capture a
significant volume of leads from our digital marketing activities, we must be able to convert those leads into sales of our products to
new or existing clients in order to achieve revenue growth.

We primarily rely on our direct sales force to sell our products to new and existing clients and convert qualified leads into sales.
Accordingly, our ability to achieve significant growth in revenue in the future will depend on our ability to recruit, train and retain a
sufficient number of sales personnel, and on the productivity of those personnel. We may be unable to hire or retain a sufficient
number of qualified individuals in the future in the markets where we do or plan to do business. The market for sales personnel in the
software space is highly competitive and it is increasingly difficult to compete and retain top talent. If we are unable to sell products to
new clients and additional products or upgrades to our existing clients through our direct sales force, we may be unable to grow our
revenue and our operating results could be adversely affected.

Our ability to grow our business is dependent in part on the strategic relationships we develop and maintain with third parties.

We believe that our ability to increase our sales depends in part on maintaining and strengthening relationships with parties such as
channel partners, OEM partners, integration partners and other strategic technology companies. Once a relationship is established, we
likely will dedicate significant time and resources to it in an effort to advance our business interests, and there is no assurance that any
strategic relationship will achieve our business purposes or that the resources we use to develop the relationship will be cost-effective.
Parties with whom we establish strategic relationships also work with companies that compete with us. We have limited, if any,
control as to whether these parties devote adequate resources to our strategic relationships. Further, companies with whom we
maintain strategic relationships may de-emphasize their dealings with us or become competitors in the future. We also have limited, if
any, control as to other business activities of these parties and we could experience reputational harm because of our association with
such parties if they fail to execute on business initiatives, are accused of breaking the law or suffer reputational harm for other reasons.
All of these factors could materially and adversely impact our business and results of operations.

Our ability to develop our brand is important for our continued success.

We have been successful to date despite not having strong brand name recognition with those for whom we compete for business. Our
ability to develop our brand is important in expanding our base of clients, partners and employees. Our brand will depend largely on
our ability to remain a technology leader and continue to provide high-quality innovative products, services and features. If we fail to
develop our brand, or if our investments in digital advertising, events and other branding programming are unsuccessful, our business,
operating results and financial condition may be materially and adversely affected.

Delays in implementing our products could adversely impact our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial
condition.

Due to the size and complexity of most of our software implementations, our implementation cycle can be lengthy and may result in
delays. Our products may require modification or customization and must integrate with our clients' existing systems. This can be
time-consuming and expensive for clients and can result in implementation and deployment delays of our products. Additional delays
could result if we fail to attract, train and retain services personnel. These delays and resulting client dissatisfaction could limit our
future sales opportunities, harm our reputation and adversely impact results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

Because we generally recognize revenue from subscriptions for our services over the term of the subscription, downturns or
upturns in new business may not be immediately reflected in our operating results.

We generally recognize revenue from clients ratably over the terms of their subscription and support agreements, which typically have
a term of one to five years. Our enterprise client contracts have an average term of approximately three years. As a result, most of the
revenue we report in each quarter is the result of subscription and support agreements entered into during previous quarters.
Consequently, a decline in new or renewed subscriptions in any one quarter may not be reflected in our revenue results for that
quarter. However, any such decline will negatively impact our revenue in future quarters. Accordingly, the effect of significant
downturns in sales and market acceptance of our services and potential changes in our attrition rate, may not be fully reflected in our
results of operations until future periods. Our subscription model also makes it difficult for us to rapidly increase our revenue through
additional sales in any period, as revenue from new clients must be recognized over the applicable subscription and support term.

We have experienced rapid growth in historic periods that may not be indicative of our future growth.

We have experienced organic and acquisition-driven growth in historic periods, and revenue growth in future periods may not be
consistent with our history. We believe our revenue growth depends on a number of factors, including, but not limited to, our ability
to:
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• attract new clients;

• renew and grow current client subscriptions;

• introduce and grow adoption of our products and services in new markets;

• adequately expand our sales force and otherwise scale our operations as a business;

• develop or expand relationships with existing channel or OEM partners or to attract new channel or OEM partners;

• expand the features and capabilities of our platform, including through the creation and use of additional integrations;

• maintain the security and reliability of our platform;

• price and package our products and services effectively;

• successfully compete against established companies and new market entrants; and

• increase awareness of our brand on a global basis.

We may not be able to successfully implement our strategic initiatives in accordance with our expectations or in the timeframe we
desire, which may result in an adverse impact on our business and financial results. We also expect our operating expenses to increase
in future periods, and if our revenue growth does not increase to offset these anticipated increases in our operating expenses, our
business, results of operations and financial condition will be harmed, and we may not be able to achieve or maintain profitability.

If we fail to maintain adequate operational and financial resources, we may be unable to execute our business plan or maintain
high levels of service and client satisfaction.

We have experienced rapid growth, which has placed, and will continue to place, significant demands on our management and our
operational and financial resources. Our organizational structure is becoming more complex as we scale our operational, financial and
management controls, as well as our reporting systems and procedures. As we continue to grow, we face challenges of integrating,
developing, training and motivating a rapidly growing employee base in our various offices around the world and navigating a
complex multi-national regulatory landscape. If we fail to manage our anticipated growth and change in a manner that preserves the
functionality of our platforms and solutions, the quality of our products and services may suffer, which could negatively affect our
brand and reputation and harm our ability to attract clients.

To manage growth in our operations and personnel, we need to continue to grow and improve our operational, financial and
management controls and our reporting systems and procedures. We will require significant expenditures and the allocation of
valuable management resources to grow and change in these areas. Our expansion has placed, and our expected future growth will
continue to place, a significant strain on our management, client experience, research and development, sales and marketing,
administrative, financial and other resources.

We anticipate that significant additional investments will be required to scale our operations and increase productivity, address the
needs of our clients, further develop and enhance our products and services and scale with our overall growth. We will need to identify
and invest in new technologies and systems to ensure the future scalability and success of the business. If additional investments are
required due to significant growth, this will increase our cost base, which will make it more difficult for us to offset any future revenue
shortfalls by reducing expenses in the short term.

Our success depends in part on our ability to develop and market new and enhanced solutions modules, and we may not be able to
do so, or do so quickly enough to respond to changes in demand. Even if we anticipate changes in demand, it may be difficult for
us to transition existing clients to new versions of our solutions.

Our success depends in part on our ability to develop and market new and enhanced solutions modules, and to do so on a timely basis.
Successful module development and marketing depends on numerous factors, including anticipating client requirements, changes in
technology requirements, our ability to differentiate our solutions from those of our competitors and market acceptance of our
solutions. Enterprises are requiring their software application vendors to provide ever increasing levels of functionality and broader
offerings. Moreover, our industry is characterized by rapid evolution and shifts in technology and client needs. We may not be able to
develop and market new or enhanced modules in a timely or cost-effective manner, or at all. Our solutions also may not achieve
market acceptance or correctly anticipate technological changes or the changing needs of our clients or potential clients.
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In addition, even if we correctly anticipate changes in technology or demand, it might be difficult for us to transition existing clients to
new versions of our solutions. Such transitions or upgrades may require considerable professional services effort and expense, and
clients may choose to discontinue using our solutions rather than proceed with a lengthy and expensive upgrade. If clients fail to
accept new versions of our solution, if our newest solutions contain errors or if we expend too many resources supporting multiple
versions of our solutions, we may suffer a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of operations and cash
flows.

The market for cloud-based SCM solutions is still evolving. If this market develops more slowly than we expect, our revenue may
fail to grow or decline, and we may incur additional operating losses.

We derive, and expect to continue to derive, substantially all of our revenue from providing a cloud-based SCM platform, solutions
and related services. The market for cloud-based SCM solutions is still evolving and it is uncertain whether this platform and solutions
will sustain high levels of demand and market acceptance. Our success will depend on the willingness of companies to accept our
cloud-based SCM platform and solutions as an alternative to manual processes, traditional enterprise resource planning software and
internally-developed SCM solutions. Some clients may be reluctant or unwilling to use our cloud-based SCM platform or solutions for
a number of reasons, including data privacy concerns, data and network security concerns and existing investments in SCM
technology.

Traditional approaches to SCM have required, among other things, purchasing hardware and licensing software. Because these
traditional approaches often require significant initial investments to purchase the necessary technology and establish systems that
comply with clients' unique requirements, companies may be unwilling to abandon their current solutions for our cloud-based SCM
platform and solutions. Other factors that may limit market acceptance of our platform and solutions include:

• our ability to maintain high levels of client satisfaction;

• our ability to maintain continuity of service for all users of our solutions;

• the price, performance and availability of competing solutions; and

• our ability to address companies' confidentiality concerns about information stored outside of their premises.

If companies do not perceive the benefits of our cloud-based SCM platform or solutions or if companies are unwilling to accept our
platform and solutions as an alternative to traditional approaches, the market for our platform and solutions might not continue to
develop or might develop more slowly than we expect, either of which could significantly adversely affect our revenues and growth
prospects.

Cyber-attacks and security vulnerabilities could result in serious harm to our reputation, business and financial condition.

As a provider of cloud-based software services, we store, process and transmit large amounts of confidential information, largely
proprietary business data of our clients. Our systems, networks and services may be vulnerable to security incidents such as
cyberattacks, ransomware, phishing, social engineering, malware infections, insider threats, denial-of-service attacks and other
disruptions. A successful security breach could result in the loss of proprietary information, theft of client and employee data,
operational disruption, loss of revenue, regulatory investigations or legal liability. Moreover, public perception of the effectiveness of
our security measures, or the discovery of a breach—regardless of materiality—could damage our brand, reduce demand for our
services and negatively affect our ability to retain clients.

As we continue to grow and as threat actors become more sophisticated, we have observed increased threat activity to our products
and systems. We are the target of attempts on a regular basis to identify and exploit system vulnerabilities and/or penetrate or bypass
our security measures in order to gain unauthorized access to our systems. To mitigate these risks, we employ multiple methods at
different layers of our systems to defend against intrusion and attack. We do not have visibility into all unauthorized incursions,
however, and our systems could experience incursions of which we are not aware. When we become aware of unauthorized access to
our systems, we take steps intended to identify and remediate the source and impact of the incursions. Despite our efforts to keep our
systems secure and remedy identified vulnerabilities, future attacks could be successful and result in contractual liability to clients or
loss of client trust and business.
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We may experience breaches of our security measures due to human error, system errors or vulnerabilities. In particular, our platform
and the other systems or networks used in our business may experience an increase in attempted cyber-attacks, targeted intrusion,
ransomware and phishing campaigns. We have been the target of successful phishing attempts in the past resulting in immaterial
monetary losses due to voluntary write-offs. Although we believe that these attempts were detected and neutralized without any
compromise to our client data and prior to any significant impact to our business, we have implemented additional measures to
prevent such attacks in the future. We will likely be subject to similar attacks in the future and continue to train our employees and
provide communications to our clients to mitigate these activities and related losses. We maintain errors, omission and cyber liability
insurance policies covering security and privacy damages. However, we cannot be certain that our coverage will be adequate for
liabilities actually incurred or that insurance will continue to be available to us on economically reasonable terms, or at all.

While we continually take steps to enhance our cybersecurity defenses, increased investments, coordination and resources are required
to achieve our objective of ensuring over time that our cybersecurity infrastructure meets or exceeds evolving industry standards. We
are also subject to our clients testing the security of our systems and the manner in which we protect their data, which further
heightens our need to stay vigilant and up to date with the latest protections and cybersecurity practices. Achieving this objective
requires continued effort and vigilance, including sustained investment of money and management resources in order to support the
ongoing development and maintenance of systems that meet these standards.

At present, we believe the regulatory and private action risks related to personal data we process as part of our business-to-business
supply chain solutions are low. We process a limited amount of personal data, typically business contact information, supplied by our
clients. Regulations surrounding personal data are rapidly changing and that makes global compliance challenging and unpredictable.
Failure to comply with regulations may subject us to regulatory investigations, reputational harm, contractual liability to clients and
potential liability to data subjects.

If we fail to integrate our products with a variety of operating systems, software applications, platforms and hardware that are
developed by others or ourselves, our products may become less competitive or obsolete and our results of operations would be
harmed.

Our products must integrate with a variety of network, hardware and software platforms, and we need to continuously modify and
enhance our products to adapt to changes in hardware, software, networking, browser and database technologies. We believe a
significant component of our value proposition to clients is the ability to optimize and configure our products to integrate with our
systems and those of third parties. If we are not able to integrate our products in a meaningful and efficient manner, demand for our
products could decrease and our business and results of operations would be harmed.

In addition, we have a large number of solutions, and maintaining and integrating them effectively requires extensive resources. Our
continuing efforts to make our products more interoperative may not be successful. Failure of our products to operate effectively with
future infrastructure platforms and technologies could reduce the demand for our products, resulting in client dissatisfaction and harm
to our business. If we are unable to respond to changes in a cost-effective manner, our products may become less marketable, less
competitive or obsolete, and our business and results of operations may be harmed.

Integration of AI into our software solutions presents a number of risks that could materially affect our financial condition and
operations.

Our business is focused on integrating AI into our software solutions to enhance functionality, optimize user experience and provide
innovative features. However, the integration of AI presents a number of risks that could materially affect our financial condition and
operations.

Reliance on Third-Party AI Technologies: A significant portion of our AI capabilities relies on third-party providers for cloud
computing services, machine learning frameworks and pre-built AI models. If any of these third-party vendors experience
technological failures, service outages or disruptions in their offerings, our ability to provide AI-powered features could be
significantly impaired, which may harm our reputation and client retention.

Data Privacy and Security Risks: AI systems require access to large datasets to train and improve algorithms, which may include
confidential client data. The collection, processing and storage of such data expose us to privacy and security risks. If our AI systems
are compromised, or if we fail to comply with evolving data protection laws (such as Europe's General Data Protection Regulation
(GDPR)), we could face regulatory penalties, reputational damage and litigation, which could harm our business.
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Regulatory and Compliance Risks: AI technology is subject to increasing scrutiny from governments and regulators worldwide. In
particular, there is a lack of clear regulatory frameworks surrounding the development and deployment of AI technologies. New laws
or regulations could impose restrictions on the use of AI in our products, require significant changes to our existing AI systems or
subject us to additional compliance costs. Any failure to comply with such regulations could result in fines, penalties and reputational
harm.

Client Adoption and Market Acceptance: While AI integration offers potential competitive advantages, some of our clients may be
reluctant to adopt AI-powered solutions due to concerns over transparency or control. If we fail to demonstrate the value of our AI
technologies or if our clients reject AI features, we could experience slower adoption rates and reduced revenue growth.

We have a significant amount of goodwill and intangible assets on our balance sheet, and our results of operations may be
adversely affected if we fail to realize the full value of our goodwill and intangible assets.

We have goodwill of $1,213.8 million and $1,843.5 million and net intangible assets of $673.0 million and $841.0 million as of
February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024, respectively. In accordance with U.S. GAAP, goodwill and intangible assets with an
indefinite life are not amortized but are subject to a periodic impairment evaluation. Goodwill and acquired intangible assets with an
indefinite life are tested for impairment at least annually or when events and circumstances indicate that fair value of a reporting unit
may be below their carrying value. Some factors that could lead to a goodwill impairment assessment would be:

• a material decline in the price of the Class A Common Stock;

• macroeconomic factors;

• our overall financial performance;

• company specific events such as a change in strategy or exiting a portion of the business;

• significant adverse changes in clients demand or business climate; and

• related competitive considerations.

Acquired intangible assets with definite lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated period over which we expect to
realize economic value related to the intangible asset. In addition, we review long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset might not be recoverable. If indicators of impairment are present,
we evaluate the carrying value in relation to estimates of future undiscounted cash flows. Our ability to realize the value of the
goodwill and intangible assets will depend on the future cash flows of the businesses we have acquired, which in turn depends in part
on how well we have integrated these businesses into our own business. Judgments made by management relate to the expected useful
lives of long-lived assets and our ability to realize undiscounted cash flows of the carrying amounts of such assets. The accuracy of
these judgments may be adversely affected by several factors, including significant:

• underperformance relative to historical or projected future operating results;

• changes in the manner of our use of acquired assets or the strategy for our overall business;

• negative industry or economic trends; or

• decline in our market capitalization relative to net book value for a sustained period.

These types of events or indicators and the resulting impairment analysis could result in impairment charges in the future. If we are
not able to realize the value of the goodwill and intangible assets, we may be required to incur material charges relating to the
impairment of those assets. We perform our annual goodwill impairment test during the fourth quarter of each year.

During the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2025, first and third quarters of fiscal 2024 and second and fourth quarters of fiscal 2023,
we experienced a significant decline in the market price of our Class A Common Stock and market capitalization. In addition, in
certain of these quarters, we experienced slowing growth and lowered projections due to lower than anticipated new bookings, lower
revenue, higher than expected churn and macroeconomic impacts. These factors resulted in us determining that triggering events
occurred, and goodwill impairment assessments were performed for the respective quarters. The assessments indicated that the fair
value of our equity and goodwill was less than its carrying amount and resulted in a goodwill impairment charge totaling $614.1
million, $1,097.7 million and $901.6 million in fiscal 2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Such impairment charges, like the charges that we incurred in fiscal 2025, 2024 and 2023, could materially and adversely affect our
business, results of operations and financial condition. In accordance with U.S. GAAP, we will continue to test goodwill for
impairment at least annually or when events and circumstances trigger the requirement for an interim evaluation.
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Inability to attract, integrate and retain management and other personnel could adversely impact our business, results of
operations, cash flows and financial condition.

Our success greatly depends on the continued service of our executives, as well as our other key senior management, technical
personnel and sales personnel. Our future success will depend in large part upon our ability to attract, retain and motivate highly
skilled executives and employees. We face significant competition for individuals with the skills required to perform the services we
offer, and thus we may encounter increased compensation costs that are not offset by increased revenue. In the broader technology
industry in which we compete for talented hires, there is substantial and continuous competition for engineers with high levels of
experience in designing, developing and managing software, as well as competition for sales executives and operations personnel. We
cannot guarantee that we will be able to attract and retain sufficient numbers of these highly skilled employees or motivate them.
Because of the complexity of the supply chain market, we may experience a significant time lag between the date on which technical
and sales personnel are hired and the time at which these persons become fully productive.

Volatility in, or lack of performance of, our stock price may also affect our ability to attract and retain key employees. Many of our
key employees have been granted and may be granted a substantial number of shares of common stock and/or stock options.
Employees may be more likely to terminate their employment with us if the value of these awards significantly declines based on our
stock price relative to the fair value grant price.

Business disruptions could seriously harm our future revenue and financial condition and increase our costs and expenses.

We have employees in 20 countries, and these global operations could be disrupted at any time by natural or other disasters,
telecommunications failures, acts of terrorism or war, power or water shortages, extreme weather conditions (whether as a result of
climate change or otherwise), medical epidemics or pandemics (such as the COVID-19 pandemic) and other natural or manmade
disasters or catastrophic events. The occurrence of any of these business disruptions could result in significant losses, serious harm to
our revenue, profitability and financial condition, adversely affect our competitive position, increase our costs and expenses, and
require substantial expenditures and recovery time in order to fully resume operations. We have a significant concentration of
employees in India and Malaysia on whom we rely. Any disaster or series of disasters in these countries where we have a
concentration of employees could significantly disrupt our operations and have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations and financial condition.

Risks Related to International Operations

Because our long-term success depends on our ability to operate our business internationally and increase sales of our products to
clients located outside of the United States, our business is susceptible to risks associated with international operations.

We have significant international operations around the world, including India, Malaysia, the United Kingdom, the Netherlands,
Belgium, Germany, Poland, China and Hong Kong. We market and sell our products worldwide. We expect to continue to expand our
international operations for the foreseeable future. The continued international expansion of our operations requires significant
management attention and financial resources and results in increased administrative and compliance costs. Our limited experience in
operating our business in certain regions outside the United States increases the risk that our expansion efforts into those regions may
not be successful. In particular, our business model may not be successful in particular countries or regions outside the United States
for reasons that we currently are unable to anticipate. We are subject to risks associated with international sales and operations
including, but not limited to:

• the complexity of, or changes in, foreign regulatory requirements and the burdens of complying with a wide variety of
foreign laws and different legal standards;

• difficulties in managing the staffing of international operations, including compliance with workers' councils and local labor
and employment laws and regulations;

• potentially adverse tax consequences, including the complexities of foreign value added tax systems, overlapping tax
regimes, restrictions on the repatriation of earnings and changes in tax rates;

• increased financial accounting and reporting burdens and complexities, including treatment of revenue from international
sources;

• longer sales and payment cycles and difficulties in collecting accounts receivable;

• political, social and economic instability, including war, terrorist attacks, civil unrest and security concerns in general;

• reduced or varied protection for intellectual property rights in some countries and the risk of potential theft or compromise of
our technology, data or intellectual property in connection with our international operations, whether by state-sponsored
malfeasance or other foreign entities or individuals;
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• laws and policies of the U.S. and other jurisdictions affecting international trade (including import and export control laws,
tariffs and trade barriers);

• the risk of U.S. regulation of foreign operations; and

• other factors beyond our control such as natural disasters and public health crises, including pandemics.

The occurrence of any one of these risks could negatively affect our international business and, consequently, our operating results.
We cannot be certain that the investment and additional resources required to establish, acquire or integrate operations in other
countries will produce desired levels of revenue or profitability. If we are unable to effectively manage our expansion into additional
geographic markets, our financial condition and results of operations could be harmed.

The current geopolitical conflicts have caused and may continue to lead to disruptions, instability and volatility in local, regional,
national and global markets and economies. Countries worldwide have imposed targeted sanctions and export control measures and
have threatened additional sanctions and export control measures, which have resulted in severe or complete restriction on exports to
and other commerce and business dealings. We have been working closely with outside advisors to ensure our products comply with
all sanctions and global regulatory requirements. To date, the conflicts have not materially affected our business. However, we
continue to monitor the situation.

Our operating results include foreign currency gains and losses.

We conduct a portion of our business in currencies other than the United States dollar. Our revenues, expenses, operating profit and
net income are affected when the dollar weakens or strengthens in relation to other currencies. In addition, we have significant
operations in India and Malaysia that do not have a natural in-market revenue hedge to mitigate currency risk to our operating
expense. Volatility in the markets and exchange rates for foreign currencies and contracts in foreign currencies may in the future have
a significant impact on our reported operating results and financial condition.

Risks Related to Key Third-Party Relationships

Interruptions or performance problems associated with our products, including disruptions at any third-party data center upon
which we rely, may impair our ability to support our clients.

Our continued growth depends in part on the ability of our existing and potential clients to access our websites, software or cloud-
based products within an acceptable amount of time. We have experienced, and may in the future experience, service disruptions,
outages and other performance problems due to a variety of factors, including infrastructure changes, human or software errors,
capacity constraints due to an overwhelming number of users accessing our website simultaneously, denial of service, fraud or
security attacks. In some instances, we may not be able to identify the cause or causes of these website performance problems within
an acceptable period of time. It may become increasingly difficult to maintain and improve our website performance, especially during
peak usage times and as our user traffic increases. If our websites are unavailable or if our clients are unable to access our software or
cloud-based products within a reasonable amount of time, or at all, our business would be negatively affected. Additionally, our data
centers and networks, and third-party data centers and networks may experience technical failures and downtime, may fail to distribute
appropriate updates or may fail to meet the increased requirements of a growing client base.

We provide certain of our solutions through third-party data center hosting facilities located in the United States and other countries.
While we control and have access to our servers and all of the components of our network that are located in such third-party data
centers, we do not control the operation of these facilities. Our operations depend on the protection of the equipment and information
we store in these third-party centers, or utilize from third-party providers, against damage or service interruptions that may be caused
by fire, flood, severe storm, power loss, telecommunications failures, natural disasters, war, criminal act, military action, terrorist
attack, financial failure of the service provider and other events beyond our control. In addition, third-party malfeasance, such as
intentional misconduct by computer hackers, unauthorized intrusions, computer viruses, ransomware or denial of service attacks, may
also cause substantial service disruptions. A prolonged service disruption affecting our products could damage our reputation with
potential clients, cause us to lose existing clients, expose us to liability or otherwise adversely affect our business. We may also incur
significant costs for using alternative equipment or taking other actions in preparation for, or in reaction to, events that damage the
data centers or infrastructure we use or rely on, including the additional expense of transitioning to substitute facilities or service
providers. Following expiration of the current agreement terms, the owners of the data center facilities have no obligation to renew
their agreements with us on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. If we are unable to renew these agreements on commercially
reasonable terms, or if one of our data center operators is acquired, we may be required to transfer our servers and other infrastructure
to new data center facilities, and we may incur significant costs and possible service interruptions in connection with doing so.
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The information we source from third parties for inclusion in our knowledge databases may not be accurate and complete. Our
trade experts may make errors in interpreting legal and other requirements when processing this information and our trade
content may not be updated on a timely basis, which can expose our clients to fines and other substantial claims and penalties.

Our clients often use our solutions as a system of record and many of our clients are subject to regulation of their products, services
and activities. Our knowledge library includes trade content sourced from government agencies and transportation carriers in
numerous countries. It is often sourced from text documents and includes import and export regulations, shipping documents,
preferential duties and taxes, specifications for free trade agreements, transportation rates, sailing schedules, embargoed country and
restricted party lists and harmonized tariff codes. The information in these text documents may not be timely, accurate or complete.
Our team of trade experts transforms these documents into a normalized and propriety knowledge base which is interpretable by
software. Our trade experts have to interpret the legal and other requirements contained in the source documents, and we can provide
no assurances that our trade experts do not make errors in the interpretation of these requirements. Furthermore, rules and regulations
and other trade content used in our solutions change constantly, and we must continuously update our knowledge library. Maintaining
a complete and accurate knowledge library is time-consuming and costly, and we can provide no assurances that our specialists will
always make appropriate updates to the library on a timely basis. Errors or defects in updating the trade content we provide to our
clients and any defects or errors in, or failure of, our software, hardware or systems, can result in an inability to process transactions in
a timely manner or lead to violations that could expose our clients to fines and other substantial claims and penalties and involve
criminal liability. In addition, these errors and delays could damage our reputation with both existing and new clients and result in lost
clients and decreased revenue, which could materially and adversely affect our business, revenue and results of operations.

Any of these problems may enable our clients to terminate our agreements, require us to issue credits or refunds and subject us to
product liability, breach of warranty or other contractual claims. We also may be required to indemnify our clients or third parties as a
result of any of these problems. Any provisions in our client agreements intended to limit liability may not be sufficient to protect us
against any such claims. Insurance may not be available on acceptable terms, or at all. In addition, any insurance we do have may not
cover claims related to specific defects, errors, failures or delays; may not cover indirect or consequential damages; and may be
inadequate. Defending a suit, regardless of its merit, could be costly and divert management's attention. In general, losses from clients
terminating their agreements with us and our cost of defending claims resulting from defects, errors, failures or delays might be
substantial and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

Interruptions or performance problems associated with our internal infrastructure, and its reliance on technologies from third
parties, may adversely affect our ability to manage our business and meet reporting obligations.

We use NetSuite to manage our financial processes and other third-party vendors to manage sales, professional services, online
marketing and web services. We believe the availability of these services is essential to the management of our high-volume,
transaction-oriented business model. As we expand our operations, we expect to utilize additional systems and service providers that
may also be essential to managing our business. Although the systems and services that we require are typically available from a
number of providers, it is time-consuming and costly to qualify and implement these relationships. Therefore, if one or more of our
providers suffer an interruption in their business; experience delays, disruptions or quality-control problems in their operations; or we
have to change or add additional systems and services, our ability to manage our business and produce timely and accurate financial
statements would suffer.

We leverage third-party software for use with our solution. Performance issues, errors and defects or failure to successfully
integrate or license necessary third-party software could cause delays, errors or failures of our solution, increases in our expenses
and reductions in our sales, which could materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations.

We use software licensed from a variety of third parties in connection with the operation of our products. Any performance issues,
errors, bugs or defects in third-party software could result in errors or a failure of our products, which could adversely affect our
business and results of operations. In the future, we might need to license other software to enhance our solution and meet evolving
client demands and requirements. Any limitations in our ability to use third-party software could significantly increase our expenses
and otherwise result in delays, a reduction in functionality or errors or failures of our solution until equivalent technology or content is
either developed by us or, if available, identified, obtained through purchase or license and integrated into our solution. In addition,
third-party licenses may expose us to increased risks, including risks associated with the integration of new technology, the diversion
of resources from the development of our own proprietary technology and our inability to generate revenues from new technology
sufficient to offset associated acquisition and maintenance costs, all of which may increase our expenses and materially and adversely
affect our business and results of operations.
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Risks Related to Being a Public Company and Ownership of Our Securities

CC Capital, Insight Partners, Francisco Partners and Temasek and their respective affiliates beneficially own a significant equity
interest in us and all have representation on our board of directors, except Francisco Partners, and their interests may conflict
with our or your interests.

CC Capital, Insight Partners, Francisco Partners and Temasek and their respective affiliates (collectively, the "Controlling Entities")
collectively control approximately 37% of our total voting equity as of February 28, 2025. The Controlling Entities are entitled to at
least one board representation pursuant to the Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agreement; at this time, all Controlling Entities
have exercised their right to board representation, except for Francisco Partners. As a result, they have significant influence over our
decisions to enter into any corporate transaction. In addition, the Controlling Entities are each in the business of making investments in
companies and may acquire and hold interests in businesses that compete directly or indirectly with us. The Controlling Entities may
also pursue acquisition opportunities that may be complementary to our business and, as a result, those acquisition opportunities may
not be available to us. Our certificate of incorporation provides that certain parties may engage in competitive businesses and
renounces any entitlement to certain corporate opportunities offered to the private placement investors or any of their managers,
officers, directors, equity holders, members, principals, affiliates and subsidiaries (other than us and our subsidiaries) that are not
expressly offered to them in their capacities as our directors or officers. The certificate of incorporation also provides that certain
parties or any of their managers, officers, directors, equity holders, members, principals, affiliates and subsidiaries (other than us and
our subsidiaries) do not have any fiduciary duty to refrain from engaging directly or indirectly in the same or similar business
activities or lines of business as us or any of our subsidiaries.

We may issue additional shares of our Class A Common Stock or other equity securities without your approval, which would dilute
your ownership interests and may depress the market price of your shares.

We may issue additional shares of our Class A Common Stock or other equity securities of equal or senior rank in the future in
connection with, among other things, future acquisitions, repayment of outstanding indebtedness or under our 2021 Incentive Plan,
without stockholder approval, in a number of circumstances.

Our issuance of additional shares of our Class A Common Stock or other equity securities of equal or senior rank could have the
following effects:

• your proportionate ownership interest in us will decrease;

• the relative voting strength of each previously outstanding share of common stock may be diminished; or

• the market price of your shares of Class A Common Stock may decline.

If analysts do not publish or cease publishing research or reports about us, our business or our market, or if they adversely change
their recommendations regarding our Class A Common Stock, then the price and trading volume of our securities could decline.

The trading market for our Class A Common Stock and public warrants will be influenced by the research and reports that industry or
securities analysts may publish about us, our business and operations, our market or our competitors. Our current securities and
industry analysts may elect to drop their coverage of us, and others, may never publish research on us. If no securities or industry
analysts publish coverage of us, the trading price and trading volume of our securities will likely be negatively impacted. If any of the
analysts who may cover us change their recommendation regarding our stock adversely, or provide more favorable relative
recommendations about our competitors, the price of our securities will likely decline. If any analyst who may cover us were to cease
coverage of us or fail to regularly publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which could cause our
trading price or trading volume of our securities to decline.

We may amend the terms of the warrants in a manner that may be adverse to holders of the public warrants with the approval by
the holders of at least 50% of the then outstanding public warrants. As a result, the exercise price of your warrants could be
increased, the exercise period could be shortened and the number of shares of Class A Common Stock purchasable upon exercise
of a warrant could be decreased, all without your approval.

Our warrants were issued in registered form under a warrant agreement between Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as
warrant agent, and us. The warrant agreement provides that the terms of the warrants may be amended without the consent of any
holder to cure any ambiguity or correct any defective provision. An amendment requires the approval of at least 50% of the holders of
the outstanding public warrants to make any change that adversely affects the interests of the registered holders of the public warrants.
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Accordingly, we may amend the terms of the public warrants in a manner adverse to a holder if holders of at least 50% of the
outstanding public warrants approve of such amendment. Although our ability to amend the terms of the public warrants with the
consent of at least 50% of the outstanding public warrants is unlimited, examples of such amendments could be amendments to,
among other things, increase the exercise price of the warrants, convert the warrants into cash, shorten the exercise period or decrease
the number of shares of Class A Common Stock purchasable upon exercise of a warrant.

Our warrants may have an adverse effect on the market price of our Class A Common Stock.

As of February 28, 2025, we have 29,079,872 warrants outstanding that are exercisable to purchase one Class A Common Stock at
$11.50 per share. The outstanding warrants consist of 13,799,872 warrants offered in the IPO, 10,280,000 private placement warrants
issued in conjunction with the closing of the IPO and 5,000,000 Forward Purchase Warrants issued pursuant to the Forward Purchase
Agreement. When the warrants are exercised, they will increase the number of issued and outstanding shares of Class A Common
Stock and reduce the value of the Class A Common Stock. These warrants expire five years after the Closing Date in February 2026,
or earlier upon redemption or liquidation.

Risks Related to the Holding Company Structure and Tax Receivable Agreement

We are a holding company and our only material asset is our interest in E2open Holdings, and we are accordingly dependent upon
distributions made by our subsidiaries to pay taxes, make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement and pay dividends.

We are a holding company with no material assets other than our ownership of the Common Units and RCUs and our managing
member interest in E2open Holdings. As a result, we have no independent means of generating revenue or cash flow. Our ability to
pay taxes, make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement and pay dividends will depend on the financial results and cash flows
of E2open Holdings. Deterioration in the financial condition, earnings or cash flow of E2open Holdings for any reason could limit or
impair E2open Holdings' ability to pay such distributions. Additionally, to the extent that we need funds and E2open Holdings is
restricted from making such distributions under applicable law or regulation or under the terms of any financing arrangements, or
E2open Holdings is otherwise unable to provide such funds, it could materially adversely affect our liquidity and financial condition.

E2open Holdings is treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes and, as such, generally will not be subject to any
entity-level U.S. federal income tax. Instead, taxable income will be allocated to holders of Common Units. Accordingly, we are
required to pay income taxes on our allocable share of any net taxable income of E2open Holdings. Under the terms of the Third
Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement (Third Company Agreement), E2open Holdings is obligated to make
tax distributions to holders of Common Units (including us) calculated at certain assumed tax rates. In addition to income taxes, we
incur expenses related to our operations, including payment obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement, which could be
significant, of which some will be reimbursed by E2open Holdings (excluding payment obligations under the Tax Receivable
Agreement). We intend to cause E2open Holdings to make ordinary distributions on a pro rata basis and tax distributions (which, in
certain circumstances, may be made on a non-pro rata basis to holders of Common Units in amounts sufficient to cover all applicable
taxes, relevant operating expenses, payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement and dividends, if any, declared by us. However, as
discussed below, E2open Holdings' ability to make such distributions may be subject to various limitations and restrictions including,
but not limited to, retention of amounts necessary to satisfy E2open's obligations and restrictions on distributions that would violate
any applicable restrictions contained in E2open Holdings' debt agreements, or any applicable law, or that would have the effect of
rendering E2open Holdings insolvent. To the extent that we are unable to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement for
any reason, such payments will be deferred and will accrue interest until paid; provided, however, that nonpayment for a specified
period may constitute a material breach of a material obligation under the Tax Receivable Agreement, and therefore accelerate
payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement, which could be substantial.

We anticipate that the distributions received from E2open Holdings may, in certain periods, exceed our actual tax liabilities and
obligations to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement. Our board of directors, in its sole discretion, may make any
determination from time to time with respect to the use of any such excess cash so accumulated, which may include, among other
uses, paying dividends on our Class A Common Stock. We have no obligation to distribute such cash (or other available cash other
than any declared dividend) to our stockholders. See Dividends in Part II, Item 5., Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related
Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.
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Dividends on our common stock, if any, will be paid at the discretion of our board of directors, which will consider, among other
things, our available cash, available borrowings and other funds legally available therefor, considering the retention of any amounts
necessary to satisfy our obligations that will not be reimbursed by E2open Holdings, including taxes and amounts payable under the
Tax Receivable Agreement and any restrictions in the applicable bank financing agreements. Financing arrangements may include
restrictive covenants that restrict our ability to pay dividends or make other distributions to our stockholders. In addition, E2open
Holdings is generally prohibited under Delaware law from making a distribution to a member to the extent that, at the time of the
distribution, after giving effect to the distribution, liabilities of E2open Holdings (with certain exceptions) exceed the fair value of its
assets. E2open Holdings' subsidiaries are generally subject to similar legal limitations on their ability to make distributions to E2open
Holdings. If E2open does not have sufficient funds to make distributions, our ability to declare and pay cash dividends may also be
restricted or impaired.

Pursuant to the Tax Receivable Agreement associated with the Business Combination Agreement, we are required to pay certain
sellers 85% of the tax savings that we realize as a result of increases in tax basis in E2open Holdings. These payments may be
substantial, as well as exceed actual tax benefits. The timing of these payments may also be accelerated.

The sellers sold E2open Holdings units for the consideration paid pursuant to the Business Combination Agreement and certain sellers
may, in the future, exchange their Common Units for shares of our Class A Common Stock (or cash) pursuant to the Third Company
Agreement. These sales, purchases, redemptions and exchanges are expected to result in increases in our allocable share of the tax
basis of the tangible and intangible assets of E2open Holdings, which may increase (for income tax purposes) depreciation and
amortization deductions to which we are entitled. In addition, as a result of certain mergers within the transaction, we may inherit
certain pre-existing tax attributes.

The Tax Receivable Agreement provides for the payment by us of 85% of certain tax benefits that we realize or are deemed realized
as a result of the increases in tax basis described above, utilization of pre-existing tax attributes of certain sellers and realization of
additional tax benefits attributable to payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement. These payments are our obligations and not
E2open Holdings. The actual increase in our allocable share of E2open Holdings' tax basis in their assets, the availability of pre-
existing tax attributes of certain sellers, as well as the amount and timing of any payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement, will
vary depending upon a number of factors, including the timing of exchanges, the market price of the Class A Common Stock at the
time of the exchange, the extent to which such exchanges are taxable and the amount and timing of the recognition of our income.
While many of the factors that will determine the amount of payments that we will make under the Tax Receivable Agreement are
outside of our control, we expect that the payments we will make under the Tax Receivable Agreement will be substantial and could
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition. Any payments we make under the Tax Receivable Agreement will generally
reduce the amount of overall cash flow that might have otherwise been available to us. To the extent that we are unable to make timely
payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement for any reason, the unpaid amounts will be deferred and will accrue interest until paid;
however, nonpayment for a specified period may constitute a material breach under the Tax Receivable Agreement, and therefore
accelerate payments due under the Tax Receivable Agreement as further described below. Furthermore, our future obligation to make
payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement could make us a less attractive target for an acquisition, particularly in the case of an
acquirer that cannot use some or all of the tax benefits that may be deemed realized under the Tax Receivable Agreement.

Payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement will be based on our tax reporting positions, and the IRS or another taxing authority
may challenge all or any part of the tax basis increases, the amount or availability of pre-existing tax attributes of certain sellers and
other tax positions that we take, and a court may sustain such a challenge. In the event that any tax benefits we initially claimed are
disallowed as a result of such a challenge, the Sellers and the exchanging holders will not be required to reimburse us for any excess
payments that may have been previously made under the Tax Receivable Agreement. Rather, excess payments made to such holders
will be netted against future cash payments we are required to make, if any, after the determination of such excess. A challenge to any
tax benefits claimed by us may not arise for a number of years following the time payments begin to be made with respect to such
benefits or, even if challenged soon thereafter, the excess cash payment may be greater than the amount of future cash payments that
we might otherwise be required to make under the terms of the Tax Receivable Agreement and, as a result, there might not be
sufficient future cash payments to net such excess. As a result, in certain circumstances we could make payments under the Tax
Receivable Agreement in excess of our actual income or franchise tax savings, which could materially impair our financial condition.

Moreover, the Tax Receivable Agreement provides that, in the event that we exercise our early termination rights, fail to make timely
payment or materially breach the Tax Receivable Agreement or if there is a change of control, our obligations under the Tax
Receivable Agreement will accelerate and we will be required to make a lump-sum cash payment to the sellers and/or other applicable
parties equal to the present value of all forecasted future payments that would have otherwise been made under the Tax Receivable
Agreement. The lump-sum payment could be substantial and could exceed the actual tax benefits that we realize subsequent to such
payment, which may cause a material negative effect on our liquidity.
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Furthermore, our obligations to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement could also have the effect of delaying, deferring
or preventing certain mergers, asset sales, other forms of business combinations or other changes of control.

Risks Related to Legal and Regulatory

Our use of open source software could negatively affect our ability to sell our products and subject us to possible litigation.

Our software platform utilizes software licensed by third parties under any one or more open source licenses, and we expect to
continue to incorporate open source software in our business in the future. There is a risk that open source software licenses could be
construed in a manner that imposes unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our solutions. Such a situation could result in
infringement claims and the need to reengineer our solutions, both of which could be costly depending on the specific circumstances.
In addition to license risk, use of open source software may increase security vulnerabilities or infringing or broken code if not
properly supported and managed.

We may be sued by third parties for various claims including alleged infringement of proprietary intellectual property rights.

As a supplier of supply chain solutions, we rely on and use software and data that we create as well as those from third-party sources.
Often, our clients are processing data through our solutions that we do not review. While we generally attempt to protect against such
risks with contractual obligations and indemnities, despite our efforts, we may receive claims that we have infringed a third party’s
intellectual property rights or breached a contract.

As a result of claims against us regarding suspected infringement, our technologies may be subject to injunction, we may be required
to pay damages or we may have to seek a license to continue certain practices (which may not be available on reasonable terms, if at
all), all of which may significantly increase our operating expenses or may require us to restrict our business activities and limit our
ability to deliver our products and services and/or certain features, integrations and capabilities of our platform. As a result, we may
also be required to develop alternative non-infringing technology, which could require significant effort and expense and/or cause us
to alter our products or services, potentially negatively affecting our business. Further, many of our subscription agreements require us
to indemnify our clients for third-party intellectual property infringement claims, so any alleged infringement by us resulting in claims
against such clients would increase our liability. Additionally, our exposure to risks associated with various claims, including the use
of intellectual property, may be increased as a result of acquisitions of other companies.

We are subject to sanctions, anti-corruption, anti-bribery and similar laws, and non-compliance with such laws can subject us to
criminal penalties or significant fines and harm our business and reputation.

We are subject to requirements under the U.S. Treasury Department's Office of Foreign Assets Control (OFAC), anti-corruption, anti-
bribery and similar laws, such as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended (FCPA), the U.S. domestic bribery
statute contained in 18 U.S.C. § 201, the U.S. Travel Act, the USA PATRIOT Act, the U.K. Bribery Act 2010 and other anti-
corruption, anti-bribery and anti-money laundering laws in countries in which we conduct activities. Anti-corruption and anti-bribery
laws have been enforced aggressively in recent years and are interpreted broadly and prohibit companies, their employees and agents
from promising, authorizing, making, offering or providing anything of value to a “foreign official” for the purposes of influencing
official decisions or obtaining or retaining business, or otherwise obtaining favorable treatment. As we increase our international sales
and business, our risks under these laws may increase. In addition, we may use third parties to sell access to our platform and conduct
business on our behalf abroad. We can be held liable for the corrupt or other illegal activities of such future third-party intermediaries,
and our employees, representatives, contractors, partners and agents, even if we do not explicitly authorize such activities. Any
violation of economic and trade sanction laws, export and import laws, the FCPA or other applicable anti-corruption laws or anti-
money laundering laws could also result in whistleblower complaints, adverse media coverage, investigations, loss of export
privileges or our license issued by OFAC, severe criminal or civil sanctions, and, in the case of the FCPA, suspension or debarment
from U.S. government contracts, any of which could have a materially adverse effect on our reputation, business, results of operations
and prospects.
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Changes in tax laws or regulations in the various tax jurisdictions we are subject to that are applied adversely to us or our paying
clients could increase the costs of our products and services and harm our business.

We are subject to income taxes in the United States and various jurisdictions outside of the United States. Significant judgment is
often required in the determination of our worldwide provision for income taxes. Any changes, ambiguity or uncertainty in taxing
jurisdictions' administrative interpretations, decisions, policies and positions could materially impact our income tax liabilities. We
may also be subject to additional tax liabilities and penalties due to changes in non-income based taxes resulting from changes in
federal, state or international tax laws; changes in taxing jurisdictions' administrative interpretations, decisions, policies and positions;
results of tax examinations, settlements or judicial decisions; changes in accounting principles; changes to the business operations,
including acquisitions; and the evaluation of new information that results in a change to a tax position taken in a prior period. Any
resulting increase in our tax obligation or cash taxes paid could adversely affect our cash flows and financial results. Additionally, new
income, sales, use or other tax laws, statutes, rules, regulations or ordinances could be enacted at any time. Those enactments could
harm our domestic and international business operations, our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Further, tax regulations could be interpreted, changed, modified or applied adversely to us. These events could require us or our
paying clients to pay additional tax amounts on a prospective or retroactive basis, as well as require us or our paying clients to pay
fines and/or penalties and interest for past amounts deemed to be due. If we raise our prices to offset the costs of these changes,
existing and potential future paying clients may elect not to purchase our products and services.

As a multinational organization, we may be subject to taxation in various jurisdictions around the world with increasingly complex tax
laws, the application of which can be uncertain. Countries, trading regions and local taxing jurisdictions have differing rules and
regulations governing sales and use taxes, and these rules and regulations are subject to varying interpretations that may change over
time. We collect and remit U.S. sales and value-added tax (VAT) in several jurisdictions. However, it is possible that we could face
sales tax or VAT audits and that our liability for these taxes could exceed our estimates as tax authorities could still assert that we are
obligated to collect additional tax amounts from our paying clients and remit those taxes to those authorities. We could also be subject
to audits in states and international jurisdictions for which we have not accrued tax liabilities. Further, one or more state or foreign
authorities could seek to impose additional sales, use or other tax collection and record-keeping obligations on us or may determine
that such taxes should have, but have not been, paid by us. Liability for past taxes may also include substantial interest and penalty
charges. Any successful action by state, foreign or other authorities to compel us to collect and remit sales tax, use tax or other taxes,
either retroactively, prospectively or both, could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.

As our business continues to grow and if we become more profitable, we anticipate that our income tax obligations could significantly
increase. If our existing tax credits and net operating loss carryforwards become fully utilized, we may be unable to offset or otherwise
mitigate our tax obligations to the same extent as in prior years. This could have a material impact to our future cash flows or
operating results.

Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards may be subject to limitation.

Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, our ability to utilize net operating loss carryforwards or other
tax attributes in any taxable year may be limited if we experience an “ownership change.” A Section 382 “ownership change”
generally occurs if one or more stockholders or groups of stockholders who own at least 5% of our stock increase their ownership by
more than 50 percentage points over their lowest ownership percentage within a rolling three-year period. Similar rules may apply
under state tax laws. The Business Combination resulted in an ownership change with respect to our corporate subsidiaries, which
may limit our ability to utilize pre-existing tax attributes of such corporate subsidiaries. In addition, future issuances of our common
stock could cause an “ownership change.” It is possible that any such ownership change, or any future ownership change, could have a
material effect on the use of our net operating loss carryforwards or other tax attributes, which could have a material adverse effect on
our results of operations and profitability.

Privacy concerns and laws, evolving regulation of cloud computing, cross-border data transfer restrictions and other domestic or
foreign regulations may limit the use and adoption of our products and adversely affect our business.

Regulation related to the provision of services on the internet is increasing, as federal, state and foreign governments continue to adopt
new laws and regulations addressing data privacy and the collection, processing, storage and use of personal information. In some
cases, foreign data privacy laws and regulations, such as the European Union’s General Data Protection Regulation, also governs the
processing of personal information. Further, laws are increasingly aimed at the use of personal information for marketing purposes,
such as the European Union’s e-Privacy Directive, and the country-specific regulations that implement that directive. Such laws and
regulations are subject to differing interpretations and are inconsistent among jurisdictions. These and other requirements could reduce
demand for our products or restrict our ability to store and process data or, in some cases, impact our ability to offer our services and
products in certain locations.
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In addition to government activity, privacy advocacy and other industry groups have established or may establish new self-regulatory
standards that may place additional burdens on us. Our clients may expect us to meet voluntary certification or other standards
established by third parties. If we are unable to maintain these certifications or meet these standards, it could adversely affect our
ability to provide our products to certain clients and could harm our business.

The costs of compliance with and other burdens imposed by laws, regulations and standards are significant and may limit the use and
adoption of our services and reduce overall demand for them, or lead to material fines, penalties or liabilities for noncompliance.

Furthermore, concerns regarding data privacy may cause our clients’ clients to resist providing the data necessary to allow our clients
to use our service effectively. Even the perception that the privacy of personal information is not satisfactorily protected or does not
meet regulatory requirements could inhibit sales and adoption of our cloud-based products.

General Risks

Changes in laws and regulations related to the internet or changes in the internet infrastructure itself may diminish the demand
for our platform and could harm our business.

The future success of our business depends upon the continued use of the internet as a primary medium for commerce, communication
and business applications. Federal, state or foreign governmental bodies or agencies have in the past adopted, and may in the future
adopt, laws or regulations affecting the use of the internet as a commercial medium. The adoption of any laws or regulations that could
reduce the growth, popularity or use of the internet, including laws or practices limiting internet neutrality, could decrease the demand
for, or the usage of, our products and services, increase our cost of doing business and harm our results of operations. Changes in these
laws or regulations could require us to modify our platform, or certain aspects of our platform, in order to comply with these changes.
In addition, government agencies or private organizations have imposed and may impose additional taxes, fees or other charges for
accessing the internet or commerce conducted via the internet. These laws or charges could limit the growth of internet-related
commerce or communications generally or result in reductions in the demand for internet-based products such as ours. In addition, the
use of the internet as a business tool could be harmed due to delays in the development or adoption of new standards and protocols to
handle increased demands of internet activity, security, reliability, cost, ease-of-use, accessibility and quality of service. Further, our
platform depends on the quality of our users’ access to the internet.

In June 2018, the repeal of the Federal Communications Commission’s (FCC), “net neutrality” rules took effect and returned to a
“light-touch” regulatory framework. The prior rules were designed to ensure that all online content is treated the same by internet
service providers and other companies that provide broadband services. Additionally, in September 2018, California enacted the
California Internet Consumer Protection and Net Neutrality Act of 2018, making California the fourth state to enact a state-level net
neutrality law since the FCC repealed its nationwide regulations, mandating that all broadband services in California must be provided
in accordance with state net neutrality requirements. The U.S. Department of Justice has sued to block the law going into effect, and
California has agreed to delay enforcement until the resolution of the FCC’s repeal of the federal rules. A number of other states are
considering legislation or executive actions that would regulate the conduct of broadband providers. We cannot predict whether the
FCC order or state initiatives will be modified, overturned or vacated by legal action of the court, federal legislation or the FCC. With
the repeal of net neutrality rules in effect, we could incur greater operating expenses, which could harm our results of operations. As
the internet continues to experience growth in the number of users, frequency of use and amount of data transmitted, the internet
infrastructure that we and our users rely on may be unable to support the demands placed upon it. The failure of the internet
infrastructure that we or our users rely on, even for a short period of time, could undermine our operations and harm our results of
operations.

Internet access is frequently provided by companies that have significant market power that could take actions that degrade, disrupt or
increase the cost of user access to our platform, which would negatively impact our business. The performance of the internet and its
acceptance as a business tool has been harmed by “viruses,” “worms” and similar malicious programs, and the internet has
experienced a variety of outages and other delays as a result of damage to portions of its infrastructure. If the use of the internet is
adversely affected by these issues, demand for our platform could decline.

We could incur greater operating expenses, and our user acquisition and retention could be negatively impacted if network operators:

• implement usage-based pricing;

• discount pricing for competitive products;

• otherwise materially change their pricing rates or schemes;

• charge us to deliver our traffic at certain levels, or at all;
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• throttle traffic based on its source or type;

• implement bandwidth caps or other usage restrictions; or

• otherwise try to monetize or control access to their networks.

In addition, national level “fire walls” can disrupt existing usage of our applications as well as prevent expansion into certain
geographies.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity

Our processes for assessing, identifying and managing material risks from cybersecurity threats are embodied in our enterprise-wide
cybersecurity risk management program (Cyber Risk Program), which governs our cybersecurity oversight and management structure
as well as our cybersecurity strategy and processes.

Governance Structure

Board of Directors Oversight

The Risk Committee of our board of directors is responsible for the oversight of our Cyber Risk Program. The Chief Legal Officer
provides quarterly updates to the Risk committee regarding the status, findings and developments within the Cyber Risk Program. In
addition, the Risk Committee receives updates and presentations from the Senior Vice President, Information Security and
Compliance (SVP) at each Risk Committee meeting that cover, among other things, our cyber incidents and responses, ongoing cyber
threats, material risks, deployment of cybersecurity controls and risk mitigants, engagement of third parties (e.g., consultants and
auditors) and third-party tools, our cyber insurance coverages and our employee-training programs. The Risk Committee then reports
to the full board of directors at each regular meeting of the board of directors. Additionally, at least one member of our board of
directors possesses cybersecurity risk oversight experience, which contributes to the board’s ability to understand and evaluate
cybersecurity-related matters.

Management’s Assessment and Management of Cybersecurity Threats

Members of the executive management team, along with others from senior management and others with varying areas of expertise,
are engaged as part of our Cyber Risk Program:

• Senior Vice President, Information Security and Compliance: Our SVP manages our Cyber Risk Program and reports
directly to the Chief Legal Officer. He manages the day-to-day information security operation, oversees our security
analysts and engineers and is a member of our Cybersecurity Subcommittee. He is trained in cybersecurity strategy,
planning and execution and holds industry recognized security certification, including Certified Information Systems
Security Professional (CISSP) from the International Information System Security Certification Consortium (ISC2) and
Certified Information Security Manager (CISM) from the Information Systems Audit and Control Association (ISACA).
Our SVP has extensive experience regarding cybersecurity matters and threats affecting business-to-business software and
cloud service vendors such as E2open.

• Chief Legal Officer: Our Chief Legal Officer, who also serves as our Acting Chief Risk Officer, supervises the SVP's
management of our Cyber Risk Program and is the chair of our Cybersecurity Subcommittee of our Disclosure
Committee. Our Chief Legal Officer has experience providing legal advice regarding cybersecurity-related programs as
well as engaging with outside advisors and insurance brokers and underwriters on cybersecurity coverage, claims and loss
mitigation.
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• Cybersecurity Subcommittee of the Disclosure Committee: We have created a Cybersecurity Subcommittee of our
management Disclosure Committee which includes, the Chief Legal Officer, SVP and Chief Accounting Officer. The
Cybersecurity Subcommittee meets to discuss and evaluate whether certain cybersecurity incidents require public
disclosure and makes recommendations regarding disclosure to the Disclosure Committee. Additionally, the Chair of the
Subcommittee shall convene a meeting when either: (a) she believes a reported incident or the occurrence of a series of
related incidents, requires the analysis and discussion of the Subcommittee; or (b) when any member of the Subcommittee
believes that such a discussion would be appropriate. Such meeting shall be convened within 48 hours of the incident, or
sooner if reasonably practicable, to expediate a materiality determination for public company reporting purposes. This
Cybersecurity Subcommittee is pivotal in ensuring timely disclosure of material information and complying with the
SEC’s final rules on cybersecurity risk governance adopted in late 2023.

• Cyber Response Team: Pursuant to our Crisis Response Program, our Response Team, which comprises the Chief Legal
Officer, Chief Financial Officer and an expanded team from our material business lines and administrative departments, as
well as outside advisors/experts (cyber forensics, external legal counsel, law enforcement, public relations), is charged
with managing the Company through a cybersecurity incident (or other event or series of events) that rise to the level of a
Company “crisis.” The Program includes protocols by which the Chief Legal Officer or Chief Financial Officer, on behalf
of the Response Team, will report to or engage the Chief Executive Officer and the Chairman of the board of directors if
and when an incident becomes a crisis or potential crisis.

• Other Roles: The Cyber Risk Program includes engagement of other Company management employees and outside
service providers to oversee or perform specific roles in connection with cybersecurity risk assessment and management,
and incident management. That includes risk and security heads from our material business lines who implement and
administer policies specific to those business lines.

Risk Management and Strategy

Overview of Processes for Assessing, Identifying, and Managing Material Cyber Risks

The principal objectives of our Cyber Risk Program are to minimize the risks associated with cybersecurity threats to our business
operations, financial performance and financial condition, and protect the confidential information, intellectual property and other
assets of E2open, and those of our clients, vendors, partners, employees and consumers that can be at risk due to cybersecurity threats
to E2open.

We have incorporated industry recognized cybersecurity frameworks and standards into our Cyber Risk Program, including
frameworks from the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) and security control auditing protocols from the Center
for Internet Security (CIS) and the International Organizations for Standardization (ISO). Recognizing that the nature of cybersecurity
threats and the particular threat vectors we face continually change, we continue to invest in updating and enhancing our Cyber Risk
Program.

Under our Cyber Risk Program, our SVP, and the cybersecurity staff, along with the Cyber Response Team, with input where
appropriate from our third-party advisors, work to identify our cybersecurity threats, assess the risks and deploy appropriate
technologies and processes to mitigate the risks. When cybersecurity incidents occur, these resources work to manage through the
incident utilizing advanced security tools and playbooks, and in accordance with processes set out in our various policies and practice
documents, which include internal communications protocols to keep the executive team and, where appropriate, the Risk Committee
and board of directors informed. Pertinent policy and practice documents include, among others, our Crisis Response Plan, which
describes the detailed processes and procedures that should be followed in the event of a cybersecurity incident.

As an important cybersecurity risk mitigant, E2open provides mandatory training to its new hires and existing employees on a regular
basis, including phishing simulation tests and follow-up tests as needed, along with monthly cybersecurity newsletters and other cyber
risk-related communications.

Integration into Overall Risk Management System or Processes

The Cyber Risk Program is integrated into our overall risk management systems and processes. Our risk management systems and
processes comprise numerous components, including published policies and procedures, risk detection systems, tools and protocols
(automated and human); internal and external independent auditing; management committee review; defined lines of communications;
employee training; engagement of outside advisors and experts; assessment and utilization of both commercial and self-insurance
opportunities; client contract standardization where possible; legal review of vendor engagements and new products for regulatory
compliance; and regular operations reviews with the Chief Executive Officer and Risk Committee. E2open utilizes the foregoing
systems and processes to best ensure effective management of our risks and associated cybersecurity threats.
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Engagement of Third Parties

As part of our Cyber Risk Program, we engage outside independent auditors, consultants, and professional advisors. We use
independent auditors to certify compliance with internal control over financial reporting, the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants' Systems and Organization Controls (SOC 2) security framework. We also conduct reviews for compliance with data
protection regulation such as Europe's GDPR and regulation of various U.S. states as the California Consumer Privacy Act (CCPA).
We also engage industry-leading cybersecurity service and systems providers to assist with protection from and detection of
cybersecurity threats and incidents and our responses to them.

Risks from Third Party Service Providers and Others

Our cybersecurity team, under the oversight of the SVP, performs risk assessments on third party service providers and other third
parties (such as partner companies), as well as third party software and hardware utilized in its operations, that may have the potential
to create cybersecurity threats to our data and operations. Based on the results of these regular assessments (including assessments
made before engaging a third party), we may decide to take action to address and mitigate certain risks or determine that the risk is not
acceptable and terminate the relationship with the third party (or determine not to engage a third party).

Risks from Cybersecurity Threats—Likely Material Impact

See the risk factor entitled Cyber-attacks and security vulnerabilities could result in serious harm to our reputation, business and
financial condition. in Item 1A, Risk Factors. To date, we have not identified any material cybersecurity threats or incidents that have
materially affected our business strategy, results of operations or financial condition. However, we cannot guarantee that future
incidents will not have a material impact.

Item 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters is located at 14135 Midway Road, Suite G300, Addison, Texas 75001. In addition, we lease other
corporate office spaces in the following locations:

U.S. Locations International Locations
Rogers, Arkansas Moonee Ponds, Australia
Naples, Florida Shanghai, China
Holland, Michigan Tranbjerg, Denmark
Keego Harbor, Michigan Bad Homburg, Germany
Parsippany, New Jersey Karlsruhe, Germany

Kowloon, Hong Kong
Bangalore, India
Hyderabad, India
Pune, India
Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
Dordrecht, Netherlands
Christchurch, New Zealand
Lima, Peru
Manchester, United Kingdom

Our data centers are operated through co-location facilities, where we provide our own equipment to be used in leased space. While
the data center space is leased, we own all the equipment that sits within those data centers. We also have managed service locations,
where we do not own any equipment and do not have access to the facilities. A third party manages the data center operations and
equipment. We utilize and optimize data centers and public cloud services throughout the world to attain secure application
availability, at a minimum, of 99.5% uptime infrastructure. The following table sets forth our material technology infrastructure,
including location and function, for our properties throughout the world (all of which are leased).
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Location Function
San Jose, California Production, Configuration, Disaster Recovery
Sunnyvale, California Development, Staging
Denver, Colorado Disaster Recovery, Production
Chicago, Illinois Production, Configuration, Disaster Recovery
Shanghai, China Production, Disaster Recovery, Staging, Communication
Hong Kong Production, Disaster Recovery, Staging, Communication
Ballerup, Denmark Development, Production
Frankfurt, Germany Production, Staging
Amsterdam, Netherlands Production
London, United Kingdom Production
Manchester, United Kingdon Production, Staging

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

In 2014, Kewill (a predecessor of BluJay) entered into a software licensing and service contract with a customer that resulted in a
dispute over Kewill’s performance under the agreement. In June 2020, prior to our acquisition of BluJay, the customer filed suit.
BluJay and its external counsel considered the claims meritless and intended to file a counter claim for delinquent uncollected
receivables. At the time of the BluJay Acquisition in September 2021, an allowance for credit losses was recorded in purchase
accounting against the uncollected receivables from this customer. No further accrual was established for this litigation at the time of
the acquisition or in subsequent periods through the first quarter of fiscal 2024, as in our judgment, which was based on the advice of
external legal counsel, the claims were without merit. Any loss beyond the uncollected receivables was not considered probable and
the maximum exposure was believed to be immaterial. In February 2022, consistent with the related contractual terms, the case moved
to binding arbitration. Upon conclusion of the arbitration proceedings in August 2023, the arbitrator ruled against BluJay. On
September 14, 2023, the parties agreed to a settlement for $17.8 million which resolved the matter and released us from all alleged
claims. The settlement was paid on September 20, 2023.

The settlement is not an admission of liability or wrongdoing by us or our predecessors, nor does it validate the alleged claims.

We accrued $17.8 million for the settlement in the second quarter of fiscal 2024 as part of general and administrative expenses on the
Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations.

From time to time, we are subject to contingencies that arise in the ordinary course of business. We record an accrual for a
contingency when it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. We do
not currently believe the resolution of any such contingencies will have a material adverse effect upon our Consolidated Balance
Sheets, Statements of Operations or Statements of Cash Flows.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.

PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Information and Holders of Record

Our Class A Common Stock is listed on the NYSE under the symbol “ETWO.” As of April 25, 2025, there were 91 holders of record
of our Class A Common Stock.

Dividends

We do not intend to declare or pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Our management anticipates that all earnings and other
cash resources, if any, will be retained for investment in our business.
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Warrants

Our public warrants, which have an exercise price of $11.50 per share and expire in February 2026, were previously listed on the
NYSE under the symbols “ETWO-WT.” On March 24, 2025, the staff of the NYSE Regulation determined to commence proceedings
to delist our warrants and immediately suspended their trading. These actions were pursuant to minimum trading price requirements
contained in Section 802.01D of the Listed Company Manual. As of March 25, 2025, these warrants began trading on the OTC
Markets under the ticker symbol OTC:ETWOW. As a result, any over-the-counter market quotes reflect inter-dealer prices without
retail mark-ups, mark-downs or commissions and may not represent actual transactions.

As of February 28, 2025, there were 29,079,872 warrants outstanding. Each warrant entitles its holder to purchase one share of our
Class A Common Stock at an exercise price of $11.50 per share. The 10,280,000 private placement warrants became exercisable upon
the Domestication. The Forward Purchase Warrants became exercisable upon the effectiveness of our Form S-1, which was initially
filed on March 5, 2021 and became effective March 29, 2021. The 13,799,872 public warrants became exercisable on April 28, 2021.
The private placement warrants, public warrants and Forward Purchase Warrants expire five years after the Closing Date, or earlier
upon redemption or liquidation. There were no warrants exercised during the fiscal years ended February 28, 2025, February 29, 2024
and February 28, 2023.

See Note 18, Warrants in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information about redemption of the
warrants.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The E2open Parent Holdings, Inc. 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan (2021 Incentive Plan) is our only equity compensation plan. We
currently utilize the 2021 Incentive Plan to make equity and equity-based incentive awards to officers, employees, directors and
consultants. For more information about the 2021 Incentive Plan, see Note 23, Share-Based Compensation in the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the 2021 Incentive Plan as of February 28, 2025:

Plan Category

Number of
Securities to be

Issued Upon
Exercise of

Outstanding
Rights

Weighted-
Average Exercise

Price of
Outstanding

Rights

Number of
Securities
Remaining

Available for
Future

Issuance Under
Equity

Compensation
Plans

Equity compensation plans approved by stockholders 23,788,059 (1) 4.33 9,729,170 (1)
Equity compensation plans not approved by stockholders — N/A —
Total 23,788,059 N/A 9,729,170

(1) For more information about the 2021 Incentive Plan, see Note 23, Share-Based Compensation in the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Performance Graph

The following graph shows our cumulative total stockholder return for the period from June 15, 2020 and ending on February 28,
2025. June 15, 2020 is the day the units and warrants began trading separately on the NYSE. The graph also shows the cumulative
total returns of the Russell 3000 index, in which we are included, and our peer group listed below.
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The comparison below assumes $100 was invested on June 15, 2020 in our common stock, the Russell 3000 index and each member
of our peer group and assumes that all dividends are reinvested. Our stock performance shown in the following graph is not indicative
of future stock price performance.

This graph shall not be deemed incorporated by reference by any general statement incorporated by reference to this Form 10-K into
any filing under the Securities Act or Exchange Act, except to the extent that we specifically incorporate this information by reference
therein and shall not otherwise be deemed filed under either the Securities Act or Exchange Act.

Our peer group as of February 28, 2025 is as follows:

Company Name Ticker Symbol Company Name Ticker Symbol
Manhattan Associates, Inc. MANH SPS Commerce, Inc. SPSC
Kinaxis Inc. KXS.TO Tecsys Inc. TCS.TO
Logility Supply Chain Solutions, Inc. LGTY The Descartes Systems Group Inc. DSG.TO

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

This item contains a discussion of our business, including a general overview of our business, properties, results of operations,
liquidity and capital resources as well as quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk.

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes in Item 8,
Financial Statements of this 2025 Form 10-K. This Item 7 contains “forward-looking” statements that involve risks and uncertainties.
See Forward-Looking Statements at the beginning of this 2025 Form 10-K.

Our fiscal year end is the final day in February. Our fiscal years 2025, 2024 and 2023 ended February 28, 2025, February 29, 2024
and February 28, 2023, respectively, and were each fifty-two-week periods.
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Overview

We are a world-class end-to-end supply chain software platform that enables the world's largest companies to transform the way they
make, move and sell goods and services. Our SaaS platform spans many key strategic and operational areas including channel,
planning, global trade, logistics and supply. With a cloud-native global SaaS platform purpose-built for modern supply chains, we
connect manufacturing, logistics, channel and distribution partners as one multi-enterprise network. Our SaaS platform anticipates
disruptions and opportunities to help companies improve efficiency, reduce waste and operate sustainably. In aggregate, we serve
clients in all major countries in the world across a wide range of end-markets, including consumer goods, food and beverage,
manufacturing, retail, industrial and automotive, aerospace and defense, technology and transportation, among others.

We operate in what we believe is an attractive industry with strong secular tailwinds and a TAM which includes significant
whitespace within our current client base. This upsell opportunity within our existing client base is largely driven by their current
technology solution which is often a combination of legacy point solutions and home-grown applications which could be a
combination of manual processes and spreadsheets. As manufacturing continues to evolve, supply chains have grown more complex
creating the need for a modern cloud-based solution. We believe our cloud-based, end-to-end software platform offers a differentiated
and more connected solution for clients that provides all the mechanisms needed to run a fully integrated supply chain solution with
visibility at every point. If our clients initially purchase portions of our software, they can add on additional modules as the need
arises.

Our Go-To-Market Strategy

Our go-to-market strategy is focused on both expanding the adoption of our product portfolio with existing clients and the acquisition
of new clients. We primarily target our selling efforts on large enterprise organizations and sell our software primarily through a direct
sales force enhanced by the additional go-to-market presence of our partners. Our go-to-market strategy enables our sales force to
develop deep, long-term relationships with existing and potential clients across the relevant functions, from buying managers, IT
resources, division leaders and C-level executives. Our go-to-market approach aligns with the client by engaging with them and their
specific needs instead of selling a single product. This permits us to dive into the true need and find the best solution instead of trying
to make one product work for every client. This alignment with the client enables us to sustain our high client retention and long client
tenure, as well as drive maximum spend within each client through an efficient, focused sales model.

Our sales and marketing organizations are comprised of field sales, inside sales and sales development personnel, and we organized
these teams based on client size, geography and industry. Our main priority is understanding a client's primary need, usually a specific
piece of their supply chain, in order to provide the correct solution within our software platform. Once a client adopts our solution and
sees firsthand the power of our unique platform, we have the potential to cross-sell additional products as well as expand into
additional departments, divisions and geographies with the same solution or additional solutions within our software platform.

Goodwill Impairment

During the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2025, first and third quarters of fiscal 2024 and second and fourth quarters of fiscal 2023,
we experienced a significant decline in the market price of our Class A Common Stock and market capitalization. In addition, in
certain of these quarters, we experienced slowing growth and lowered projections due to lower than anticipated new bookings, lower
revenue, higher than expected churn and macroeconomic impacts. These factors resulted in us determining that triggering events
occurred, and goodwill impairment assessments were performed for the respective quarters.

During fiscal 2025, 2024 and 2023, the fair value of E2open was calculated using a combination of the discounted cash flow method,
guideline public company method and guideline transaction method. In each impairment, the approaches generated similar results and
indicated that the fair value of E2open's goodwill was less than its carrying amount and resulted in goodwill impairment charges
totaling $614.1 million, $1,097.7 million and $901.6 million in fiscal 2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

See Note 7, Goodwill to the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Intangible Assets Impairment

During the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2025 and first and third quarters of fiscal 2024, we experienced a significant decline in
the market price of our Class A Common Stock and market capitalization. In addition, in certain of these quarters, we experienced
slowing growth and lowered projections due to lower than anticipated new bookings, lower revenue, higher than expected churn and
macroeconomic impacts. These factors resulted in us determining that triggering events occurred, and indefinite-lived intangible asset
impairment assessments were performed for the respective quarters. The fair value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset was
calculated using the relief from royalty payments method which was based on management's estimates of projected net sales and
terminal growth rates, taking into consideration market and industry conditions. The assessments indicated that the fair value of
E2open's indefinite-lived intangible asset was less than its carrying amount; therefore, during the fiscal years ended February 28, 2025
and February 29, 2024, we recognized an impairment charge of $18.5 million and $34.0 million to intangible assets, net, for the
indefinite-lived trademark / trade name, respectively. We did not have an impairment for intangible asset during the fiscal year ended
February 28, 2023. See Note 8, Intangible Assets, Net to the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Key Components of Our Results of Operations

Revenue

We account for all client contracts under ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (ASC 606), and all the related
amendments. See Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
additional information.

We generate revenue from the sale of subscriptions and professional services. We recognize revenue when the client contract and
associated performance obligations have been identified; the transaction price has been determined and allocated to the performance
obligations in the contract; and the performance obligations have been satisfied.

Subscriptions Revenue

We offer cloud-based on-demand software solutions, which enable our clients to have constant access to our solutions without the
need to manage and support the software and associated hardware themselves. We house the hardware and software in third-party
facilities and provide our clients with access to software solutions, along with data security and storage, backup, recovery services and
solution support.

Logistics as a service employs logistics professionals to manage a company’s transportation network including truck, rail, ocean and
air freight as well as inbound/outbound logistics from production facilities to warehouses, retailers and end users/consumers.

We charge primarily fixed annual subscription fees or, in limited cases, transaction fees based on the volume of transactions requested
by clients. Typically, the volume-based fees comprise a small percentage of this revenue source. Our client contracts typically have a
term of one to five years while our enterprise client contracts have an average term of approximately three years. We recognize
revenue ratably over the life of the contracts.

For subscription-based contracts, we generally invoice in advance. Subscription revenue is recognized ratably over the life of the
contract. For transactional-based contracts, we recognize revenue for these contracts when the performance obligation is fulfilled.
Transaction-based contracts represented 2%, 2% and 4% of our revenue in the fiscal years ended February 28, 2025, February 29,
2024 and February 28, 2023, respectively.

Professional Services and Other

Professional services revenue is derived primarily from fees for enabling services, including consulting and deployment services for
purchased solutions. These services are often sold in conjunction with the sale of our solutions. We provide professional services
primarily on a time and materials basis, but sometimes on a fixed fee basis. Clients are invoiced for professional services either
monthly in arrears or, as with fixed fee arrangements, in advance and upon reaching project milestones. Professional services revenue
is recognized over time. For services that are contracted at a fixed price, progress is generally measured based on labor hours incurred
as a percentage of the total estimated hours required for complete satisfaction of the related performance obligations. For services that
are contracted on time and materials or a prepaid basis, progress is generally based on actual labor hours expended. These input
methods (e.g., hours incurred or expended and milestone completion) are considered a faithful depiction of our efforts to satisfy
services contracts as they represent the performance obligation consumed by the client and performed by us, and therefore reflect the
transfer of services to a client under contract.
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We enter into arrangements with multiple performance obligations comprised of subscriptions and professional services.
Arrangements with clients typically do not provide the client with the right to take possession of the software supporting the on-
demand solutions. We primarily account for subscription and professional services revenue as separate units of accounting and
allocate revenue to each deliverable in an arrangement based on a standalone selling price. We evaluate the standalone selling price
for each element by considering prices we charge for similar offerings, size of the order and historical pricing practices. Other revenue
primarily includes perpetual license fees, which are recognized upon delivery to the client.

Total Revenue by Geographic Locations

Revenues by geographical region consisted of the following:

Fiscal Year Ended
($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024 February 28, 2023
Americas $ 520,674 $ 536,316 $ 549,246
Europe 67,686 77,857 81,062
Asia Pacific 19,328 20,381 21,907

Total revenue $ 607,688 $ 634,554 $ 652,215

Revenues by geography are determined based on the region of our contracting entity, which may be different than the region of the
client, or where the software solutions are being utilized or accessed. United States revenue was approximately 85%, 84% and 83%,
during the fiscal years ended February 28, 2025, February 29, 2024 and February 28, 2023, respectively. No other country represented
more than ten percent of total revenue during these periods.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of Subscription Revenue

Cost of subscription revenue consists primarily of costs related to delivering our service and providing support to clients, including
personnel and related costs, costs associated with data center operations and capacity, fees paid to third parties to license their
technology and depreciation expense directly related to delivering our solutions. Cost of subscription revenue also includes the costs
associated with our logistics as a service revenue which consists of costs related to managing a company’s transportation network
including truck, rail, ocean and air freight as well as inbound/outbound logistics from production facilities to warehouses, retailers and
end users/consumers. We generally expense our cost of subscription revenue as we incur the costs.

Cost of Professional Services and Other Revenue

Cost of professional services and other revenue consists primarily of personnel and related travel costs, the costs of contracted third-
party vendors and reimbursable expenses. As our personnel are employed on a full-time basis, our cost of professional services is
largely fixed in the short-term, while our professional services and other revenue may fluctuate, leading to fluctuations in professional
services and other gross profit. We expense our cost of professional services and other revenue as we incur the costs.

Operating Expenses

Research and Development

Research and development expenses primarily consist of personnel and related costs of our research and development staff, costs of
certain third-party contractors, depreciation, amortization and other allocated costs. Research and development expenses are expensed
as incurred, excluding the capitalization of internally developed software costs.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses primarily consist of personnel and related costs for our sales and marketing staff. It also includes the
costs of promotional events, corporate communications, online marketing, solution marketing and other brand-building activities, in
addition to depreciation, amortization and other allocated costs. We defer and amortize sales commissions that are incremental and
directly related to obtaining client contracts in accordance with ASC 606 and ASC 340-40, Other Assets and Deferred Cost-Contracts
with Customers. We amortize sales commissions over the period that products are expected to be delivered to clients, including
expected renewals. We have determined this period to be four years, beginning when costs are incurred. Certain sales commissions
that would have an amortization period of less than a year are expensed as incurred to sales and marketing expenses.
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General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses primarily consist of personnel and related costs for our executive, administrative, finance,
information technology, legal, accounting, investor relations and human resource staff. It also includes professional fees; expenses
related to our board of directors and advisory board; public company costs; other corporate expenses; depreciation; amortization; and
other allocated costs.

Contingent Consideration

The contingent consideration liability is due to the issuance of the restricted Series B-2 common stock and Series 2 RCUs of E2open
Holdings as part of the Business Combination. These shares and units were issued on a proportional basis to each holder of Class A
shares in CCNB1 and Common Units.

The restricted shares, Common Units and deferred consideration payments are treated as a contingent consideration liability under
ASC 805, Business Combination, and valued at fair market value on the acquisition date and remeasured at each reporting date and
adjusted if necessary. Our earn-out liabilities and contingent consideration are valued using a Monte Carlo simulation model. The
assumptions used in preparing these models include estimates such as volatility, contractual terms, discount rates, dividend yield and
risk-free interest rates. Any change in the fair value of the deferred consideration from the remeasurement was recorded in acquisition-
related expenses on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Any change in the fair value of the restricted shares and Common
Units from the remeasurement will be recorded in gain (loss) from change in fair value of contingent consideration on the
Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Interest and Other Expense, Net

Interest and other expense, net, consists primarily of interest expense on our outstanding debt and financing lease obligations; interest
income on our cash balances; foreign currency realized and unrealized gains and losses; and gains and losses on the disposal of fixed
assets.

Provision for Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes consists of a deferred income tax benefit and current tax expense. The current income taxes primarily
result from our profitable operations in foreign subsidiaries, which are subject to corporate income taxes in foreign jurisdictions, plus a
relatively immaterial amount of U.S. federal and state income taxes on our lower tier entities not offset by net operating loss
carryforwards. The deferred income tax benefit is primarily due to a decrease in overall outside basis difference in the partnership and
the book/tax difference realized from intangible amortization. Certain deferred tax assets of E2open Parent Holdings, Inc. are offset by
a valuation allowance while the deferred tax assets of certain other U.S corporate tax consolidated groups and non-U.S. jurisdictions
remain offset by a full valuation allowance. Realization of these deferred tax assets depends upon future earnings, the timing and
amount of which are uncertain. Utilization of our net operating losses may be subject to annual limitations due to the ownership
change rules under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (IRS Code), and similar state provisions. We have analyzed the
effect of the IRS Code Section 382 for each of our acquisitions. Based on analysis of acquired net operating losses and credits,
utilization of our net operating losses and research and development credits will be subject to annual limitations. In the event of future
changes in ownership, the availability of net operating loss carryforwards could be further limited.
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Results of Operations

The following table is our Consolidated Statements of Operations for the periods indicated:

Fiscal Year Ended
($ in thousands, except per share amounts) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024 February 28, 2023
Revenue $ 607,688 $ 634,554 $ 652,215
Cost of revenue (308,004) (316,863) (321,932)
Total gross profit 299,684 317,691 330,283

Operating Expenses
Research and development 97,955 101,420 97,982
Sales and marketing 79,304 87,734 87,960
General and administrative 86,199 108,048 88,070
Acquisition-related expenses 4,556 2,080 16,297
Amortization of acquired intangible assets 51,445 80,276 82,812
Goodwill impairment 614,100 1,097,741 901,566
Intangible asset impairment 18,500 34,000 —

Total operating expenses 952,059 1,511,299 1,274,687
Loss from operations (652,375) (1,193,608) (944,404)

Interest and other expense, net (99,343) (102,460) (76,831)
Impairment of cost method investment (5,500) — —
Gain (loss) from change in tax receivable agreement liability 5,565 2,190 (2,886)
Gain from change in fair value of warrant liability 14,131 14,903 37,523
Gain from change in fair value of contingent

consideration 12,900 11,520 16,020
Total other expense (72,247) (73,847) (26,174)

Loss before income tax provision (724,622) (1,267,455) (970,578)
Income tax (expense) benefit (1,163) 82,376 250,376

Net loss (725,785) (1,185,079) (720,202)
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest (65,955) (115,055) (71,499)
Net loss attributable to E2open Parent Holdings, Inc. $ (659,830) $ (1,070,024) $ (648,703)
Net loss attributable to E2open Parent Holdings, Inc.

Class A common stockholders per share:
Basic $ (2.14) $ (3.52) $ (2.15)
Diluted $ (2.14) $ (3.52) $ (2.15)

Weighted-average common shares outstanding:
Basic 308,268 303,751 301,946
Diluted 308,268 303,751 301,946

Fiscal Year Ended February 28, 2025 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended February 29, 2024

Revenue

Fiscal Year Ended
($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024 $ Change % Change
Revenue:

Subscriptions $ 527,958 $ 536,792 $ (8,834) -2%
Professional services and other 79,730 97,762 (18,032) -18%

Total revenue $ 607,688 $ 634,554 $ (26,866) -4%
Percentage of revenue:

Subscriptions 87% 85%
Professional services and other 13% 15%

Total 100% 100%
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Subscriptions revenue was $528.0 million in fiscal 2025, a $8.8 million, or 2%, decrease compared to $536.8 million in fiscal 2024.
The decrease in subscriptions revenue was primarily due to lower new bookings and elevated churn over the last twelve months.

Professional services and other revenue was $79.7 million in fiscal 2025, a $18.0 million, or 18%, decrease compared to $97.8 million
in fiscal 2024. The decrease in professional services and other revenue was due to lower billable hours partially driven by a higher
focus of resources on retention and client satisfaction and a decline in new bookings.

Our subscriptions revenue as a percentage of total revenue increased to 87% for the fiscal year ended February 28, 2025 from 85% for
the fiscal year ended February 29, 2024. This increase was primarily due to a decline in professional services revenue. Our
professional services and other revenue as a percentage of total revenue was 13% for fiscal 2025 compared to 15% for fiscal 2024 as
professional services and other revenue declined.

Cost of Revenue, Gross Profit and Gross Margin

Fiscal Year Ended
($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024 $ Change % Change
Cost of revenue:

Subscriptions $ 145,668 $ 146,006 $ (338) 0%
Professional services and other 65,725 72,249 (6,524) -9%
Amortization of acquired intangible assets 96,611 98,608 (1,997) -2%

Total cost of revenue $ 308,004 $ 316,863 $ (8,859) -3%

Gross profit:
Subscriptions $ 285,679 $ 292,178 $ (6,499) -2%
Professional services and other 14,005 25,513 (11,508) -45%

Total gross profit $ 299,684 $ 317,691 $ (18,007) -6%

Gross margin:
Subscriptions 54% 54%
Professional services and other 18% 26%

Total gross margin 49% 50%

Cost of subscriptions was $145.7 million in fiscal 2025, a $0.3 million decrease compared to $146.0 million in fiscal 2024. This
decrease was primarily driven by a $3.8 million decline in personnel costs and $2.8 million decrease in depreciation expense when
compared to the prior year. These decreases were partially offset by increases of $4.9 million in software costs, $1.7 million for
hosting costs and $1.0 million in share-based compensation expense when compared to the prior year.

Cost of professional services and other revenue was $65.7 million in fiscal 2025, a $6.5 million, or 9%, decrease compared to $72.2
million in fiscal 2024. The decrease was mainly due to a $5.7 million decline in personnel costs when compared to the prior year.

Amortization of acquired intangible assets was $96.6 million in fiscal 2025 compared to $98.6 million in fiscal 2024.

Our subscriptions gross margin was 54% for fiscal 2025 and 2024.

Our professional services gross margin was down for fiscal 2025 to 18% compared to 26% for fiscal 2024 primarily driven by our
lower revenue in fiscal 2025.

Research and Development

Fiscal Year Ended
($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024 $ Change % Change
Research and development $ 97,955 $ 101,420 $ (3,465) -3%
Percentage of revenue 16% 16%
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Research and development expenses were $98.0 million in fiscal 2025, a $3.5 million, or 3%, decrease compared to $101.4 million in
fiscal 2024. The decrease was primarily due to a $5.8 million decline in personnel costs due to higher research and development
software capitalization, an increased mix of offshore resources as well as a $1.2 million reduction in consulting expenses compared to
the prior year. These decreases were partially offset by a $2.1 million increase in depreciation expense mainly related to capitalized
software costs and $1.0 million increase in share-based compensation expense.

Sales and Marketing

Fiscal Year Ended
($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024 $ Change % Change
Sales and marketing $ 79,304 $ 87,734 $ (8,430) -10%
Percentage of revenue 13% 14%

Sales and marketing expenses were $79.3 million in fiscal 2024, a $8.4 million decrease compared to $87.7 million in fiscal 2024. The
decrease was mostly driven by reductions of $2.6 million in marketing expenses, $1.9 million in bad debt expense, $1.6 million in
software costs, $1.2 million in personnel costs and $1.0 million in travel expenses when compared to the prior year. These decreases
were partially offset by a $1.0 million increase in share-based compensation expense.

General and Administrative

Fiscal Year Ended
($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024 $ Change % Change
General and administrative $ 86,199 $ 108,048 $ (21,849) -20%
Percentage of revenue 14% 17%

General and administrative expenses were $86.2 million in fiscal 2025, a $21.8 million, or 20%, decrease compared to $108.0 million
in fiscal 2024. The decrease was mainly a result of the $17.8 million legal settlement in fiscal 2024 associated with the unfavorable
ruling related to a 2014 contract between Kewill (a predecessor of BluJay) and a customer regarding Kewill's performance under the
agreement as noted above. Additionally, we incurred lower spend for personnel costs of $4.6 million, consulting expenses of $5.2
million, depreciation expense of $1.1 million and facilities costs of $2.3 million for such items as rent and building maintenance due to
office closures resulting from moving to a more remote workforce. These decreases were partially offset by $14.0 million of higher
share-based compensation expense with the majority of the increase related to awards for onboarding our Chief Executive Officer
(CEO) when compared to the prior year.

Other Operating Expenses

Fiscal Year Ended
($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024 $ Change % Change
Acquisition and other related expenses $ 4,556 $ 2,080 $ 2,476 nm
Amortization of acquired intangible assets 51,445 80,276 (28,831) -36%
Total other operating expenses $ 56,001 $ 82,356 $ (26,355) -32%

Acquisition and other related expenses were $4.6 million in fiscal 2025, a $2.5 million increase compared to $2.1 million in fiscal
2024. The increase in expenses was a result of our strategic alternatives review announced in March 2024.

Amortization of acquired intangible assets was $51.4 million in fiscal 2025, a $28.8 million, or 36%, decrease compared to $80.3
million in fiscal 2024. The decrease in amortization expense was due to certain intangible assets being fully amortized.

Goodwill Impairment

Fiscal Year Ended
($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024 $ Change % Change
Goodwill impairment $ 614,100 $ 1,097,741 $ (483,641) -44%

As indicated above, goodwill impairment triggering events occurred during fiscal 2025 and 2024 resulting in the performance of
goodwill impairment assessments. The result of the impairment assessments was the realization of a $614.1 million and $1,097.7
million impairment charge in fiscal 2025 and 2024, respectively.
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Intangible Asset Impairment

Fiscal Year Ended
($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024 $ Change % Change
Intangible asset impairment $ 18,500 $ 34,000 $ (15,500) -46%

As indicated above, indefinite-lived intangible asset triggering events occurred during fiscal 2025 and 2024 resulting in the
performance of indefinite-lived intangible impairment assessments. The result of the impairment assessments was the realization of a
$18.5 million and $34.0 million impairment charge in fiscal 2025 and 2024, respectively.

Interest and Other Expense, Net

Fiscal Year Ended
($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024 $ Change % Change
Interest and other expense, net $ (99,343) $ (102,460) $ 3,117 -3%

Interest and other expense, net was $99.3 million in fiscal 2025, a $3.1 million, or 3%, decrease compared to $102.5 million in fiscal
2024. The decrease in interest and other expense, net was driven by lower interest rates on our debt in fiscal 2025 and higher interest
income from money market funds in fiscal 2025 compared to fiscal 2024, partially offset by higher realized exchange losses in fiscal
2025 compared to fiscal 2024.

Impairment of cost method investment

We regularly evaluate the carrying value of our investment for impairment and whether any events or circumstances are identified that
would significantly harm the fair value of the investment. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2025, we determined that there was
substantial doubt about the private firm's ability to continue as a going concern. As a result, we determined that our investment had no
value and should be fully impaired as of February 28, 2025. This resulted in a $5.5 million impairment. No impairments were
previously taken related to this investment.

Gain (Loss) from Change in Tax Receivable Agreement

Fiscal Year Ended
($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024 $ Change % Change
Gain from change in tax receivable agreement

liability $ 5,565 $ 2,190 $ 3,375 nm

During fiscal 2025, we recorded a gain of $5.6 million related to the change in the fair value of the tax receivable agreement liability,
including interest, compared to $2.2 million during fiscal 2024. We have calculated the fair value of the Tax Receivable Agreement
payments and identified the timing of the utilization of the tax attributes. The Tax Receivable Agreement liability, related to
exchanges as of the Business Combination date, is revalued at the end of each reporting period with the gain or loss as well as the
associated interest reflected in gain (loss) from change in tax receivable agreement liability in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations in the period in which the event occurred.

In addition, under ASC 450, transactions with partnership unit holders after the acquisition date will result in additional Tax
Receivable Agreement liabilities that are recorded on a gross undiscounted basis. During fiscal 2025 and 2024, the Tax Receivable
Agreement applicable to this guidance increased by $1.1 million and $2.2 million, respectively.

Gain from Change in Fair Value of Warrant Liability

Fiscal Year Ended
($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024 $ Change % Change
Gain from change in fair value of warrant liability $ 14,131 $ 14,903 $ (772) -5%
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We recorded a gain of $14.1 million in fiscal 2025, a $0.8 million, or 5%, decrease compared to $14.9 million in fiscal 2024 for the
change in fair value on the revaluation of our warrant liability associated with our warrants. This change in fair value was related to
such items as the change in our stock price, the volatility of the stock price of our peer group, changes in the risk-free interest rate and
expected exercise date of the warrants. We are required to revalue the warrants at the end of each reporting period and reflect in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations a gain or loss from the change in fair value of the warrant liability in the period in which the
change occurred.

Gain from Change in Fair Value of Contingent Consideration

Fiscal Year Ended
($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024 $ Change % Change
Gain from change in fair value of contingent

consideration $ 12,900 $ 11,520 $ 1,380 12%

We recorded a gain of $12.9 million in fiscal 2025, a $1.4 million, or 12%, increase compared to $11.5 million in fiscal 2024 for the
change in fair value on the revaluation of our contingent consideration associated with our restricted B-2 common stock. This change
in fair value was related to such items as the change in the volatility of the stock price of our peer group, changes in the risk-free
interest rate and our expected stock price. We are required to revalue the contingent consideration at the end of each reporting period
or upon conversion and reflect in the Consolidated Statements of Operations a gain or loss from the change in fair value of the
contingent consideration in the period in which the change occurred.

Income Tax Provision

Fiscal Year Ended
($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024 $ Change % Change
Loss before income taxes $ (724,622) $ (1,267,455) $ 542,833 -43%
Income tax (expense) benefit (1,163) 82,376 (83,539) nm

The income tax expense was $1.2 million, or 0.2%, in fiscal 2025 compared to an income tax benefit of $82.4 million, or 6.5%, in
fiscal 2024. The change in the income tax provision between periods was primarily due to the higher goodwill and indefinite-lived
intangible asset impairment charges in fiscal 2024.

A discussion regarding our financial condition and results of operations for the fiscal year ended February 29, 2024 as compared to the
fiscal year ended February 28, 2023 can be found in Part II, Item 7., Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations of our Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended February 29, 2024 filed with the SEC on April 29, 2024.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

This document includes Non-GAAP gross profit, Non-GAAP gross margin, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA, which are non-GAAP
performance measures that we use to supplement our results presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP. We believe these non-GAAP
measures are useful in evaluating our operating performance, as they are similar to measures reported by our public competitors and
are regularly used by security analysts, institutional investors and other interested parties in analyzing operating performance and
prospects. These non-GAAP measures are not intended to be a substitute for any U.S. GAAP financial measure and, as calculated,
may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures of performance of other companies in other industries or within the same
industry.

We calculate and define Non-GAAP gross profit as gross profit excluding depreciation and amortization, share-based compensation
and certain other non-cash and non-recurring items. We define and calculate EBITDA as net income or losses excluding interest
income or expense, income tax expense or benefit, depreciation and amortization and Adjusted EBITDA as further adjusted for the
following items: goodwill impairment charge, indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment charge, impairment of cost method
investment, right-of-use assets impairment charge, transaction-related costs, (gain) loss from change in the tax receivable agreement
liability, (gain) loss from changes in the fair value of the warrant liability and contingent consideration, share-based compensation and
certain other non-cash and non-recurring items as described in the reconciliation below. We also report Non-GAAP gross profit and
Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of total revenue as additional measures to evaluate financial performance.
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We include these non-GAAP financial measures because they are used by management to evaluate our core operating performance
and trends and to make strategic decisions regarding the allocation of capital and new investments. These non-GAAP measures
exclude certain expenses that are required in accordance with U.S. GAAP because they are non-recurring (for example, in the case of
transaction-related costs, litigation settlements, goodwill impairment charge, indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment charge,
impairment of cost method investment and right-of-use assets impairment charge), non-cash (for example, in the case of depreciation,
amortization, (gain) loss from change in the tax receivable agreement liability, (gain) loss from changes in the fair value of the warrant
liability and contingent consideration and share-based compensation) or are not related to our underlying business performance (for
example, in the case of interest income and expense). There are limitations to non-GAAP financial measures because they exclude
charges and credits that are required to be included in the U.S. GAAP financial presentation. The items excluded from U.S. GAAP
financial measures such as net income or loss to arrive at non-GAAP financial measures are significant components for understanding
and assessing our financial performance. As a result, non-GAAP financial measures should be considered together with, and not
alternatives to, financial measures prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

The table below presents our Non-GAAP gross profit reconciled to our reported gross profit, the closest U.S. GAAP measure, for the
periods indicated:

Fiscal Year Ended
($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024 February 28, 2023
Gross profit

Reported gross profit $ 299,684 $ 317,691 $ 330,283
Depreciation and amortization 110,123 114,943 114,075
Non-recurring/non-operating costs (1) 616 3,602 2,461
Share-based compensation (2) 5,620 4,274 1,515

Non-GAAP gross profit $ 416,043 $ 440,510 $ 448,334
Gross margin 49.3% 50.1% 50.6%
Non-GAAP gross margin 68.5% 69.4% 68.7%

(1) Primarily includes other non-recurring expenses such as non-acquisition related severance related to cost reduction initiatives
and reorganizations, systems integrations, consulting, advisory fees, and expenses related to retention of key employees from
acquisitions.

(2) Reflects non-cash, long-term share-based compensation expense.
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The table below presents our Adjusted EBITDA reconciled to our net loss, the closest U.S. GAAP measure, for the periods indicated:

Fiscal Year Ended
($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024 February 28, 2023
Net loss $ (725,785) $ (1,185,079) $ (720,202)
Adjustments:

Interest expense, net 94,409 98,555 73,793
Income tax expense (benefit) 1,163 (82,376) (250,376)
Depreciation and amortization 181,975 214,727 213,260

EBITDA (448,238) (954,173) (683,525)
EBITDA Margin -73.8% -150.4% -104.8%

Goodwill impairment charge (1) 614,100 1,097,741 901,566
Intangible asset impairment charge (2) 18,500 34,000 —
Impairment of cost method investment (3) 5,500 — —
Right-of-use assets impairment charge (4) 576 659 4,137
Loss on disposition — — 1,400
Acquisition-related adjustments (5) 4,556 2,080 16,297
Gain from change in tax receivable agreement liability (6) (5,565) (2,190) 2,886
Gain from change in fair value of warrant liability (7) (14,131) (14,903) (37,523)
Gain from change in fair value of contingent consideration (8) (12,900) (11,520) (16,020)
Non-recurring/non-operating costs (9) 8,615 23,702 10,154
Legal settlement (10) — 17,750 —
Share-based compensation (11) 44,469 27,187 17,758

Adjusted EBITDA $ 215,482 $ 220,333 $ 217,130
Adjusted EBITDA Margin 35.5% 34.7% 33.3%

(1) Represents the goodwill impairment taken in the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2025, first and third quarters of fiscal
2024 and second and fourth quarters of fiscal 2023.

(2) Represents the indefinite-lived trademark / trade name impairment taken in the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2025 and
first and third quarters of fiscal 2024.

(3) Represents the impairment taken in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2025 on our cost method investment.

(4) Represents the impairment of our operating lease ROU assets and leasehold improvements due to vacating certain facilities.

(5) Primarily includes advisory, consulting, accounting and legal expenses and severance incurred in connection with mergers
and acquisitions activities, including related valuation, negotiation and integration costs and capital-raising activities, related
to the acquisition of Logistyx and the strategic review.

(6) Represents the fair value adjustment at each balance sheet date for the Tax Receivable Agreement along with the associated
interest.

(7) Represents the fair value adjustment at each balance sheet date of the warrant liability related to our warrants.

(8) Represents the fair value adjustment at each balance sheet date of the contingent consideration liability related to the
restricted Series B-2 common stock and Series 2 RCUs.

(9) Primarily includes non-recurring expenses such as non-acquisition severance related to cost reduction initiatives,
reorganizations and executive transition costs; foreign currency transaction gains and losses; system integrations, legal entity
rationalization and non-recurring consulting and advisory fees.

(10)Represents the $17.8 million litigation settlement for the unfavorable arbitration ruling related to the Kewill customer case.

(11)Reflects non-cash, long-term share-based compensation expense.
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Fiscal Year Ended February 28, 2025 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended February 29, 2024

Gross Profit

Fiscal Year Ended
($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024 $ Change % Change
Gross profit $ 299,684 $ 317,691 $ (18,007) -6%
Gross margin 49.3% 50.1%

Gross profit was $299.7 million for the fiscal year ended February 28, 2025, a $18.0 million, or 6%, decrease compared to $317.7
million for the fiscal year ended February 29, 2024. Subscriptions gross profit was down 2% while professional services and other
gross profit was down 45%. Gross margin was 49% and 50% for fiscal 2025 and 2024, respectively.

Non-GAAP Gross Profit

Fiscal Year Ended
($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024 $ Change % Change
Non-GAAP gross profit $ 416,043 $ 440,510 $ (24,467) -6%
Non-GAAP gross margin 68.5% 69.4%

Non-GAAP gross profit was $416.0 million for the fiscal year ended February 28, 2025, a $24.5 million, or 6%, decrease compared to
$440.5 million for the fiscal year ended February 29, 2024. The decrease in Non-GAAP gross profit was primarily due to a decline in
total revenue as well as $4.8 million in higher software costs and $2.1 million in additional hosting expenses in subscription costs of
revenue. These decreases in Non-GAAP gross profit were partially offset by $7.4 million in lower personnel costs. The Non-GAAP
gross margin was 69% for fiscal 2025 and 2024.

EBITDA

Fiscal Year Ended
($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024 $ Change % Change
EBITDA $ (448,238) $ (954,173) $ 505,935 -53%
EBITDA margin -73.8% -150.4%

EBITDA was a negative $448.2 million for fiscal 2025, a $505.9 million increase compared to a negative $954.2 million for fiscal
2024. EBITDA margin was a negative 74% for fiscal 2025 compared to a negative 150% for fiscal 2024. The increase in EBITDA and
EBITDA margins was primarily related to the reduction in the impairment on goodwill of $483.6 million and indefinite-lived
intangible asset impairment of $15.5 million between fiscal 2025 and 2024. We also incurred a $17.8 million litigation settlement for
the unfavorable arbitration ruling related to the Kewill customer case in fiscal 2024. Additionally, there was a $17.3 million increase
in share-based compensation expense between periods mainly related to awards for onboarding our CEO. These increases were
partially offset by the decrease in gross profit.

Adjusted EBITDA

Fiscal Year Ended
($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024 $ Change % Change
Adjusted EBITDA $ 215,482 $ 220,333 $ (4,851) -2%
Adjusted EBITDA margin 35.5% 34.7%

Adjusted EBITDA was $215.5 million for fiscal 2025, a $4.9 million, or 2%, decrease compared to $220.3 million for fiscal 2024.
Adjusted EBITDA margin was 36% for fiscal 2025 compared to 35% for fiscal 2024. The decrease in Adjusted EBITDA was
primarily a result of lower revenue and gross profit, partially offset by lower operating expenses compared to the prior year.

A discussion regarding our non-GAAP financial measures for the fiscal year ended February 29, 2024 as compared to the fiscal year
ended February 28, 2023 can be found under the heading Non-GAAP Financial Measures in Part II, Item 7., Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of our Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended February 29,
2024 filed with the SEC on April 29, 2024.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

We measure liquidity in terms of our ability to fund the cash requirements of our business operations, including working capital,
capital expenditure needs, contractual obligations and other commitments, with cash flows from operations and other sources of
funding. Current working capital needs relate mainly to employee compensation and benefits, as well as interest and debt. Our ability
to expand and grow our business will depend on many factors, including working capital needs and the evolution of our operating cash
flows.

We had $197.4 million in cash and cash equivalents and $155.0 million of unused borrowing capacity under our 2021 Revolving
Credit Facility as of February 28, 2025. See Note 13, Notes Payable to the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. We
believe our existing cash and cash equivalents, cash provided by operating activities and, if necessary, the borrowing capacity under
our 2021 Revolving Credit Facility will be sufficient to meet our working capital, debt repayment and capital expenditure
requirements for at least the next twelve months.

In the future, we may enter into arrangements to acquire or invest in complementary businesses. To facilitate these acquisitions or
investments, we may seek additional equity or debt financing.

Debt

2021 Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility

In February 2021, E2open, LLC, our subsidiary, entered into the Credit Agreement which provided for the $525.0 million term loan
(2021 Term Loan) and a $75.0 million revolver (2021 Revolving Credit Facility). In September 2021, the Credit Agreement was
amended to include a $380.0 million incremental term loan, an increase in the letter of credit sublimit from $15.0 million to $30.0
million and an increase in the 2021 Revolving Credit Facility from $75.0 million to $155.0 million. In April 2022, the Credit
Agreement was amended to include a $190.0 million incremental term loan bringing our total borrowing under term loans to $1,095.0
million.

The 2021 Revolving Credit Facility will mature on February 4, 2026. E2open, LLC can request increases in the revolving
commitments and additional term loan facilities, in minimum amounts of $2.0 million for each facility. Principal payments are due on
the Credit Agreement the last day of February, May, August and November. The Credit Agreement is payable in quarterly
installments of $2.7 million. The Credit Agreement is payable in full on February 4, 2028.

On April 18, 2025, E2open, LLC signed an amendment to the Credit Agreement to extend the maturity date of the 2021 Revolving
Credit Facility to February 4, 2028 to coincide with the maturity date of the 2021 Term Loan. Additionally, the availability under the
2021 Revolving Credit Facility decreased from $155.0 million to $123.8 million.

The 2021 Term Loan has a variable interest rate resulting in an interest rate of 7.94% and 8.95% as of February 28, 2025 and February
29, 2024, respectively, which was based on SOFR plus 350 basis points and LIBOR plus 350 basis points, respectively. As of
February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024, the 2021 Term Loan had a principal balance outstanding of $1,056.3 million and $1,067.2
million, respectively. There were no outstanding borrowings, no outstanding letters of credit and $155.0 million available borrowing
capacity under the 2021 Revolving Credit Facility as of February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024.

Beginning in March 2023, we entered into zero-cost interest rate collars to reduce our exposure to the variability of our interest rate
associated with our outstanding debt. By keeping interest rates within the executed bands, or caps and floors, of the collars, we are
able to reduce exposure to the interest rate risk. Effective March 31, 2023, we entered into an interest rate collar with a notional
amount of $200.0 million and a maturity date of March 31, 2026. The executed cap was 4.75% and the floor was 2.57%. Effective
April 6, 2023, an additional interest rate collar was executed with a notional amount of $100.0 million and a maturity date of March
31, 2026. The executed cap was 4.50% and the floor was 2.56%.

The principal payment obligations under our notes payable as of February 28, 2025 were: $11.3 million for fiscal 2026, $11.1 million
for fiscal 2027 and $1,034.4 million for fiscal 2028.
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Cash Flows

The following table presents net cash from operating activities, investing activities and financing activities:

Fiscal Year Ended
($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024 February 28, 2023

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 99,137 $ 84,871 $ 68,098
Net cash used in investing activities (25,201) (29,252) (228,729)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (12,991) (14,020) 90,435
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 2,152 3,097 (16)

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 63,097 44,696 (70,212)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year 149,038 104,342 174,554
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of year $ 212,135 $ 149,038 $ 104,342

Fiscal Year Ended February 28, 2025 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended February 29, 2024

As of February 28, 2025, our consolidated cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash was $212.1 million, a $63.1 million increase from
our balance of $149.0 million as of February 29, 2024.

Net cash provided by operating activities for fiscal 2025 was $99.1 million compared to $84.9 million for fiscal 2024. The $14.2
million increase in cash was primarily driven by more cash provided by working capital items in fiscal 2025 for such items as the
following:

• an increase in cash collected on accounts receivable; and

• partially offset by an increase in cash used in accounts payable and accrued liabilities which includes items such as
accrued compensation, trade accounts payable, accrued professional services and the current portion of the Tax
Receivable Agreement liability.

Net cash used in investing activities was $25.2 million and $29.3 million for fiscal 2025 and 2024, respectively, which represented
cash used for capitalized software development costs and acquisition of software and property related to our data centers.

Net cash used in financing activities was $13.0 million and $14.0 million for fiscal 2025 and 2024, respectively. Payments under the
2021 Term Loan were consistent between periods at $11.0 million. Additionally, we paid $0.9 million in additional finance lease
payments in fiscal 2024 than in fiscal 2025.

A discussion regarding our cash flows for the fiscal year ended February 29, 2024 as compared to the fiscal year ended February 28,
2023 can be found under the heading Cash Flows in Part II, Item 7., Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations of our Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended February 29, 2024 filed with the SEC on April 29, 2024.

Tax Receivable Agreement

Concurrently with the completion of the Business Combination, we entered into the Tax Receivable Agreement with certain selling
equity holders of E2open Holdings. The Tax Receivable Agreement provides for the payment by the Company of 85% of certain tax
benefits that are realized or deemed realized as a result of increases in tax, utilization of pre-existing tax attributes of certain sellers
and realization of additional tax benefits attributable to payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement. The term of the Tax
Receivable Agreement will continue until all such tax benefits have been utilized or expired unless we exercise our right to terminate
the Tax Receivable Agreement for an amount representing the present value of anticipated future tax benefits under the Tax
Receivable Agreement or certain other acceleration events occur. We will retain the benefit of the remaining 15% of the cash tax
savings.

Amounts payable under the Tax Receivable Agreement will be contingent upon, among other things, our generation of taxable income
over the term of the Tax Receivable Agreement. If we do not generate sufficient taxable income in the aggregate over the term of the
Tax Receivable Agreement to utilize the tax benefits subject to the Tax Receivable Agreement, we would not be required to make the
related payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement. Although the amount of any payments required to be made under the Tax
Receivable Agreement may be significant, the timing of these payments will vary and will generally be limited to one payment per
member per year. During the year ended February 28, 2025, we paid $1.8 million to Tax Receivable Agreement holders of E2open
Holdings. We did not make any payments to Tax Receivable Agreement holders of E2open Holdings prior to fiscal 2025.
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The liability related to the Tax Receivable Agreement was $63.4 million and $69.7 million as of February 28, 2025 and February 29,
2024, assuming (1) a corporate tax rate of 23.8% and 23.7% as of February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024, respectively, (2) no
dispositions of corporate subsidiaries, (3) no material changes in tax law and (4) we do not elect an early termination of the Tax
Receivable Agreement. However, due to the uncertainty of various factors, including: (a) the timing and value of future exchanges, (b)
the amount and timing of our future taxable income, (c) changes in our tax rate, (d) no future dispositions of any corporate stock, (e)
changes in the tax law and (f) changes in the discount rate, the likely tax savings we will realize and the resulting amounts we are
likely to pay to the selling equity holders of E2open Holdings pursuant to the Tax Receivable Agreement are uncertain. Interest
accrued on the portion of the Tax Receivable Agreement liability recorded under ASC 805 at a rate of LIBOR plus 100 basis points
through June 30, 2023. Beginning July 1, 2023, interest will accrue at SOFR plus the applicable spread for the quarter. The portion of
the Tax Receivable Agreement liability under ASC 450 is recorded on a gross undiscounted basis. These transactions, such as a
conversion of Common Units to Class A Common Stock, result in a change in the Tax Receivable Agreement liability and a charge to
equity.

The liability recorded on the balance sheet does not include an estimate of the amount of payments to be made if certain sellers
exchanged their remaining interests in E2open Holdings for our common stock, as this amount is dependent on several future
variables, including timing of future exchanges, stock price at date of exchange, tax attributes of the individual parties to the exchange
and changes in future applicable federal and state tax rates.

In addition, if we exercise our right to terminate the Tax Receivable Agreement or certain other acceleration events occur, we will be
required to make immediate cash payments. Such cash payments will be equal to the present value of the assumed future realized tax
benefits based on a set of assumptions and using an agreed upon discount rate, as defined in the Tax Receivable Agreement. The early
termination payment may be made significantly in advance of the actual realization, if any, of those future tax benefits. Such payments
will be calculated based on certain assumptions, including that we have sufficient taxable income to utilize the full amount of any tax
benefits subject to the Tax Receivable Agreement over the period specified therein. The payments that we will be required to make
will generally reduce the amount of overall cash flow that might have otherwise been available to us, but we expect the cash tax
savings we will realize from the utilization of the related tax benefits will exceed the amount of any required payments.

As of February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024, we had a current Tax Receivable Agreement liability of $4.2 million and $1.8 million
which was recorded in accounts payable and accrued liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The determination of current and
long-term is based on management's estimate of taxable income for the fiscal year and the determination that a Tax Receivable
Agreement liability payment is due and payable within the next twelve months. To the extent the estimate differs from actual results, a
reclass may be required for portions of the Tax Receivable Agreement liability between current and long-term.

We are entitled to receive quarterly tax distributions from E2open Holdings, subject to limitations imposed by applicable law and
contractual restrictions. The cash received from such tax distributions will first be used by us to satisfy any tax liability and then make
any payments required under the Tax Receivable Agreement.

Under the Tax Receivable Agreement, future payments calculated as of February 28, 2025 are estimated to be: $4.2 million in fiscal
2026, $2.2 million in fiscal 2027, $3.2 million in fiscal 2028, $2.3 million in fiscal 2029, $2.4 million in fiscal 2030 and $100.4
million thereafter.

Warrant Liability

As of February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024, there were an aggregate of 29,079,872 warrants outstanding. Each warrant entitles its
holder to purchase one share of our Class A Common Stock at an exercise price of $11.50 per share. The warrants are recorded as a
liability in warrant liability on the Consolidated Balance Sheets with a balance of $0.6 million and $14.7 million as of February 28,
2025 and February 29, 2024, respectively. During the fiscal years ended February 28, 2025, February 29, 2024 and February 28, 2023,
a gain of $14.1 million, $14.9 million and $37.5 million was recognized in gain from change in fair value of the warrant liability in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations, respectively.

Conversion of Contingent Consideration

The contingent consideration liability was $5.1 million and $18.0 million as of February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024, respectively.
The fair value remeasurements resulted in a gain of $12.9 million, $11.5 million and $16.0 million for the fiscal years ended February
28, 2025, February 29, 2024 and February 28, 2023, respectively. The contingent liability represents the Series B-2 common stock and
Series 2 RCUs.
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Leases

We account for leases in accordance with ASC 842, Leases, which requires lessees to recognize lease liabilities and ROU assets on the
balance sheet for contracts that provide lessees with the right to control the use of identified assets for periods of greater than 12
months.

Our non-cancelable operating leases for our office spaces have various expiration dates through September 2031. Under these leases,
our undiscounted future cash flows utilized in the calculation of the lease liabilities as of February 28, 2025 were: $7.3 million for
fiscal 2026, $5.8 million for fiscal 2027, $3.2 million for fiscal 2028, $1.4 million for fiscal 2029 and $0.8 million for fiscal 2030 and
$0.7 million thereafter. These numbers include interest of $2.2 million.

Our non-cancelable financing lease arrangements relate to software and computer equipment and have various expiration dates
through November 2028. We have the right to purchase the software and computer equipment anytime during the lease or upon lease
completion. Under these leases, our undiscounted future cash flows utilized in the calculation of the lease liabilities as of February 28,
2025 were: $2.4 million for fiscal 2026, $1.9 million for fiscal 2027, $1.0 million for fiscal 2028 and $0.6 million for fiscal 2029.
These numbers include interest of $0.6 million.

Global Business Services Agreement

On December 27, 2024, we entered into a Master Service Agreement (MSA) with a third party which will provide certain business
services, transformation advisory services and digital solutions for us in an effort to drive long-term transformation and efficiencies
for our internal processes. The term of the agreement is seven years. The MSA can be terminated after twelve months with at least
180-days’ notice and payment of the applicable termination fee, which can range from $2.5 million to $17.0 million depending upon
reason and timing of the termination.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Preparation of the financial statements
requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that impact the reported amount of revenue and expenses, assets
and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. We consider an accounting judgment, estimate or assumption to
be critical when (1) the estimate or assumption is complex in nature or requires a high degree of judgment and (2) the use of different
judgments, estimates and assumptions could have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements. Our significant
accounting policies are described in Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Revenue Recognition

Subscriptions revenue, which primarily consists of fees to provide clients cloud-based access to our solution, is recognized ratably
over the life of the contract. Subscriptions revenue includes logistics as a service which employs logistics professionals to manage a
company’s transportation network including truck, rail, ocean and air freight as well as inbound/outbound logistics from production
facilities to warehouses, retailers and end users/consumers. Typically, amounts that have been invoiced are recorded in accounts
receivable and deferred revenue or revenue, depending on whether the revenue recognition criteria have been met. Transaction-related
revenue is recognized as the transactions occur.

Professional services and other revenue is derived primarily from fees for enabling services, including solution consulting and solution
deployment. These services are sold in conjunction with the sale of our solutions. We provide professional services primarily on a
time and materials basis, but sometimes on a fixed fee basis. Professional services revenue is recognized as the services are provided.
For services that are contracted at a fixed price, progress is generally measured based on labor hours incurred as a percentage of the
total estimated hours required for complete satisfaction of the related performance obligations. For services that are contracted on time
and materials or prepaid basis, progress is generally based on actual labor hours expended. These input methods (e.g., hours incurred
or expended and milestones completed) are considered a faithful depiction of our efforts to satisfy services contracts as they represent
the performance obligation consumed by the client and performed by us, and therefore reflect the transfer of services to a client under
such contracts.

If our estimate of the total hours required for a performance obligation at a fixed price is inaccurate, then our revenue recognition
timing will be impacted as labor hours as a percentage of total estimated hours will be adjusted at the end of the contract resulting in
additional or reduced revenue recognized, as needed, to account for the change in hours. We adjust our estimated total hours and the
appropriate revenue recognition each month. Any adjustments should not have a material impact to our financial condition and results
of operations. Other revenue primarily includes perpetual license fees, which are recognized upon delivery to the client.
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We enter into arrangements with multiple performance obligations, comprising of subscriptions and professional services.
Arrangements with clients typically do not provide the client with the right to take possession of the software supporting the on-
demand solutions. We primarily account for subscriptions and professional services revenue as separate units of accounting and
allocate revenue to each deliverable in an arrangement based on a standalone selling price. Judgment is required to determine the
standalone selling price for each distinct performance obligation. We evaluate the standalone selling price for each element by
considering prices we charge for similar offerings, size of the order and historical pricing practices. If our judgment is incorrect for a
particular item within an arrangement, the timing of our revenue could be impacted between periods such that we would recognize
revenue in a different period than we would have if a different judgment had been used; however, the revenue for the full arrangement
would have the same result.

Deferred revenue from subscriptions represents amounts collected from, or invoiced to, clients in advance of earning subscriptions
revenue. Typically, we bill our subscriptions fees in advance of providing the service. Deferred revenue from professional services
represents revenue for time and material contracts where the revenue is recognized when milestones are achieved and accepted by the
client for fixed price contracts.

Share-Based Compensation

We measure and recognize compensation expense for all share-based awards at fair value over the requisite service period. We use the
Black-Scholes option pricing model or Monte Carlo simulation model to determine the grant date fair value of options. The input
variables for the Black-Scholes model or Monte Carlo simulation model are the expected life of the option, volatility of our peer group
and our common stock, risk free rate of return and expected dividend yield. For restricted stock grants and certain performance-based
awards, fair value is determined as the average price of our Class A Common Stock on the date of grant. Certain performance-based
awards with a market condition are calculated using the Monte Carlo simulation model. The determination of fair value of share-based
awards on the date of grant using an option-pricing model is affected by our stock price as well as by assumptions regarding a number
of subjective variables. These variables include, but are not limited to, the expected stock price volatility over the term of the awards,
and actual and projected employee stock option exercise behaviors.

The expected terms of the options are based on evaluations of historical and expected future employee exercise behavior. The risk-free
interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury rates at the date of grant with maturity dates approximately equal to the expected life at
grant date. Volatility is based on historical and expected future volatility of our Class A Common Stock. We have not historically
issued any dividends and do not expect to in the future.

For performance-based awards where the number of shares includes a modifier to determine the number of shares earned at the end of
the performance period, the number of shares earned will depend on which range the performance attribute falls within over the
performance period. The performance attributes have been revenue growth, bookings and Adjusted EBITDA or a combination thereof.
The performance-based awards with a market condition are based on the closing price of our stock for 20 days out of 30 consecutive
trading days during the three-year performance period. The fair value of the performance-based shares with performance attributes is
determined using an intrinsic value model or Monte Carlo simulation model. In the period it becomes probable that the minimum
threshold specified in the performance-based award will be achieved, we will recognize expense for the proportionate share of the
total fair value of the award related to the vesting period that has already lapsed. The remaining fair value of the award is expensed on
an accelerated attribution method over the balance of the vesting period as the awards vest in increments. If we determine that it is no
longer probable that we will achieve the minimum performance threshold specified in the award, all of the previously recognized
compensation expense will be reversed in the period such determination is made.

We do not estimate forfeitures; therefore, we record compensation costs for all awards and record forfeitures as they occur.

If factors change and we employ different assumptions in the determination of the fair value of grants in future periods, the related
compensation expense that we record may differ significantly from what we have recorded in the current or past periods.

Refer to Note 23, Share-Based Compensation in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of our
share-based compensation plans.

Tax Receivable Agreement Liability

E2open Holdings entered into a Tax Receivable Agreement with certain selling equity holders of E2open Holdings that requires
E2open to pay 85% of the tax savings that are realized because of increases in the tax basis in E2open Holdings' assets. This increase
is either from the sale or exchange of Common Units for shares of Class A Common Stock or cash, as well as from tax benefits
attributable to payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement. E2open will retain the benefit of the remaining 15% of the cash
savings.
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We calculated the fair value of the Tax Receivable Agreement payments related to the transaction at the acquisition date and identified
the timing of the utilization of the tax attributes pursuant to ASC 805 and relevant tax laws. The Tax Receivable Agreement liability is
revalued at the end of each reporting period with the gain or loss as well as the associated interest reflected in the change in tax
receivable agreement liability in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Interest accrued on the portion of the Tax Receivable
Agreement liability recorded under ASC 805 at a rate of LIBOR plus 100 basis points through June 30, 2023. Beginning July 1, 2023,
interest will accrue at SOFR plus the applicable spread for the quarter. The portion of the Tax Receivable Agreement liability under
ASC 450, Contingencies, is recorded on a gross undiscounted basis. These transactions, such as a conversion of Common Units to
Class A Common Stock, result in a change in the Tax Receivable Agreement liability and a charge to equity.

We now have a current Tax Receivable Agreement liability which is recorded in accounts payable and accrued liabilities on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. The determination of current and long-term is based on management's estimate of taxable income for
the fiscal year and the determination that a Tax Receivable Agreement liability payment is due and payable within the next twelve
months. To the extent the estimate differs from actual results, a reclass may be required for portions of the Tax Receivable Agreement
liability between current and long-term.

The calculation of the Tax Receivable Agreement liability includes a significant amount of judgment related to the timing and amount
of Common Units sold or exchanged for shares of Class A Common Stock or cash, forecasted operating results of E2open, anticipated
interest rates used to accrue interest on the liability and the estimated discount rate used in the present value calculation. If our
assumptions change or we experience significant volatility in our operating results forecast, the fair value calculated from one balance
sheet period to the next could be materially different.

Warrant Liability

We had public and private placement warrants as well as warrants available under the Forward Purchase Agreement. We classify as
equity any equity-linked contracts that (1) require physical settlement or net-share settlement or (2) give us a choice of net-cash
settlement or settlement in our own shares (physical settlement or net-share settlement). We classify as assets or liabilities any equity-
linked contracts that (1) require net-cash settlement (including a requirement to net-cash settle the contract if an event occurs and if
that event is outside our control) or (2) give the counterparty a choice of net-cash settlement or settlement in shares (physical
settlement or net-share settlement).

For equity-linked contracts that are classified as liabilities, we record the fair value of the equity-linked contract at each balance sheet
date and record the change in the Consolidated Statements of Operations as a gain (loss) from change in fair value of warrant liability.
Our public warrant liability is valued using the binomial lattice pricing model. Our private placement warrants are valued using a
binomial pricing model when the warrants are subject to the make-whole table, or otherwise are valued using a Black-Scholes pricing
model. Our Forward Purchase Warrants are valued utilizing observable market prices for public shares and warrants, relative to the
present value of contractual cash proceeds. The assumptions used in preparing these models include estimates such as volatility,
contractual terms, discount rates, dividend rate, expiration dates and risk-free rates.

The estimates used to calculate the fair value of our warrant liability changes at each balance sheet date are based on our stock price
and other assumptions described above. If our assumptions change or we experience significant volatility in our stock price or interest
rates, the fair value calculated from one balance sheet period to the next could be materially different.

On March 24, 2025, the staff of the NYSE Regulation determined to commence proceedings to delist our warrants, ticker symbol
"ETWO-WT," from trading on the NYSE pursuant to Section 802.01D of the Listed Company Manual due to minimum trading price
requirements and trading of these warrants was immediately suspended. Our warrants have an exercise price of $11.50 and expire in
February 2026. As of March 25, 2025, our warrants began trading on the OTC Markets under the ticker symbol OTC:ETWOW. As a
result, any over-the-counter market quotes reflect inter-dealer prices without retail mark-ups, mark-downs or commissions and may
not represent actual transactions.

Contingent Consideration

The contingent consideration liability is due to the issuance of restricted B-2 common stock and Series 2 RCUs of E2open Holdings as
part of the Business Combination. These shares and units were issued on a proportional basis to each holder of Class A shares in
CCNB1 and Common Units of E2open Holdings.
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These restricted shares and Common Units are treated as a contingent consideration liability under ASC 805 and valued at fair market
value on the acquisition date and will be remeasured at each reporting date and adjusted if necessary. Our contingent consideration is
valued using a Monte Carlo simulation model. The assumptions used in preparing this model includes estimates such as volatility,
contractual terms, discount rates, dividend rates, dividend yield and risk-free interest rates. Any change in the fair value of the
restricted shares and Common Units from the remeasurement will be recorded in gain (loss) from change in fair value of contingent
consideration on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The estimates used to calculate the fair value of our contingent consideration changes at each balance sheet date based on our stock
price, operating results and other assumptions. If our assumptions change or we experience significant volatility in our stock price or
interest rates, the fair value calculated from one balance sheet period to the next could be materially different.

Provision for Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined
based on differences between the consolidated financial statement carrying amounts and tax bases of assets and liabilities and
operating loss and tax credit carryforwards and are measured using the enacted tax rates that are expected to be in effect when the
differences reverse. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in our Consolidated
Statements of Operations in the period that includes the enactment date. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to
reduce deferred tax assets to an amount that, in the opinion of management, is more likely than not to be realized.

We account for uncertain tax positions by reporting a liability for unrecognizable tax benefits resulting from uncertain tax positions
taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. We recognize interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits in
income tax expense.

Judgment is required in assessing the future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in our consolidated financial
statements or tax returns. Variations in the actual outcome of these future tax consequences could materially impact our consolidated
financial statements.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of the net tangible and intangible assets of acquired
entities. We perform a goodwill impairment test annually during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year and more frequently if an event or
circumstance indicates that impairment may have occurred. Triggering events that may indicate a potential impairment include but are
not limited to a significant decline in our stock price, macroeconomic conditions, our overall financial performance, company specific
events such as a change in strategy or exiting a portion of the business, significant adverse changes in clients demand or business
climate and related competitive considerations.

Goodwill is tested for impairment by either performing a qualitative evaluation or a quantitative test. The qualitative evaluation is an
assessment of factors that includes, but is not limited to, the triggering events listed above to determine whether it is more likely than
not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If an entity determines that this is the case, it is required to
perform the quantitative goodwill impairment test to identify the potential goodwill impairment and measure the amount of the
goodwill impairment loss to be recognized for the reporting unit, if any. If an entity determines that the fair value of a reporting unit is
greater than its carrying amount, the goodwill impairment test is not required.

During the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2025, first and third quarters of fiscal 2024 and second and fourth quarters of fiscal 2023,
we experienced a significant decline in the market price of our Class A Common Stock and market capitalization. In addition, in
certain of these quarters, we experienced slowing growth and lowered projections due to lower than anticipated new bookings, lower
revenue, higher than expected churn and macroeconomic impacts. These factors resulted in us determining that triggering events
occurred, and goodwill impairment assessments were performed for the respective quarters.
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During fiscal 2025, 2024 and 2023, the fair value of E2open was calculated using a combination of the discounted cash flow method,
guideline public company method and guideline transaction method. The discounted cash flow method was based on the present value
of estimated future cash flows which were based on management's estimates of projected net sales, net operating income margins and
terminal growth rates, taking into consideration market and industry conditions. The discount rate used was based on the weighted-
average cost of capital adjusted for the risk, size premium and business-specific characteristics related to projected cash flows. Under
the guideline public company method, the fair value was based on our current and forward-looking earnings multiples using
management's estimate of projected net sales and adjusted EBITDA margins with consideration of market premiums. The
unobservable inputs used to measure the fair value included projected net sales, forecasted adjusted EBITDA margins, the weighted
average cost of capital, the normalized working capital level, capital expenditures assumptions, profitability projections, the
determination of appropriate market comparison companies and terminal growth rates. Under the guideline transaction method, the
fair value was based on pricing multiples derived from recently sold companies with similar characteristics to ours taking into
consideration management's estimates of projected net sales and operating income margins.

In each impairment, the approaches generated similar results and indicated that the fair value of E2open's goodwill was less than its
carrying amount for both the interim and annual assessments. Therefore, during fiscal 2025, 2024 and 2023, we recognized
impairment charges totaling $614.1 million, $1,097.7 million and $901.6 million to goodwill, respectively. Given the ongoing
macroeconomic and market uncertainties, there is a reasonable possibility that we may recognize future impairment charges related to
our goodwill.

Any changes to the revenue growth rates, net operating income margins, forecasted adjusted EBITDA margins, discount rate, working
capital levels, capital expenditures or terminal growth rate could produce a materially different fair value for the Company. The
estimates used in our calculations are subject to change given the inherent uncertainty in predicting future results. Additionally, the
discount rate and the terminal growth rate are based on our judgment of the rates that would be utilized by a hypothetical market
participant. As part of the goodwill impairment testing, we also consider our market capitalization in assessing the reasonableness of
total estimated fair value. While we believe such assumptions and estimates are reasonable, the actual results may differ materially
from the projected amounts.

Intangible Assets, Net

We have intangible assets with both definite and indefinite useful lives. Definite-lived intangible assets are carried at cost less
accumulated amortization and are amortized using the straight-line method over their useful lives. The straight-line method
approximates the manner in which cash flows are generated from the intangible assets.

Trade names are the only indefinite-lived assets that are not subject to amortization. We test these indefinite-lived intangible assets for
impairment on an annual basis during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year or more frequently if an event occurs or circumstances
change that indicate that the fair value of an indefinite-lived intangible asset could be below its carrying amount. We first perform a
qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset is less
than its carrying amount. If that is the case, a quantitative assessment is performed. The qualitative impairment test consists of
comparing the fair value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset, determined using the relief from royalty method, with its carrying
amount. An impairment loss would be recognized for the carrying amount in excess of its fair value.

The definite-lived intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. We estimate the useful lives of our intangible assets and ratably amortize the value over the
estimated useful lives of those assets. If the estimates of the useful lives should change, we will amortize the remaining book value
over the remaining useful lives or, if an asset is deemed to be impaired, a write-down of the value of the asset may be required at such
time.

During the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2025 and first and third quarters of 2024, we experienced a significant decline in the
market price of our Class A Common Stock and market capitalization. In addition, in certain of these quarters, we experienced
slowing growth and lowered our projections due to lower than anticipated new bookings, lower revenue, higher than expected churn
and macroeconomic impacts. These factors resulted in us determining that triggering events occurred, and indefinite-lived intangible
asset impairment assessments were performed for the respective quarters.

The fair value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset was calculated using the relief from royalty payments method which is based on
management's estimates of projected net sales and terminal growth rates, taking into consideration market and industry conditions.
The royalty rate used was based on royalty rates of companies with similar characteristics to E2open. The discount rate used was
based on the weighted-average cost of capital adjusted for the risk, size premium and business-specific characteristics related to
projected net sales.
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The assessments indicated that the fair value of E2open's indefinite-lived intangible asset was less than its carrying amount; therefore,
during the fiscal years ended February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024, we recognized impairment charges of $18.5 million and $34.0
million to intangible assets, net, respectively, for the indefinite-lived trademark / trade name, respectively. Given the ongoing
macroeconomic and market uncertainties, there is a reasonable possibility that we may recognize future impairments related to our
indefinite-lived intangible asset.

Significant judgment is required in estimating the fair value of intangible assets and in assigning their respective useful lives. The fair
value estimates are based on available historical information and on future expectations and assumptions deemed reasonable by
management but are inherently uncertain. Critical estimates in valuing the intangible assets include, but are not limited to, forecasts of
the expected future cash flows attributable to the respective assets, anticipated growth in revenue from the acquired client and product
base, and the expected use of the acquired assets. While we believe such assumptions and estimates are reasonable, the actual results
may differ materially from the projected amounts.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We evaluate the recoverability of our long-lived assets, which consist principally of property and equipment, acquired intangible
assets with finite lives and right-of-use-assets, whenever events and circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of these assets
may not be recoverable. Recoverability of an asset is measured by comparing the carrying amount to the expected future undiscounted
cash flows that the asset is expected to generate. If that review indicates that the carrying amount of the long-lived asset is not
recoverable, an impairment charge is recorded for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value. Our
estimates of cash flows used to assess impairment are subject to a high degree of judgment and may differ from actual cash flows due
to, among other things, changes in our business plans, market conditions, operating performance and economic conditions. We believe
our estimates are reasonable; however, actual results may differ materially from the projected amounts.

Business Combinations

We evaluate acquisitions of assets and other similar transactions to assess whether or not the transaction should be accounted for as a
business combination or asset acquisition by first applying a test to determine if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets
acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets. If the test is met, the transaction is
accounted for as an asset acquisition. If the test is not met, further determination is required as to whether or not we have acquired
inputs and processes that have the ability to create outputs which would meet the definition of a business. Significant judgment is
required in the application of the test to determine whether an acquisition is a business combination or an acquisition of assets.

We use the acquisition method of accounting for acquired businesses. Under the acquisition method, our financial statements reflect
the operations of an acquired business starting from the completion of the acquisition. The assets acquired and liabilities assumed are
recorded at their respective estimated fair values at the date of the acquisition. Any excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair
value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.

Determining estimated fair value requires a significant amount of judgment and estimates. If our assumptions change or errors are
determined in our calculations, the fair value could materially change resulting in a change in our goodwill or identifiable net assets
acquired.

Recently Adopted and Issued Accounting Pronouncements

Recently issued and adopted accounting pronouncements are described in Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to the
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We have in the past and may in the future be exposed to certain market risks, including interest rate, foreign currency exchange and
financial instrument risks, in the ordinary course of our business. Currently, these risks are not material to our financial condition or
results of operations, but they may be in the future.

Inflation

We do not believe that inflation has had a material effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. However, if our
costs were to become subject to significant inflationary pressures, we may not be able to fully offset higher costs through price
increases and our inability or failure to do so could potentially harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to changes in interest rates as a result of our significant variable-rate debt. Our interest rate risk has been managed by
monitoring changes in interest rates.

As of February 28, 2025, we had $1,056.3 million outstanding under our 2021 Term Loan with a variable interest rate of 7.94%. We
had no outstanding borrowings under our 2021 Revolving Credit Facility. The variable nature of our interest rates on the 2021 Term
Loan exposes us to interest rate risk. A hypothetical increase or decrease in this variable interest rate by 100 basis points would change
our annual future interest expense by approximately $10.6 million as of February 28, 2025.

In order to effectively mitigate our exposure to increased changes in interest rates, we have executed two zero-cost interest rate collars
during March 2023. Effective March 31, 2023, we entered an interest rate collar with a notional amount of $200.0 million and a
maturity date of March 31, 2026. The executed cap was 4.75% and the floor was 2.57%. Effective April 6, 2023, an additional interest
rate collar was executed with a notional amount of $100.0 million and a maturity date of March 31, 2026. The executed cap was
4.50% and the floor was 2.56%.

We may continue to enter into interest rate collars and enter into interest rate swap agreements to reduce interest rate volatility.
However, we may not maintain interest rate swaps or collars with respect to all of our variable rate debt, and any swaps or collars we
enter into may not fully mitigate our interest rate risk.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

The functional currency of our foreign subsidiaries is generally the local currency. Assets and liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars
at the exchange rate in effect as of the consolidated balance sheet date.

Statements of Operations accounts are translated at an average rate of exchange for the respective accounting periods.

Translation adjustments resulting from the process of translating foreign currency balance sheets into U.S. dollars are reported as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). Transaction gains and losses reflected in the functional currencies are
charged to income or expense at the time of the transaction.

As a result of the BluJay Acquisition, our foreign operations have substantially increased resulting in significant revenues, assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. The currencies of our operations are now the Australia dollar, British pound, Canadian
dollar, Danish krone, the Euro, Hong Kong dollar, Indian rupee, Malaysia ringgit, People's Republic of China renminbi, Peruvian sol
and the Singapore dollar. As a result, our operating results, profitability and cash flows are impacted when the U.S. dollar fluctuates
relative to these foreign currencies. We translate our foreign currency-denominated results of operations, assets and liabilities for our
foreign subsidiaries to U.S. dollars in our consolidated financial statements. Increases and decreases in the value of the U.S. dollar
compared with such foreign currencies will affect our reported results of operations and the value of our assets and liabilities on our
consolidated balance sheets, even if our results of operations or the value of those assets and liabilities has not changed in its original
currency. These transactions could significantly affect the comparability of our results between financial periods or result in
significant changes to the carrying value of our assets, liabilities and shareholders' equity.

We cannot give any assurances as to the effect that future changes in foreign currency rates will have on our financial position,
operating results or cash flows.

Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to a concentration of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents,
restricted cash and accounts receivable. We deposit cash and cash equivalents with high-quality financial institutions. Accounts
receivable are typically unsecured and are derived from sales of subscriptions and support, as well as professional services, principally
to large creditworthy clients across a wide range of end markets, including consumer goods, food and beverage, retail, technology
transportation, among others. Credit risk is concentrated primarily in North America, Europe and parts of Asia. Our credit risk is
limited as no single client represents more than 10% of revenue. Revenue generated from the United States represented 85% of total
revenue during the fiscal year ended February 28, 2025 while no other country represented more than 10% of total revenue. We
maintain an allowance for estimated credit losses based on management’s assessment of the likelihood of collection.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of E2open Parent Holdings, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of E2open Parent Holdings, Inc. (the
Company) as of February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024, the related consolidated statements of
operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended February 28, 2025, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated
financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Company at February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024, and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended February 28,
2025, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of February
28, 2025, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) and our report
dated April 29, 2025 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is
to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public
accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations
of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing
procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the
financial statements that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee
and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2)
involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The communication of critical
audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as
a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions
on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.
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Goodwill impairment assessment

Description of the
Matter

As of February 28, 2025, the Company’s goodwill balance was $1,214 million. As
described in Notes 2 and 7 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company
performs a goodwill impairment test annually during the fourth quarter of the fiscal
year and more frequently if an event or circumstance indicates that an impairment
may have occurred. The Company is comprised of one reporting unit, the level at
which the goodwill impairment assessment is performed. If the carrying value of
the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss is calculated as the
difference between these amounts, limited to the amount of goodwill allocated to
the reporting unit. During the third and fourth quarters of fiscal year 2025, a
triggering event occurred related to significant declines in the market price of the
Company’s Class A Common Stock and market capitalization. Reporting unit fair
value was estimated by management using market and income approaches.
During the year ended February 28, 2025, the Company recognized goodwill
impairment charges totaling $614 million.

Auditing the Company’s goodwill impairment assessment involves subjective
auditor judgment due to the significant estimation required in management’s
determination of the fair value of the reporting unit, and the effort involved with the
use of professionals with specialized skill and knowledge. The estimates used in
the discounted cash flow method are sensitive to significant assumptions including
weighted-average cost of capital, projected revenue growth rates, and projected
adjusted EBITDA margins. These assumptions are forward looking and could be
affected by future economic and market conditions.

How We
Addressed the
Matter in Our
Audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design and tested the operating
effectiveness of relevant internal controls over the Company's goodwill impairment
assessment process. This included testing controls over the estimation process
supporting the measurement of the fair value of the reporting unit, including the
valuation models and underlying assumptions used to develop the estimate.

To test the estimated fair value of the reporting unit, with involvement from our
specialists, we performed audit procedures that included, among others, evaluating
the appropriateness of valuation methods selected and used, testing the
completeness and accuracy of underlying data used in the methods, and evaluating
the reasonableness of significant assumptions used by management related to
weighted-average cost of capital, projected revenue growth rates, and projected
adjusted EBITDA margins. For example, we compared the significant assumptions
used by management to current industry, market and economic trends, historical
results, and other relevant factors. We also assessed the historical accuracy of
management’s valuation estimates and performed sensitivity analyses of
significant assumptions used to evaluate the change in the fair value of the
reporting unit resulting from changes in the significant assumptions.
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Tax receivable agreement liability
Description of the
Matter

As of February 28, 2025, the tax receivable agreement liability was $63 million.
The Company’s operations are currently held in a lower-tier partnership, E2open
Holdings, LLC (E2open Holdings). The Company historically conducted its
operations at the partnership level. However, it underwent a reorganization as part
of its initial public offering and it now operates as a public corporation which owns
interests in E2open Holdings (the “Up-C Structure”). When the Company
implemented its Up-C structure, it also put in place a tax receivable agreement, in
which it agreed to pay continuing members of E2open Holdings for cash tax
savings it receives as a result of E2open Holdings unit exchanges. Each time a
continuing member of E2open Holdings exchanges units with the Company, the
Company receives an amortizable basis adjustment, which increases its basis in
the Company and creates future tax deductions. The basis adjustments may result
in a realized tax benefit and as a result, the Company computed a tax receivable
agreement liability due to each continuing member of E2open Holdings. Significant
inputs and assumptions were used to estimate the future expected payments
including the timing of realization of the tax benefits.

Auditing management’s accounting for the tax receivable agreement liability that is
measured at fair value on a reoccurring basis is especially challenging and
judgmental due to the complex model used to calculate the tax receivable
agreement liability, and the effort involved with the use of professionals with
specialized skill and knowledge. The estimate is sensitive to the discount rate
utilized, which includes forward looking assumptions and could be affected by
future economic and market conditions.

How We
Addressed the
Matter in Our
Audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design and tested the operating
effectiveness of the controls over the Company’s tax receivable agreement liability
process. This included testing controls over the estimation process supporting the
recognition and measurement of the tax receivable agreement liability, including
the underlying assumptions used to develop the estimate.

Among other audit procedures performed, we involved tax professionals to assist
in evaluating the methodologies employed by management in calculating the tax
receivable agreement liability, including testing unit exchanges. We tested the
measurement of the tax receivable agreement liability by evaluating the calculation
of the liability in accordance with the terms of the agreement. With involvement
from our specialists, we evaluated the appropriateness of the valuation method
selected for the discount rate used in the estimate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2016.

Austin, Texas

April 29, 2025
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of E2open Parent Holdings, Inc.

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited E2open Parent Holdings, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of February
28, 2025, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO
criteria). In our opinion, E2open Parent Holdings, Inc. (the Company) maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of February 28, 2025, based on the COSO
criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of February 28,
2025 and February 29, 2024, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss,
stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended February 28, 2025,
and the related notes and our report dated April 29, 2025 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included
in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based
on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control
over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the
risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
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only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the
risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Austin, Texas

April 29, 2025
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E2open Parent Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024
Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 197,350 $ 134,478
Restricted cash 14,785 14,560
Accounts receivable, net of allowance 133,436 161,556
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 34,025 28,843

Total current assets 379,596 339,437
Goodwill 1,213,794 1,843,477
Intangible assets, net 673,026 841,031
Property and equipment, net 61,278 67,177
Operating lease right-of-use assets 14,977 21,299
Other noncurrent assets 28,364 29,234

Total assets $ 2,371,035 $ 3,141,655
Liabilities, Redeemable Share-Based Awards and Stockholders' Equity

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 78,987 $ 90,594
Channel client deposits payable 14,785 14,560
Deferred revenue 216,740 213,138
Current portion of notes payable 11,264 11,272
Current portion of operating lease obligations 6,146 7,378
Current portion of financing lease obligations 2,143 1,448
Income taxes payable 3,337 584

Total current liabilities 333,402 338,974
Long-term deferred revenue 1,536 2,077
Operating lease obligations 10,838 17,372
Financing lease obligations 3,170 3,626
Notes payable 1,031,180 1,037,623
Tax receivable agreement liability 59,277 67,927
Warrant liability 582 14,713
Contingent consideration 5,128 18,028
Deferred taxes 48,104 55,586
Other noncurrent liabilities 648 602

Total liabilities 1,493,865 1,556,528
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 28)
Redeemable share-based awards 191 —
Stockholders' Equity
Class A common stock; $0.0001 par value, 2,500,000,000 shares authorized;

310,098,908 and 306,237,585 issued and 309,922,254 and 306,060,931 outstanding as of
February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024, respectively 31 31

Class V common stock; $0.0001 par value; 42,747,890 shares authorized; 30,692,235
and 31,225,604 shares issued and outstanding as of February 28, 2025 and
February 29, 2024, respectively — —

Series B-1 common stock; $0.0001 par value; 9,000,000 shares authorized; 94 shares
issued and outstanding as of February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024 — —

Series B-2 common stock; $0.0001 par value; 4,000,000 shares authorized; 3,372,184 shares
issued and outstanding as of February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024 — —

Additional paid-in capital 3,444,584 3,407,694
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (63,835) (46,835)
Accumulated deficit (2,533,533) (1,873,703)
Treasury stock, at cost: 176,654 shares as of February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024 (2,473) (2,473)

Total E2open Parent Holdings, Inc. equity 844,774 1,484,714
Noncontrolling interest 32,205 100,413

Total stockholders' equity 876,979 1,585,127
Total liabilities, redeemable share-based awards and stockholders' equity $ 2,371,035 $ 3,141,655

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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E2open Parent Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations

Fiscal Year Ended
(In thousands, except per share amounts) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024 February 28, 2023
Revenue

Subscriptions $ 527,958 $ 536,792 $ 532,940
Professional services and other 79,730 97,762 119,275

Total revenue 607,688 634,554 652,215
Cost of Revenue

Subscriptions 145,668 146,006 140,462
Professional services and other 65,725 72,249 82,939
Amortization of acquired intangible assets 96,611 98,608 98,531

Total cost of revenue 308,004 316,863 321,932
Gross Profit 299,684 317,691 330,283
Operating Expenses

Research and development 97,955 101,420 97,982
Sales and marketing 79,304 87,734 87,960
General and administrative 86,199 108,048 88,070
Acquisition-related expenses 4,556 2,080 16,297
Amortization of acquired intangible assets 51,445 80,276 82,812
Goodwill impairment 614,100 1,097,741 901,566
Intangible asset impairment 18,500 34,000 —

Total operating expenses 952,059 1,511,299 1,274,687
Loss from operations (652,375) (1,193,608) (944,404)
Other income (expense)

Interest and other expense, net (99,343) (102,460) (76,831)
Impairment of cost method investment (5,500) — —
Gain (loss) from change in tax receivable agreement liability 5,565 2,190 (2,886)
Gain from change in fair value of warrant liability 14,131 14,903 37,523
Gain from change in fair value of contingent consideration 12,900 11,520 16,020

Total other expense (72,247) (73,847) (26,174)
Loss before income tax provision (724,622) (1,267,455) (970,578)
Income tax (expense) benefit (1,163) 82,376 250,376

Net loss (725,785) (1,185,079) (720,202)
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest (65,955) (115,055) (71,499)
Net loss attributable to E2open Parent Holdings, Inc. $ (659,830) $ (1,070,024) $ (648,703)

Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic 308,268 303,751 301,946
Diluted 308,268 303,751 301,946

Net loss attributable to E2open Parent Holdings, Inc.
common shareholders per share:

Basic $ (2.14) $ (3.52) $ (2.15)
Diluted $ (2.14) $ (3.52) $ (2.15)

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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E2open Parent Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss

Fiscal Year Ended

(In thousands)
February 28,

2025
February 29,

2024
February 28,

2023
Net loss $ (725,785) $ (1,185,079) $ (720,202)
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net:

Net foreign currency translation (loss) gain, net of tax of $229,
$1,459 and $7,578 as of February 28, 2025, February 29, 2024
and February 28, 2023 (15,104) 19,036 (48,728)

Net deferred (losses) gains on foreign exchange forward contracts (46) 902 (856)
Net deferred (losses) gains on interest rate collars (1,850) 1,830 —

Total other comprehensive (loss) income, net (17,000) 21,768 (49,584)
Comprehensive loss (742,785) (1,163,311) (769,786)
Less: Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interest (67,500) (112,942) (76,422)
Comprehensive loss attributable to E2open Parent Holdings, Inc. $ (675,285) $ (1,050,369) $ (693,364)

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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E2open Parent Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

(In thousands)
Common

Stock

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
(Loss) Income

Accumulated
Deficit

Treasury
Stock

Total
Stockholders'

Equity
Noncontrolling

Interest
Total

Equity
Balance, February 28, 2022 $ 31 $ 3,362,219 $ (19,019) $ (154,976) $ (2,473) $ 3,185,782 $ 298,389 $ 3,484,171
Share-based compensation

expense — 17,539 — — — 17,539 — 17,539
Conversion of common

units to common stock — 2,481 — — — 2,481 (3,878) (1,397)
Vesting of restricted stock

awards, net of shares
withheld for taxes (1) (1,610) — — — (1,611) — (1,611)

Impact of common unit
conversions on Tax
Receivable Agreement,
net of tax — (1,996) — — — (1,996) — (1,996)

Other comprehensive loss,
net of tax — — (49,584) — — (49,584) — (49,584)

Net loss — — (648,703) — (648,703) (71,499) (720,202)
Balance, February 28, 2023 30 3,378,633 (68,603) (803,679) (2,473) 2,503,908 223,012 2,726,920
Share-based compensation — 27,131 — — — 27,131 — 27,131
Conversion of Common

Units to common
stock — 7,544 — — — 7,544 (7,544) —

Vesting of restricted stock
awards, net of shares
withheld for taxes 1 (3,452) — — — (3,451) — (3,451)

Impact of Common Unit
conversions on Tax
Receivable Agreement,
net of tax — (2,162) — — — (2,162) — (2,162)

Other comprehensive income — — 21,768 — — 21,768 — 21,768
Net loss — — — (1,070,024) — (1,070,024) (115,055) (1,185,079)
Balance, February 29, 2024 31 3,407,694 (46,835) (1,873,703) (2,473) 1,484,714 100,413 1,585,127
Share-based compensation — 44,409 — — — 44,409 — 44,409
Conversion of Common

Units to common
stock — 2,253 — — — 2,253 (2,253) —

Vesting of restricted stock
awards, net of shares
withheld for taxes — (8,660) — — — (8,660) — (8,660)

Impact of Common Unit
conversions on Tax
Receivable Agreement,
net of tax — (1,071) — — — (1,071) — (1,071)

Issuance of common stock upon
exercise of stock options — 150 — — — 150 — 150

Reclassification of stockholders'
equity to redeemable
share-based awards — (2,855) — — — (2,855) — (2,855)

Reclassification of vested
redeemable

share-based awards to equity — 2,664 — — — 2,664 — 2,664
Other comprehensive loss — — (17,000) — — (17,000) — (17,000)
Net loss — — — (659,830) — (659,830) (65,955) (725,785)
Balance, February 28, 2025 $ 31 $ 3,444,584 $ (63,835) $ (2,533,533) $ (2,473) $ 844,774 $ 32,205 $ 876,979

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.



71

E2open Parent Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Fiscal Year Ended
(In thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024 February 28, 2023
Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss $ (725,785) $ (1,185,079) $ (720,202)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash from operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 181,975 214,727 213,260
Amortization of deferred commissions 9,810 6,269 4,051
Provision for credit losses 1,995 3,870 549
Amortization of debt issuance costs 5,281 5,281 5,103
Amortization of operating lease right-of-use assets 6,299 7,419 7,636
Share-based compensation 44,468 27,171 17,561
Deferred income taxes (10,454) (87,790) (259,426)
Gain on disposition — — 1,400
Right-of-use assets impairment charge 576 659 4,137
Goodwill impairment charge 614,100 1,097,741 901,566
Indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment charge 18,500 34,000 —
Impairment of cost method investment 5,500 — —
(Gain) loss from change in tax receivable agreement liability (5,565) (2,190) 2,886
Gain from change in fair value of warrant liability (14,131) (14,903) (37,523)
Gain from change in fair value of contingent consideration (12,900) (11,520) (16,020)
Gain on operating lease termination (126) (187) —
Loss on disposal of property and equipment 227 526 994
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable 26,125 9,382 (15,119)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (7,502) (2,087) 5,864
Other noncurrent assets (14,440) (9,844) (6,782)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (21,697) (8,816) (25,687)
Channel client deposits payable 225 3,249 (7,762)
Deferred revenue 3,062 8,884 3,450
Changes in other liabilities (6,406) (11,891) (11,838)

Net cash provided by operating activities 99,137 84,871 68,098
Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for acquisitions - net of cash acquired — — (179,243)
Capital expenditures (25,201) (29,252) (48,060)
Minority investment in private firm — — (3,000)
Proceeds from disposition — — 1,574

Net cash used in investing activities (25,201) (29,252) (228,729)
Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from indebtedness — — 215,000
Repayments of indebtedness (11,238) (11,168) (115,915)
Repayments of financing lease obligations (1,908) (2,852) (2,487)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 155 — —
Repurchase of common units — — (1,397)
Payments of debt issuance costs — — (4,766)

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (12,991) (14,020) 90,435
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 2,152 3,097 (16)
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 63,097 44,696 (70,212)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year 149,038 104,342 174,554
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of year $ 212,135 $ 149,038 $ 104,342

Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash:
Cash and cash equivalents 197,350 134,478 93,032
Restricted cash 14,785 14,560 11,310
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 212,135 $ 149,038 $ 104,342

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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E2open Parent Holdings, Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Organization and Description of Business

Organization

CC Neuberger Principal Holdings I (CCNB1) was a blank check company incorporated in the Cayman Islands on January 14, 2020
for the purpose of effecting a merger, share exchange, asset acquisition, share purchase, reorganization or similar business
combination with one or more businesses. CCNB1’s sponsor was CC Neuberger Principal Holdings I Sponsor LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company (Sponsor). CCNB1 became a public company on April 28, 2020 through an initial public offering.

On February 4, 2021 (Closing Date), CCNB1 and E2open Holdings, LLC and its operating subsidiaries (E2open Holdings) completed
a business combination (Business Combination) contemplated by the definitive Business Combination Agreement entered into on
October 14, 2020 (Business Combination Agreement). The Business Combination was accounted for as a business combination under
Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 805, Business Combination (ASC 805), and due to the change in control, was accounted for
using the acquisition method with CCNB1 as the accounting acquirer and E2open Holdings as the accounting acquiree.

In connection with the finalization of the Business Combination, CCNB1 changed its name to “E2open Parent Holdings, Inc.” (the
Company or E2open) and changed its jurisdiction of incorporation from the Cayman Islands to the State of Delaware (Domestication).
Immediately following the Domestication, various entities merged with and into E2open, with E2open as the surviving company.
Additionally, E2open Holdings became a subsidiary of E2open with the equity interests of E2open Holdings held by E2open and
existing owners of E2open Holdings. The existing owners of E2open Holdings are considered noncontrolling interest in the
consolidated financial statements.

The Company is traded on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) under the stock symbol “ETWO.”

See Note 4, Related Party Transactions and Note 12, Tax Receivable Agreement for additional information.

Description of Business

The Company moved its headquarters from Austin, Texas to the Addison, Texas office effective September 16, 2024. E2open is a
world class connected supply chain software platform that enables the largest companies to transform the way they make, move and
sell goods and services. With a cloud-native global platform purpose-built for modern supply chains, E2open connects manufacturing,
logistics, channel and distributing partners as one multi-enterprise network. E2open's software as a service (SaaS) platform anticipates
disruptions and opportunities to help companies improve efficiency, reduce waste and operate sustainably.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (U.S.
GAAP). The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. Investments in
other companies are carried at cost. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

In the opinion of management, all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals), considered necessary for a fair presentation
have been included. The historical financial information is not necessarily indicative of the Company’s future results of operations,
financial position and cash flows.

Fiscal Year

The Company’s fiscal year ends on the last day of February each year.
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as
of the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported results of operations during the reporting period. Such
management estimates include allowance for credit losses, goodwill and other long-lived assets, estimates of standalone selling price
of performance obligations for revenue contracts with multiple performance obligations, share-based compensation, valuation
allowances for deferred tax assets and uncertain tax positions, tax receivable agreement liability, warrants, contingent consideration,
contingencies and the accounting for business combinations. These estimates are based on information available as of the date of the
consolidated financial statements; therefore, actual results could differ from management’s estimates.

Segments

The Company operates as one operating segment. Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise for which separate
financial information is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker (CODM), who the Company has determined is its
chief executive officer. The CODM evaluates the Company’s financial information and performance on a consolidated basis. The
Company operates with centralized functions and delivers its products in a similar way on an integrated cloud-based platform.

Business Combinations

The Company accounts for business combinations in accordance with ASC 805, and, accordingly, the assets and liabilities of the
acquired business are recorded at their fair values at the date of acquisition. The excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair
values is recorded as goodwill. Some changes in the estimated fair values of the net assets recorded for acquisitions that qualify as
measurement period adjustments within one year of the date of acquisition will change the amount of the purchase price allocable to
goodwill. All acquisition costs are expensed as incurred, and in-process research and development costs, if any, are recorded at fair
value as an indefinite-lived intangible asset and assessed for impairment thereafter until completion, at which point the asset is
amortized over its expected useful life. The results of operations of acquired businesses are included in the consolidated financial
statements beginning on the acquisition date.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to a concentration of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash and accounts receivable. The Company deposits cash and cash equivalents with high-quality financial
institutions. Accounts receivable are typically unsecured and derived from sales of subscriptions and support, as well as professional
services, principally to large creditworthy clients across a wide range of end markets, including consumer goods, food and beverage,
manufacturing, retail, technology and transportation, among others. Credit risk is concentrated primarily in North America, Europe,
and parts of Asia. The Company's credit risk is limited as no single client represents more than 10% of revenue. Revenue generated
from the United States represented 85% of total revenue during the fiscal year ended February 28, 2025 while no other country
represented more than 10% of total revenue. The Company maintains an allowance for estimated credit losses based on management’s
assessment of the likelihood of collection.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. Cash
and cash equivalents are stated at fair value. The Company has $8.8 million in certificates of deposits in foreign accounts as of
February 28, 2025. The Company deposits cash with high credit quality institutions, which typically exceed federally insured
amounts. The Company has not experienced any losses on its deposits.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash represents client deposits for the incentive payment program associated with the Company's channel shaping
application. The Company offers services to administer incentive payments to partners on behalf of the Company’s clients. The
Company’s clients deposit these funds into a restricted cash account with an offset included as a liability in channel client deposits
payable in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Channel client deposits are deposits that the Company receives from certain channel shaping clients to reimburse, on its clients' behalf,
market development expenditures made by its client channel partners.
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Accounts Receivable, Net

Accounts receivable, net consists of accounts receivable and unbilled receivables, which the Company collectively refers to as
accounts receivable, net of an allowance for credit losses. Unbilled receivables represent revenue recognized for performance
obligations that have been satisfied but for which amounts have not been billed, which the Company also refers to as contract assets.
The Company's payment terms for trade accounts receivable typically require clients to pay within 30 to 90 days from the invoice
date.

Accounts receivable are initially recorded upon the sale of solutions to clients. Credit is granted in the normal course of business
without collateral. Accounts receivable are stated net of an allowance for credit losses, which represent estimated losses resulting from
the inability of certain clients to make the required payments. When determining the allowance for credit losses, the Company takes
several factors into consideration, including the overall composition of the accounts receivable aging, prior history of accounts
receivable write-offs and experience with specific clients.

With the adoption of ASC 326, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses, the allowance for credit losses represents the best estimate of
the lifetime expected credit losses, based on client-specific information, historical loss rates and the impact of current and future
conditions which include an assessment of client creditworthiness, historical payment experience and the age of outstanding
receivables. The Company writes off accounts receivable when they are determined to be uncollectible. Changes in the allowance for
credit losses are recorded as provision for the allowance for expected credit losses and are included in sales and marketing expenses in
the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The Company evaluates the allowance for credit losses for the entire portfolio of accounts
receivable on an aggregate basis due to the similar risk characteristics of its clients and historical loss patterns.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of the net tangible and intangible assets of acquired
entities. The Company performs a goodwill impairment test annually during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year and more frequently if
an event or circumstance indicates that an impairment may have occurred. Triggering events that may indicate a potential impairment
include but are not limited to a significant decline in the Company's stock price, macroeconomic conditions, the Company's overall
financial performance, company specific events such as a change in strategy or exiting a portion of the business, significant adverse
changes in clients' demand or business climate and related competitive considerations.

Goodwill is tested for impairment by either performing a qualitative evaluation or a quantitative test. The qualitative evaluation is an
assessment of factors that includes, but is not limited to, the triggering events listed above to determine whether it is more likely than
not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If an entity determines that this is the case, it is required to
perform the quantitative goodwill impairment test to identify potential goodwill impairment and measure the amount of goodwill
impairment loss to be recognized for that reporting unit, if any. If an entity determines that the fair value of a reporting unit is greater
than its carrying amount, the goodwill impairment test is not required. As the Company has only one reporting unit, the goodwill
impairment assessment is performed at the Company level.

Intangible Assets, Net

The Company has intangible assets with both definite and indefinite useful lives. Definite-lived intangible assets are carried at cost
less accumulated amortization and are amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives. The straight-line
method approximates the manner in which cash flows are generated from the intangible assets.

Amortization periods for definite-lived intangible assets are as follows for the fiscal years ended February 28, 2025 and February 29,
2024:

Trade names 1 year or Indefinite
Client relationships 3 - 20 years
Technology 3 - 10 years
Content library 10 years
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Trade names are the only indefinite-lived assets that are not subject to amortization. The Company tests these indefinite-lived
intangible assets for impairment on an annual basis during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year or more frequently if an event occurs or
circumstances change that indicate that the fair value of an indefinite-lived intangible asset could be below its carrying amount. The
Company first performs a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of the indefinite-
lived intangible asset is less than its carrying amount. If this is the case, a quantitative assessment is performed. The qualitative
impairment test consists of comparing the fair value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset, determined using the relief from royalty
method, with its carrying amount. An impairment loss would be recognized for the carrying amount in excess of its fair value.

Significant judgment is required in estimating the fair value of intangible assets and in assigning their respective useful lives. The fair
value estimates are based on available historical information and on future expectations and assumptions deemed reasonable by
management but are inherently uncertain. Critical estimates in valuing the intangible assets include, but are not limited to, forecasts of
the expected future cash flows attributable to the respective assets, anticipated growth in revenue from the acquired client and product
base, and the expected use of the acquired assets.

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of
the assets, generally three to five years. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the remaining
lease term or the estimated lives of the assets, if shorter. Upon sale or retirement of assets, the cost and related accumulated
depreciation are removed from the Consolidated Balance Sheets, and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations.

The Company capitalizes certain software development costs incurred during the application development stage. Software
development costs include salaries and other personnel-related costs, including employee benefits and bonuses attributed to
programmers, software engineers and quality control teams working on the Company’s software solutions. The costs related to
software development are included in property and equipment, net in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates the recoverability of its long-lived assets, which consist principally of property and equipment and acquired
intangible assets with finite lives, whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of these assets may not be
recoverable. Recoverability of an asset is measured by comparing the carrying amount to the expected future undiscounted cash flows
that the asset is expected to generate. If that review indicates that the carrying amount of the long-lived asset is not recoverable, an
impairment charge is recorded for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value.

Investments

Investments in which the Company does not have the ability to exercise significant influence over operating and financial matters and
that do not have a readily determinable fair value are measured at cost, less impairment and adjusted for qualifying observable price
changes. The Company's share of income or loss of such companies is not included in the Company's Consolidated Statements of
Operations. The Company periodically evaluates its investments for impairment due to declines considered to be other than
temporary. The primary indicators the Company utilizes to identify these events and circumstances are the minority investment's
ability to remain in business by evaluating such items as the liquidity and rate of use of cash, ability to secure additional funding and
value of that additional funding. If the Company determines that a decline in fair value is other than temporary, then an impairment
charge is recorded in other income (expense) in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and a new basis in the investments is
established.

Fair Value Measurement

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received for the sale of an asset or paid for the transfer of a liability, in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. U.S. GAAP establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which
prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3
measurements).
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These tiers include:

• Level 1, defined as observable inputs such as quoted prices in an active market;

• Level 2, defined as inputs other than the quoted prices in an active market that are observable either directly or indirectly; and

• Level 3, defined as unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, which requires the Company to develop its
own assumptions.

In some circumstances, the inputs used to measure fair value might be categorized within different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In
those instances, the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety in the fair value hierarchy based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement.

Leases

The Company accounts for leases in accordance with ASC 842, Leases (ASC 842), which requires lessees to recognize lease liabilities
and right-of-use (ROU) assets on the balance sheet for most operating leases. The Company made the accounting policy election not
to apply the recognition provisions of ASC 842 to short-term leases which are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Instead,
the Company recognizes the lease payments for short-term leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Operating lease liabilities reflect the Company's obligation to make future lease payments for real estate locations. Lease terms are
comprised of contractual terms. Payments are discounted using the rate the Company would pay to borrow amounts equal to the lease
payments over the lease term (the Company's incremental borrowing rate). The Company does not separate lease and non-lease
components for contracts in which the Company is the lessee. ROU assets are measured based on lease liabilities adjusted for
incentives and timing differences between operating lease expense and payments, recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease
term. Operating lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term, while variable lease payments are recognized
as incurred. Common area maintenance and other executory costs are the main components of variable lease payments. Operating and
variable lease expenses are recorded in general and administrative expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Tax Receivable Agreement Liability

The Company entered into a Tax Receivable Agreement with certain selling equity holders of E2open Holdings that requires E2open
to pay 85% of the tax savings that are realized because of increases in the tax basis in E2open Holdings' assets and certain acquired tax
attributes in the Business Combination. This increase is either from the sale or exchange of limited liability company interests of
E2open Holdings (Common Units) for shares of Class A common stock or cash, as well as from tax benefits attributable to payments
under the Tax Receivable Agreement. E2open will retain the benefit of the remaining 15% of the cash savings.

The Company calculated the fair value of the Tax Receivable Agreement payments related to the transaction at the acquisition date
and identified the timing of the utilization of the tax attributes pursuant to ASC 805 and relevant tax laws. The Tax Receivable
Agreement liability is revalued at the end of each reporting period with the gain or loss as well as the associated interest reflected in
the gain (loss) from change in tax receivable agreement liability in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Interest accrued on the
Tax Receivable Agreement liability at the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus 100 basis points through June 30, 2023. As
of July 1, 2023, interest will accrue at the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR) plus the applicable spread for the quarter. In
addition, under ASC 450, Contingencies, any transactions with partnership unit holders after the acquisition date will result in
additional Tax Receivable Agreement liabilities which will be recorded on a gross undiscounted basis. These transactions, such as a
conversion of Common Units to Class A common stock, result in a change in the Tax Receivable Agreement liability and a charge to
equity.

Warrant Liability

The Company has public and private placement warrants as well as warrants available under the Forward Purchase Agreement dated
as of April 28, 2020 by and between CCNB1 and Neuberger Berman Opportunistic Capital Solutions Master Fund LP. The Company
classifies as equity any equity-linked contracts that (1) require physical settlement or net-share settlement or (2) give the Company a
choice of net-cash settlement or settlement in the Company’s own shares (physical settlement or net-share settlement). The Company
classifies as assets or liabilities any equity-linked contracts that (1) require net-cash settlement (including a requirement to net-cash
settle the contract if an event occurs and if that event is outside the Company’s control) or (2) give the counterparty a choice of net-
cash settlement or settlement in shares (physical settlement or net-share settlement).



77

For equity-linked contracts that are classified as liabilities, the Company records the fair value of the equity-linked contracts at each
balance sheet date and records the change in the statements of operations as a gain (loss) from change in fair value of warrant liability.
The Company’s public warrant liability is valued using a binomial lattice pricing model. The Company’s private placement warrants
are valued using a binomial lattice pricing model when the warrants are subject to the make-whole table, or otherwise are valued using
a Black-Scholes pricing model. The Company’s forward purchase warrants are valued utilizing observable market prices for public
shares and warrants, relative to the present value of contractual cash proceeds. The assumptions used in preparing these models
include estimates such as volatility, contractual terms, discount rates, dividend yield, expiration dates and risk-free rates.

The valuation methodologies for the warrants and forward purchase agreement included in warrant liability include certain significant
unobservable inputs, resulting in such valuations classified as Level 3 in the fair value measurement hierarchy. The Company assumed
a volatility based on the implied volatility of the public warrants and the Company's peer group. The Company also assumed no
dividend payout.

Contingent Consideration

The contingent consideration liability is due to the issuance of restricted Series B-2 common stock and Series 2 restricted common
units (RCUs) of E2open Holdings as part of the Business Combination. These shares and units were issued on a proportional basis to
each holder of Class A shares in CCNB1 and Common Units.

These restricted shares and Common Units are treated as a contingent consideration liability under ASC 805 and valued at fair market
value on the acquisition date and remeasured at each reporting date and adjusted if necessary. The assumptions used in preparing this
model include estimates such as volatility, contractual terms, discount rates, dividend yield and risk-free interest rates. Any change in
the fair value of the restricted shares and Common Units from the remeasurement will be recorded in gain (loss) from change in fair
value of contingent consideration on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Self-Insurance Reserves

The Company began a self-insurance group medical program as of January 1, 2022. The program contains individual stop loss
thresholds of $175,000 per incident and aggregate stop loss thresholds based upon the average number of employees enrolled in the
program throughout the year. The amount in excess of the self-insured levels is fully insured by third party insurers. Liabilities
associated with this program are estimated in part by considering historical claims experience and medical cost trends.

The Company also began a self-insurance short-term disability program as of January 1, 2022. The Company fully funds this program.
Liabilities associated with this program are estimated in part by considering historical claims experience and medical cost trends.

Indemnification

The Company includes service-level commitments to its clients guaranteeing certain levels of uptime reliability and performance and
permitting those clients to receive credits in the event that the Company fails to meet those levels. To date, the Company has not
incurred any material costs as a result of such commitments and has not accrued any liabilities related to such obligations in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements. The Company has also agreed to indemnify its directors and executive officers for
costs associated with any fees, expenses, judgments, fines and settlement amounts incurred in any action or proceeding to which any
of those persons is, or is threatened to be, made a party by reason of service as a director or officer. The Company maintains director
and officer insurance coverage that may enable the Company to recover a portion of any future amounts paid. The Company’s
arrangements include provisions indemnifying clients against liabilities if the Company’s products infringe a third-party’s intellectual
property rights. The Company has not incurred any costs as a result of such indemnifications and has not accrued any liabilities related
to such obligations in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Noncontrolling Interest

Noncontrolling interest represents the portion of E2open Holdings that the Company controls and consolidates but does not own. The
Company recognizes each noncontrolling holder’s respective share of the estimated fair value of the net assets at the date of formation
or acquisition. Noncontrolling interest is subsequently adjusted for the noncontrolling holder’s share of additional contributions,
distributions and their share of the net earnings or losses of each respective consolidated entity. The Company allocates net income or
loss to noncontrolling interest based on the weighted average ownership interest during the period. The net income or loss that is not
attributable to the Company is reflected in net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interest in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations. The Company does not recognize a gain or loss on transactions with a consolidated entity in which it does not own 100%
of the equity, but the Company reflects the difference in cash received or paid from the noncontrolling interest carrying amount as
additional paid-in-capital.
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Certain limited partnership interests, including Common Units, are exchangeable into the Company’s Class A common stock. Class A
common stock issued upon exchange of a holder’s noncontrolling interest is accounted for at the carrying value of the surrendered
limited partnership interest and the difference between the carrying value and the fair value of the Class A common stock issued is
recorded to additional paid-in-capital.

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs include expenses associated with the promotion of the Company's brand, products and services to its clients. These
costs include the new corporate branding in fiscal 2023, digital and social marketing related to the Company's brand and website,
company store, integrated marketing experience, on-site client meeting and sponsorship of events. Advertising costs are expensed as
incurred and included in sales and marketing expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Advertising expenses were $8.0
million, $10.5 million and $16.2 million for the fiscal years ended February 28, 2025, February 29, 2024 and February 28, 2023,
respectively.

Acquisition-Related Expenses

Acquisition-related expenses consist of third-party accounting, legal, investment banking fees, severance, facility exit costs, travel
expenses and other expenses incurred solely to prepare for and execute the acquisition and integration of a business. Additionally, the
expenses related to the strategic alternatives review announced in March 2024 are included in acquisition-related expenses. These
costs are expensed as incurred.

Share-Based Compensation

The Company measures and recognizes compensation expense for all share-based awards at fair value over the requisite service
period. The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model or Monte Carlo simulation model to determine the grant date fair
value of options. For restricted stock grants and certain performance-based awards, fair value is determined as the average price of the
Company’s Class A common stock, par value $0.0001 per share (Class A Common Stock) on the date of grant. Certain performance-
based awards are also calculated using the Monte Carlo simulation model. The determination of fair value of share-based awards on
the date of grant using an option-pricing model is affected by the stock price as well as by assumptions regarding a number of
subjective variables. These variables include, but are not limited to, the expected stock price volatility over the term of the awards and
actual and projected employee stock option exercise behaviors.

The expected terms of the options are based on evaluations of historical and expected future employee exercise behavior. The risk-free
interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury rates at the date of grant with maturity dates approximately equal to the expected life at
grant date. Volatility is based on the average of historical and implied volatility of comparable companies from a representative peer
group based on industry and market capitalization data as well as the Company's own stock volatility. The Company has not
historically issued any dividends and does not expect to in the future.

All options will be issued on the fifth day following the approval date using the closing stock price on the fifth business day as the
exercise price and to calculate the number of options to be issued. If the fifth business day following approval falls within four
business days before and one business day after the filing or furnishing of a report with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC) that contains material non-public information (MNPI), then the options will be granted on the third business day following the
release of the MNPI.

For performance-based awards where the number of shares includes a modifier to determine the number of shares earned at the end of
the performance period, the number of shares earned will depend on which range the performance attribute falls within over the
performance period. The performance attributes have been revenue growth, bookings and Adjusted EBITDA or a combination thereof.
The fair value of the performance-based shares with the performance attributes is determined using an intrinsic value model or Monte
Carlo simulation model. In the period it becomes probable that the minimum threshold specified in the performance-based award will
be achieved, the Company recognizes expense for the proportionate share of the total fair value of the award related to the vesting
period that has already lapsed. The remaining fair value of the award is expensed on a straight-line basis over the balance of the
vesting period. If the Company determines that it is no longer probable that it will achieve the minimum performance threshold
specified in the award, all previously recognized compensation expense will be reversed in the period such determination is made.

For RSUs issued within four business days before and one business day after the filing or furnishing of a report with the SEC that
contains MNPI, the Company will use a 60-day average stock price to determine the number of shares to issue. For RSUs issued
outside this window, the closing stock price on the date of grant will be used to determine the number of shares to issue.

The Company does not estimate forfeitures for share-based awards; therefore, it records compensation costs for all awards and record
forfeitures as they occur.
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Foreign Currency

Foreign Currency Translation

The Company’s reporting currency is the U.S. dollar. The functional currency of most of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries is the
applicable local currency, although the Company has several subsidiaries with functional currencies that differ from their local
currencies, of which the most notable exception is the subsidiary in India, whose functional currency is the U.S. dollar. Assets and
liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars at the exchange rate in effect at the consolidated balance sheet date. Operating accounts are
translated at an average rate of exchange for the respective accounting periods. Translation adjustments resulting from the process of
translating foreign currency financial statements into U.S. dollars are reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss). Accumulated foreign currency translation adjustments are reclassified to net income (loss) when realized upon sale or
upon complete, or substantially complete, liquidation of the investment in the foreign entity.

Foreign Currency Transaction Gains and Losses

Transaction gains and losses reflected in the functional currencies are charged to income or expense at the time of the transaction.

Net transaction gain from foreign currency contracts recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Operations were $4.7 million, $3.4
million and $1.9 million for the fiscal years ended February 28, 2025, February 29, 2024 and February 28, 2023, respectively.

Hedging Instruments

The Company recognizes hedging instruments as either assets or liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair value and
provides qualitative and quantitative disclosures about such hedges.

Foreign Currency Forward Contracts

The Company has international operations that expose it to potentially adverse movements in foreign currency exchange rates. To
reduce the exposure to foreign currency rate changes on forecasted operating expenses, the Company enters into hedges in the form of
foreign currency forward contracts related to changes in the U.S. dollar/foreign currency relationship. The Company does not use
foreign currency forward contracts for speculative or trading purposes. The Company's foreign currency forward contracts are
governed by an International Swaps and Derivatives Association master agreement that generally includes standard netting
arrangements.

The Company is exposed to credit loss in the event of non-performance by counterparties to the foreign currency forward contracts.
The Company actively monitors its exposure to credit risk, enters into foreign exchange forward contracts with high credit quality
financial institutions and mitigates credit risk in hedge transactions by permitting net settlement of transactions with the same
counterparty. The Company has not experienced any instances of non-performance by any counterparties.

The assets or liabilities associated with the forward contracts are recorded at fair value in prepaid expenses and other current assets,
other noncurrent assets, accounts payable and accrued liabilities or other noncurrent liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The
accounting for gains and losses resulting from changes in fair value depends on the use of the foreign currency forward contract and
whether it is designated and qualifies for hedge accounting. The cash flow impact upon settlement of the derivative contracts will be
included in net cash from operating activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

To receive hedge accounting treatment, all hedging relationships are formally documented at the inception of the hedge, and the
hedges must be highly effective in offsetting changes in future cash flows on the hedged transactions. The related gains or losses
resulting from changes in fair value of these hedges are initially reported, net of tax, as a component of other comprehensive income
(loss) in stockholders' equity and reclassified into operating expenses when the hedge is settled.

The Company may also enter into foreign exchange forward contracts that are not designated as hedging instruments for accounting
purposes. Changes in the fair value of the foreign exchange forward contracts not designated as hedging instruments will be reported
in net income (loss) as part of other income (expense).
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Interest Rate Collar Agreements

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk on its floating-rate debt. The Company may enter into interest rate collar agreements to
effectively mitigate a portion of its exposure to changes in interest rates. The principal objective of entering into interest rate collar
agreements is to reduce the variability of interest payments associated with the floating-rate debt. The interest rate collars will be
designated as cash flow hedges as they effectively convert the notional value of the Company's variable rate debt to a fixed rate if the
variable rate of the Company's debt is outside of the collars' floor and ceiling rates, including a spread on the underlying debt. Changes
in the fair value of interest rate collar agreements designated as cash flow hedges will be recorded as a component of accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss) within stockholders’ equity and settled to interest expense over the term of the contract. The
Company may also enter into interest rate collar agreements that are not designated as hedging instruments for accounting purposes.
Changes in the fair value of interest rate collar agreements not designated as hedging instruments will be reported in net earnings
(loss) as part of interest expense.

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss includes net loss, as well as other changes in stockholders’ equity that result from transactions and economic
events other than those with stockholders. The Company’s elements of other comprehensive income (loss) are changes in the fair
value of foreign currency forward contracts, changes in the fair value of interest rate agreements and cumulative foreign currency
translation adjustments.

Deferred Financing Costs

The Company capitalizes underwriting, legal and other direct costs incurred related to the issuance of debt, which are included in
notes payable in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Deferred financing costs related to notes payable are amortized to interest expense
over the terms of the related debt, using the effective interest method. Upon the extinguishment of the related debt, any unamortized
deferred financing costs are immediately recorded to gain/loss on extinguishment of debt.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are
determined based on differences between the consolidated financial statement carrying amounts and tax bases of assets and liabilities
and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards and are measured using the enacted tax rates that are expected to be in effect when the
differences reverse. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations in the period that includes the enactment date. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to
reduce deferred tax assets to an amount that, in the opinion of management, is more likely than not to be realized.

The Company accounts for uncertainty of income taxes based on a more-likely-than-not threshold for the recognition and
derecognition of tax positions. The Company recognizes interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits in income
tax expense.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (ASC 606), and all the
related amendments. The Company generates revenue from the sale of subscriptions and professional services. The Company
recognizes revenue when the client contract and associated performance obligations have been identified, the transaction price has
been determined and allocated to the performance obligations in the contract, and the performance obligations have been satisfied. The
Company recognizes revenue net of any taxes collected from clients, which are subsequently remitted to governmental authorities.

Subscriptions Revenue

The Company offers cloud-based on-demand software solutions, which enable its clients to have constant access to its solutions
without the need to manage and support the software and associated hardware themselves. The Company houses the hardware and
software in third-party facilities and provides its clients with access to software solutions, along with data security and storage,
backup, and recovery services and solution support.

The Company also offers logistics as a service which employs logistics professionals to manage a company’s transportation network
including truck, rail, ocean and air freight as well as inbound/outbound logistics from production facilities to warehouses, retailers and
end users/consumers.
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The Company’s contracts provide for fixed annual subscription fees. The Company’s client contracts typically have a term of one to
five years. The Company's enterprise client contracts have an average term of approximately three years.

The Company primarily invoices its enterprise clients for subscriptions in advance for use of the software solutions. The Company’s
payment terms typically require clients to pay within 30 to 90 days from the invoice date.

Subscription revenue is recognized ratably over the life of the contract. For transactional based contracts, the Company recognizes
revenue for these contracts when the performance obligation is fulfilled.

Professional Services and Other

Professional services and other revenue is derived primarily from fees for enabling services, including consulting and deployment
services for purchased solutions. These services are sold in conjunction with the sale of the Company’s solutions. The Company
provides professional services primarily on a time and materials basis, but also on a fixed fee basis. Clients are invoiced for
professional services either monthly in arrears or, as with fixed fee arrangements, in advance and upon reaching project milestones.
Professional services revenue is recognized over time. For services that are contracted at a fixed price, progress is generally measured
based on labor hours incurred as a percentage of the total estimated hours required for complete satisfaction of the related performance
obligations. For services that are contracted on time and materials or prepaid basis, progress is generally based on actual labor hours
expended. These input methods (e.g., hours incurred or expended and milestone completion) are considered a faithful depiction of the
Company’s efforts to satisfy services contracts as they represent the performance obligation consumed by the client and performed by
the Company and therefore reflect the transfer of services to a client under such contracts.

The Company enters into arrangements with multiple performance obligations, comprising of subscriptions and professional services.
Arrangements with clients typically do not provide the client with the right to take possession of the software supporting the on-
demand solutions. The Company primarily accounts for subscriptions and professional services revenue as separate units of
accounting and allocates revenue to each deliverable in an arrangement based on a standalone selling price. The Company evaluates
the standalone selling price for each element by considering prices the Company charges for similar offerings, size of the order and
historical pricing practices. Other revenue primarily includes perpetual license fees, which are recognized upon delivery to the client.

Sales Commissions

The Company defers and amortizes sales commissions that are incremental and directly related to obtaining client contracts in
accordance with ASC 606 and ASC 340-40, Other Assets and Deferred Cost-Contracts with Customers (ASC 340-40). The Company
amortizes sales commissions over the period that products are expected to be delivered to clients, including expected renewals. The
Company determined this period to be four years, beginning when costs are incurred. Sales commissions that would have an
amortization period of less than a year are expensed as incurred to sales and marketing expenses.

Recent Accounting Guidance

Recently Adopted Accounting Guidance

In March 2020, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2020-04, Reference
Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting to simplify the accounting for
contract modifications made to replace LIBOR or other reference rates that are expected to be discontinued because of the reference
rate reform. The guidance provides optional expedients and exceptions for applying U.S. GAAP to contracts, hedging relationships
and other transactions affected by reference rate reform if certain criterion are met. On January 7, 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-
01, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848), which clarifies that certain optional expedients and exceptions in Topic 848 for contract
modifications and hedge accounting apply to derivatives that are affected by the discounting transition. The amendments in ASU
2021-01 are elective and apply to the Company’s debt instruments that may be modified as a result of the reference rate reform. The
optional expedients and exceptions can be applied to contract modifications made until December 31, 2024. During fiscal 2024, the
Company transitioned its debt instruments from LIBOR to SOFR and its Tax Receivable Agreement liability from LIBOR plus 100
basis points to SOFR plus the applicable spread for the quarter. The change in interest rates on the debt and Tax Receivable
Agreement liability did not have a material effect on the Company's financial position or results of operations.
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In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280), Improvements to Reportable Segment
Disclosures to improve reportable segment disclosure requirements through enhanced disclosures about significant segment expenses.
ASU 2023-07 expands public entities’ segment disclosures by requiring disclosure of significant segment expenses that are regularly
provided to the chief operating decision maker and included within each reported measure of segment profit or loss, an amount and
description of its composition for other segment items and interim disclosures of a reportable segment’s profit or loss and assets. All
disclosure requirements of ASU 2023-07 are required for entities with a single reportable segment. ASU 2023-07 is effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, and should be
applied on a retrospective basis to all periods presented. The Company adopted ASU 2023-07 as of February 28, 2025. Additional
disclosures were provided in Note 27, Segments, and the adoption did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

Recent Accounting Guidance Not Yet Adopted

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740), Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures to enhance
income tax information primarily through changes in the rate reconciliation and income taxes paid information. ASU 2023-09 also
requires income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes expense (benefit) to be separated between domestic and
foreign and income tax expense (benefit) from continuing operations to be separated between federal, state and foreign. ASU 2023-09
is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024 on a prospective basis. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is
currently evaluating the impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. The Company does
not expect the adoption of this standard to have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements or disclosures.

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses (DISE) which requires an entity to
disclose, in the footnotes, information at each interim and annual reporting period information about expenses by the nature of the
expense. Entities are required to include the following relevant expense captions: purchase of inventory, employee compensation,
depreciation, intangible asset amortization and depreciation, depletion and amortization recognized as part of oil and gas producing
activities. ASU 2024-03 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2026 and interim periods beginning after
December 15, 2027 on a prospective basis with the option for retrospective application. Early adoption is permitted. The Company
will be required to have additional disclosures, but it does not expect the adoption of this standard to have a material impact on the
consolidated financial statements or disclosures.

3. Acquisitions

Logistyx Acquisition

On March 2, 2022, E2open, LLC acquired all of the issued and outstanding membership interests of Logistyx Technologies, LLC, a
private limited liability company which connects top retailers, manufacturers and logistics providers to more than 550 in-network
carriers with strategic parcel shipping and omni-channel fulfillment technology (Logistyx). The purchase price was $185 million, with
an estimated fair value of $183.4 million, including $90 million paid in cash at closing (Logistyx Acquisition). An additional $95
million, which was subject to standard working capital adjustments and other contractual provisions, was paid in two installments on
May 31, 2022 and September 1, 2022. The Company had the option to finance the remaining payments, at its discretion, through cash
or a combination of cash and Class A Common Stock. The May 31, 2022 payment of $37.4 million was paid in cash.

On September 1, 2022, E2open, LLC made a cash payment of $54.0 million to Logistyx as the final installment payment for the
Logistyx Acquisition which reflected a working capital adjustment of $3.6 million. The Logistyx sellers disputed the working capital
adjustment pursuant to the terms of the Membership Interest Purchase Agreement. During October 2022, the parties agreed to a
working capital adjustment of $2.6 million. The additional $1.1 million payment for working capital was made to Logistyx on
December 5, 2022.

The Logistyx Acquisition was accounted for as a business combination under ASC 805.

The following summarizes the consideration paid for the Logistyx Acquisition.

($ in thousands) Fair Value
Cash consideration to Logistyx at fair value $ 153,090
Cash repayment of debt 29,777
Cash paid for seller transaction costs 489
Working capital adjustment (2,550)

Estimated consideration paid for the Logistyx Acquisition $ 180,806
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The allocation of the purchase price was recorded to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their
fair values as of March 2, 2022. The final purchase price allocation was as follows:

($ in thousands)
Final Purchase Price

Allocation
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,563
Account receivable, net 5,332
Other current assets 3,335
Property and equipment, net 144
Intangible assets 66,800
Goodwill (1) 123,746
Other non-current assets 619
Accounts payable (5,897)
Other current liabilities (3,931)
Deferred revenue (2) (10,747)
Other non-current liabilities (158)

Total assets acquired and liabilities assumed $ 180,806

(1) Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired in
the Logistyx Acquisition. Goodwill associated with the Logistyx Acquisition was deductible for tax purposes at the U.S.
entity level.

(2) The deferred revenue was recorded under ASC 606 in accordance with ASU 2021-08, Business Combinations (Topic
805), Accounting for Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers; therefore, a reduction in
deferred revenues related to the estimated fair values of the acquired deferred revenues was not required.

The fair value of the intangible assets was as follows:

($ in thousands) Useful Lives Fair Value
Trade name 1 $ 500
Developed technology (1) 6.4 33,500
Client relationships (2) 13 32,000
Backlog (3) 2.5 800
Total intangible assets $ 66,800

(1) The developed technology represents technology developed by Logistyx and acquired by E2open, which was valued using
the multi-period excess earnings method, a form of the income approach considering technology migration.

(2) The client relationships represent the existing client relationships of Logistyx and acquired by E2open that was estimated
by applying the with-and-without methodology, a form of the income approach.

(3) The backlog represents the present value of future cash flows from contracts with clients where service has not been
performed and billing has not occurred.

The Company incurred $4.1 million ($0.7 million as of February 28, 2022) of expenses directly related to the Logistyx Acquisition
through February 28, 2023 which are included in acquisition-related expense in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of
Operations. Included in these expenses were $1.6 million acquisition-related advisory fees which were incurred on March 2, 2022. At
the closing of the Logistyx Acquisition, E2open, LLC paid $0.5 million of acquisition-related advisory fees and other expenses related
to the Logistyx Acquisition on behalf of Logistyx. These expenses were part of the purchase price consideration and not recognized as
expense in E2open, LLC's or Logistyx's Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The Company does not disclose the actual results of acquired companies post-acquisition. E2open integrates the operations of
acquired companies, therefore making it impractical to report separate results.

4. Related Party Transactions

The completion of the Business Combination resulted in related party relationships between CCNB1 and many of the selling members
of E2open Holdings as a continued affiliation exists between many of the parties and several of the selling members are current
members of E2open's board of directors.
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The acquisition in September 2021 of BluJay TopCo Limited, a private limited liability company, which owned BluJay Solutions, a
cloud-based logistics execution platform company (BluJay), resulted in related party relationships between the Company and BluJay
and its subsidiaries (BluJay Sellers). A continued affiliation exists as certain BluJay Sellers have the option to have one member on
E2open's board of directors.

Investor Rights Agreement

The Company entered into the Investor Rights Agreement with the completion of the Business Combination. The director appointment
rights under the Investor Rights Agreement will terminate as to a party when such party, together with its permitted transferees, has
less than certain ownership thresholds (with respect to the affiliates of Insight Partners, the greater of 33% of the economic interests in
the Company that such affiliates of Insight Partners owned immediately after the Closing Date and 2% of the Company’s voting
securities, and with respect to CC Capital (on behalf of the Sponsor), less than 17% of the economic interests in the Company that it
owned immediately after the Closing Date). Insight Partners is the predecessor controlling unitholder of E2open Holdings and
represents entities affiliated with Insight Venture Management, LLC. The registration rights in the Investor Rights Agreement will
terminate as to each holder of the Company’s shares of common stock when such holder ceases to hold any of the Company’s
common stock or securities exercisable or exchangeable for the Company’s common stock.

The Investor Rights Agreement was amended and restated to add certain of BluJay's existing stockholders as parties, including certain
affiliates of Francisco Partners and Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited (Temasek). The Investor Rights Agreement provides
Francisco Partners and Temasek the right to nominate one member each to the Company's board of directors. Mr. Deep Shah,
nominated by Francisco Partners, and Mr. Martin Fichtner, nominated by Temasek, became directors on September 1, 2021. Mr. Shah
resigned from the board of directors on February 7, 2024 and was not replaced as the board of directors decreased the size of the board
to eight members on February 8, 2024. Francisco Partners has retained the right to appoint a director at a future date.

See Note 12, Tax Receivable Agreement and Note 20, Noncontrolling Interest for additional related party disclosures.

5. Accounts Receivable

Accounts Receivable, net consisted of the following:

($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024
Accounts receivable $ 121,237 $ 144,253
Unbilled receivables 18,330 23,890
Less: Allowance for credit losses (6,131) (6,587)

Accounts receivable, net $ 133,436 $ 161,556

Unbilled receivables represent revenue recognized for performance obligations that have been satisfied but for which amounts have
not been billed, which the Company also refers to as contract assets.

Account balances are written off against the allowance for credit losses when the Company believes that it is probable that the
receivable balance will not be recovered.

The allowance for credit losses was comprised of the following:

($ in thousands) Amount
Balance, February 28, 2023 $ (4,290)

Additions (5,653)
Write-offs 3,356

Balance, February 29, 2024 (6,587)
Additions (2,595)
Write-offs 3,051

Balance, February 28, 2025 $ (6,131)
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6. Prepaid and Other Current Assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the following:

($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024
Prepaid software and hardware license and maintenance fees $ 10,636 $ 9,599
Income and other taxes receivable 5,134 4,759
Prepaid insurance 1,554 1,667
Deferred commissions 10,472 7,421
Prepaid marketing 777 1,073
Security deposits 1,117 1,251
Other prepaid expenses and other current assets 4,335 3,073

Total prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 34,025 $ 28,843

Amortization of software licenses held under financing leases is included in cost of revenue and operating expenses. Prepaid
maintenance, services and insurance are expensed over the term of the underlying agreements.

7. Goodwill

The Company tests goodwill for impairment on an annual basis, during the fourth quarter, or whenever events or changes occur that
would more-likely-than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value between annual impairment tests. As the
Company has only one reporting unit, any goodwill impairment assessment is performed at the Company level.

During the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2025, first and third quarters of fiscal 2024 and second and fourth quarters of fiscal 2023,
the Company experience a significant decline in the market price of its Class A Common Stock and market capitalization. In
additional, in certain of these quarters, the Company experienced slowing growth and lowered projections due to lower than
anticipated new bookings, lower revenue, higher than expected churn and macroeconomic impacts. These factors resulted in the
Company determining that triggering events occurred, and goodwill impairment assessments were performed for the respective
quarters.

During fiscal 2025, 2024 and 2023, the fair value of E2open was calculated using a combination of the discounted cash flow method,
guideline public company method and guideline transaction method. The discounted cash flow method was based on the present value
of estimated future cash flows which were based on management's estimates of projected net sales, net operating income margins and
terminal growth rates, taking into consideration market and industry conditions. The discount rate used was based on the weighted-
average cost of capital adjusted for the risk, size premium and business-specific characteristics related to projected cash flows. Under
the guideline public company method, the fair value was based on the Company's current and forward-looking earnings multiples
using management's estimates of projected net sales and adjusted EBITDA margins with consideration of market premiums. The
unobservable inputs used to measure the fair value included projected net sales, forecasted adjusted EBITDA margins, weighted
average cost of capital, normalized working capital level, capital expenditures assumptions, profitability projections, determination of
appropriate market comparison companies and terminal growth rates. Under the guideline transaction method, the fair value was based
on pricing multiples derived from recently sold companies with similar characteristics to E2open taking into consideration
management's estimates of projected net sales and net operating income margins.

In each impairment, these approaches generated similar results and indicated that the fair value of E2open's goodwill was less than its
carrying amounts. Therefore, during the fiscal years ended February 28, 2025, February 29, 2024 and February 28, 2023, the
Company recognized impairment charges of $614.1 million, $1,097.7 million and $901.6 million, respectively. Given the ongoing
macroeconomic and market uncertainties, there is a reasonable possibility that the Company may recognize future impairment charges
related to its goodwill.
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The following tables present the changes in goodwill:

($ in thousands) Amount
Balance, February 28, 2023 $ 2,927,807

Impairment charge (1,097,741)
Currency translation adjustment 13,411

Balance, February 29, 2024 1,843,477
Impairment charge (614,100)
Currency translation adjustment (15,583)

Balance, February 28, 2025 $ 1,213,794

8. Intangible Assets, Net

The Company tests its indefinite-lived intangible asset for impairment on an annual basis or whenever events or changes occur that
would more-likely-than not reduce the fair value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset below its carrying value between annual
impairment tests. As the Company has only one reporting unit, any indefinite-lived intangible asset assessment is performed at the
Company level.

During the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2025 and first and third quarters of fiscal 2024, the Company experienced a significant
decline in the market price of its Class A Common Stock and market capitalization. In addition, in certain of these quarters, the
Company experienced slowing growth and lowered projections due to lower than anticipated net bookings, lower revenue, higher than
expected churn and macroeconomic impacts. These factors resulted in the Company determining that triggering events occurred, and
indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment assessments were performed for the respective quarters.

The fair value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset was calculated using the relief from royalty payments method which is based on
management's estimates of projected net sales and terminal growth rates, taking into consideration market and industry conditions.
The royalty rate used was based on royalty rates of companies with similar characteristics to E2open. The discount rate used was
based on the weighted-average cost of capital adjusted for the risk, size premium and business-specific characteristics related to
projected net sales.

The assessments indicated that the fair value of the Company's indefinite-lived intangible asset was less than its carrying amount;
therefore, during the fiscal year ended February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024, the Company recognized an impairment charge of
$18.5 million and $34.0 million to intangible assets, net, for the indefinite-lived trademark / trade name, respectively. Given the
ongoing macroeconomic and market uncertainties, there is a reasonable possibility that the Company may recognize future
impairment charges related to its indefinite-lived intangible asset.

The Company did not record an indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment charge for the year ended February 28, 2023.

Intangible assets, net consisted of the following:

February 28, 2025

($ in thousands)
Weighted Average

Useful Life in Years Cost
Accumulated
Amortization Net

Indefinite-lived:
Trademark / Trade name Indefinite $ 57,500 $ — $ 57,500

Definite-lived:
Client relationships 14 500,466 (237,948) 262,518
Technology 7 688,509 (365,129) 323,380
Content library 10 50,000 (20,372) 29,628
Trade name 1 3,979 (3,979) —
Backlog 3 800 (800) —

Total definite-lived 1,243,754 (628,228) 615,526
Total intangible assets $ 1,301,254 $ (628,228) $ 673,026
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February 29, 2024

($ in thousands)
Weighted Average

Useful Life in Years Cost
Accumulated
Amortization Net

Indefinite-lived:
Trademark / Trade name Indefinite $ 76,000 $ — $ 76,000

Definite-lived:
Client relationships 14 502,722 (194,001) 308,721
Technology 7 691,573 (270,051) 421,522
Content library 10 50,000 (15,372) 34,628
Trade name 1 3,997 (3,997) —
Backlog 3 800 (640) 160

Total definite-lived 1,249,092 (484,061) 765,031
Total intangible assets $ 1,325,092 $ (484,061) $ 841,031

The e2open trade name and various trademarks are indefinite-lived. Acquired trade names are definite-lived as over time the Company
rebrands acquired products and services as e2open.

During February 2023, net client relationships and technology of $0.7 million and $1.6 million, respectively, were sold as part of the
subsidiary disposition.

Amortization of intangible assets is recorded in cost of revenue and operating expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
The Company recorded amortization expense related to intangible assets of $148.1 million, $178.9 million and $181.3 million for the
fiscal years ended February 28, 2025, February 29, 2024 and February 28, 2023, respectively.

The weighted-average remaining amortization period for the definite-lived intangible assets was 8.8 years as of February 28, 2025.

Future amortization of intangibles is as follows for the fiscal years ending:

($ in thousands) Amount
2026 $ 116,680
2027 116,680
2028 92,025
2029 69,489
2030 40,519
Thereafter 180,133
Total future amortization $ 615,526

9. Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, net consisted of the following:

($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024
Computer equipment $ 69,069 $ 63,416
Software 26,630 27,038
Software development costs 71,971 53,613
Furniture and fixtures 1,776 2,719
Leasehold improvements 7,733 9,063

Gross property and equipment 177,179 155,849
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (115,901) (88,672)

Property and equipment, net $ 61,278 $ 67,177

Computer equipment and software include assets held under financing leases. Amortization of assets held under financing leases is
included in depreciation expense. See Note 24, Leases for additional information regarding the Company's financing leases.

Depreciation expense was $33.9 million, $35.8 million and $31.9 million for the fiscal years ended February 28, 2025, February 29,
2024 and February 28, 2023, respectively.
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Unamortized software development costs were $41.1 million and $35.6 million as of February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024,
respectively.

The Company recognized $12.9 million, $9.3 million and $5.6 million of amortization of capitalized software development costs for
the fiscal years ended February 28, 2025, February 29, 2024 and February 28, 2023, respectively.

Property and equipment, net by geographic regions consisted of the following:

($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024
Americas $ 53,723 $ 56,738
Europe 3,975 5,832
Asia Pacific 3,580 4,607

Property and equipment, net $ 61,278 $ 67,177

No material gains or losses on disposal of property and equipment were recorded during the fiscal years ended February 28, 2025,
February 29, 2024 and February 28, 2023.

10. Investments

In February and May 2022, the Company made two minority investments of $2.5 million each in a private firm focused on supply
chain financing for a total investment of $5.0 million. The Company incurred $0.5 million of transaction fees related to this
investment in May 2022.

This minority investment does not have a readily determinable fair value; therefore, the Company elected the measurement alternative
for its minority investment. The investment is measured at cost, less impairment and adjusted for qualifying observable price changes
and recorded in other noncurrent assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The Company regularly evaluates the carrying value of its investment for impairment and whether any events or circumstances are
identified that would significantly harm the fair value of the investment. In the event a decline in fair value is less than the
investment’s carrying value, the Company will record an impairment charge in other income (expense) in the Consolidated Statements
of Operations.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2025, the Company determined that there was substantial doubt about the private firm's ability to
continue as a going concern. As a result, the Company determined that its investment had no value and should be fully impaired as of
February 28, 2025. This resulted in a $5.5 million impairment which was reflected in the impairment of cost method investment of the
Consolidated Statements of Operations.

11. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities consisted of the following:

($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024
Accrued compensation $ 33,090 $ 34,982
Trade accounts payable 24,713 29,678
Accrued professional services 7,131 5,712
Client deposits 2,645 2,558
Accrued severance and retention 213 1,530
Accrued litigation — 1,399
Current portion of tax receivable agreement liability 4,158 1,791
Other 7,037 12,944

Total accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 78,987 $ 90,594
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12. Tax Receivable Agreement

The Tax Receivable Agreement will continue until all such tax benefits have been utilized or expired unless E2open Holdings
exercises its right to terminate the Tax Receivable Agreement for an amount representing the present value of anticipated future tax
benefits under the Tax Receivable Agreement or certain other accelerated events occur.

Quarterly tax distributions will be paid to the holders of Common Units on a pro rata basis based upon an agreed upon formula related
to the taxable income of E2open Holdings allocable to holders of Common Units. Generally, these tax distributions will be computed
based on the taxable income of E2open Holdings allocable to each holder of Common Units (based on certain assumptions),
multiplied by an assumed tax rate equal to the highest effective marginal combined U.S. federal, state and local income tax rate
prescribed for a U.S. corporation organized under the laws of the State of Delaware, taking into account all jurisdictions in which the
Company is required to file income tax returns together with the relevant apportionment information and the character of E2open
Holdings’ income, subject to various adjustments.

Significant inputs and assumptions were used to estimate the future expected payments including the timing of the realization of the
tax benefits, a tax rate of 24.1% and an imputed rate of 7% based on the Company's cost of debt plus an incremental premium at the
closing of the Business Combination. Changes in any of these or other factors are expected to impact the timing and amount of gross
payments. The fair value of these obligations will be accreted to the amount of the gross expected obligation. In addition, if E2open
Holdings were to exercise its right to terminate the Tax Receivable Agreement or certain other acceleration events occur, E2open
Holdings will be required to make immediate cash payments. Such cash payments would be equal to the present value of the assumed
future realized tax benefits based on a set of assumptions and using an agreed upon discount rate, as defined in the Tax Receivable
Agreement. The early termination payment may be made significantly in advance of the actual realization, if any, of those future tax
benefits. Such payments would be calculated based on certain assumptions, including that E2open Holdings has sufficient taxable
income to utilize the full amount of any tax benefits subject to the Tax Receivable Agreement over the period specified therein. The
payments that E2open Holdings will be required to make will generally reduce the amount of the overall cash flow that might have
otherwise been available, but the Company expects the cash tax savings it will realize from the utilization of the related tax benefits
will exceed the amount of any required payments.

The Tax Receivable Agreement liability was $63.4 million and $69.7 million as of February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024,
respectively, which represents the current and long-term portion of the liability. The current portion of the Tax Receivable Agreement
liability was $4.2 million and $1.8 million as of February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024, respectively. The determination of current
and long-term portion is based on management's estimate of taxable income for the fiscal year and the determination that a Tax
Receivable Agreement payment is due and payable within the next twelve months.

The tax rate used in the calculation was 23.8% and 23.7% as of February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024, respectively. The discount
rate used for the ASC 805 calculation was 9.2% and 9.0% as of February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024, respectively, based on the
cost of debt plus an incremental premium. During the fiscal years ended February 28, 2025, February 29, 2024 and February 28, 2023,
a gain of $5.6 million, gain of $2.2 million and loss of $2.9 million, respectively, was recorded as a change in the Tax Receivable
Agreement liability related to the ASC 805 discounted liability. During the fiscal years ended February 28, 2025 and February 29,
2024, the Tax Receivable Agreement liability under ASC 450 increased by $1.1 million and $2.2 million, respectively, related to
exchanges of Common Units for Class A Common Stock with a corresponding charge to equity.

During the fiscal year ended February 28, 2025, $1.8 million was paid to Tax Receivable Agreement holders. There were no payments
made to Tax Receivable Agreement holders prior to fiscal 2025.

13. Notes Payable

Notes payable outstanding were as follows:

($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024
2021 Term Loan $ 1,056,275 $ 1,067,238
Other notes payable 439 748

Total notes payable 1,056,714 1,067,986
Less unamortized debt issuance costs (14,270) (19,091)
Total notes payable, net 1,042,444 1,048,895

Less current portion (11,264) (11,272)
Notes payable, less current portion, net $ 1,031,180 $ 1,037,623
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2021 Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility

In February 2021, E2open, LLC, a subsidiary of the Company, entered into a credit agreement (Credit Agreement) that provided for
$525.0 million in term loans (2021 Term Loan) and $75.0 million in commitments for revolving credit loans (2021 Revolving Credit
Facility) with a $15.0 million letter of credit sublimit. In September 2021, the Credit Agreement was amended to include a $380.0
million incremental term loan, an increase in the letter of credit sublimit from $15.0 million to $30.0 million and an increase in the
2021 Revolving Credit Facility from $75.0 million to $155.0 million. In April 2022, the Credit Agreement was amended to include a
$190.0 million incremental term loan.

The 2021 Revolving Credit Facility will mature on February 4, 2026. E2open, LLC can request increases in the revolving
commitments and additional term loan facilities, in minimum amounts of $2.0 million for each facility. Principal payments are due on
the Credit Agreement the last day of February, May, August and November commencing August 2021. The Credit Agreement was
payable in quarterly installments of $2.7 million. The Credit Agreement is payable in full on February 4, 2028.

See Note 30, Subsequent Events for information related to an extension of the Revolving Credit Facility.

The interest rates applicable to borrowings under the Credit Agreement are, at E2open, LLC’s option, either (1) a base rate, which is
equal to the greater of (a) the Prime rate, (b) the Federal Reserve Bank of New York rate plus 0.5% and (c) the adjusted Eurocurrency
Rate for a one month interest period plus 1% or (2) the adjusted Eurocurrency rate equal to the adjusted Eurocurrency rate for the
applicable interest period multiplied by the statutory reserve rate, plus in the case of each of clauses (1) and (2), the Applicable Rate.
The Applicable Rate (1) for base rate term loans ranges from 2.25% to 2.50% per annum, (2) for base rate revolving loans ranges from
1.50% to 2.00% per annum, (3) for Eurodollar term loans ranges from 3.25% to 3.50% per annum and (4) for Eurodollar revolving
loans ranges from 2.50% to 3.00% per annum, in each case, based on the first lien leverage ratio. E2open, LLC will pay a commitment
fee during the term of the Credit Agreement ranging from 0.25% to 0.375% per annum of the average daily undrawn portion of the
revolving commitments based on the First Lien Leverage Ratio which represents the ratio of the Company’s secured consolidated total
indebtedness to the Company’s consolidated EBITDA as specified in the Credit Agreement.

Beginning July 1, 2023, the Eurocurrency Rate ceased to be applicable and was replaced by the SOFR Rate. The adjusted SOFR Rate
shall be the SOFR Rate plus 0.11448% for a one-month interest rate loan, 0.26161% for a three-month interest rate loan and
0.42826% for a six-month interest rate loan. The Applicable Rate for SOFR Rate term loans shall range from 3.25% to 3.50% and
revolving loans shall range from 2.50% to 3.00% based on the first lien leverage ratio. The Company can also borrow using a Sterling
Overnight Index Average (SONIA) rate. The Applicable Rate for SONIA rate revolving loans shall range from 2.50% to 3.00%.

The Credit Agreement may be repaid, in whole or in part, at any time and from time to time without any other premium or penalty,
and any amounts repaid under the revolving credit facility may be reborrowed. Mandatory prepayments are required in connection
with (1) certain dispositions of assets or the occurrence of other Casualty Events, in each case, to the extent the proceeds of such
dispositions exceed certain individual and aggregate thresholds and are not reinvested, (2) unpermitted debt transactions and (3)
excess cash flow in excess of $10.0 million.

The Credit Agreement is guaranteed by E2open Intermediate, LLC, a subsidiary of the Company, and certain wholly owned
subsidiaries of E2open, LLC, as guarantors, and is supported by a security interest in substantially all of the guarantors’ personal
property and assets. The Credit Agreement contains certain customary events of defaults, representations and warranties as well as
affirmative and negative covenants.

E2open Parent Holdings, Inc. is a holding company with no other operations, cash flows, material assets or liabilities other than its
equity interest in E2open Holdings, LLC. E2open Holdings, LLC is a holding company which has an equity interest in E2open
Intermediate, LLC (the guarantor) and E2open, LLC (the borrower).

Borrowings under the Credit Agreements may be used for working capital and other general corporate purposes, including capital
expenditures, permitted acquisitions and other investments, restricted payments and the refinancing of indebtedness, and any other use
not prohibited by the Loan Documents.

As of February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024, there were $1,056.3 million and $1,067.2 million outstanding under the 2021 Term
Loan, respectively, at an interest rate of 7.94% and 8.95%, respectively. The interest rates on the 2021 Term Loan were based on
SOFR plus 350 basis points. There were no outstanding borrowings, no letters of credit and $155.0 million available borrowing
capacity under the 2021 Revolving Credit Facility as of February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024.

The Company was in compliance with the First Lien Leverage Ratio for the Credit Agreement as of February 28, 2025 and February
29, 2024.
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Beginning in March 2023, the Company entered into zero-cost interest rate collars in the notional amount of $300.0 million to hedge
its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates on the variable rate debt on a portion of its 2021 Term Loan. See Note 15, Financial
Instruments for additional information.

During the years ended February 28, 2025, February 29, 2024 and February 28, 2023, the Company recognized $98.8 million, $101.6
million and $70.8 million, respectively, of interest expense related to its outstanding debt in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations including the amortization of deferred financing fees.

The following table sets forth principal payment obligations of the Company's notes payable for the fiscal years ending:

($ in thousands) Amount
2026 $ 11,264
2027 11,099
2028 1,034,351

Total minimum payments 1,056,714
Less current portion (11,264)
Notes payable, less current portion $ 1,045,450

14. Contingent Consideration

Business Combination

The contingent consideration liability is due to the issuance of Series B-2 common stock and Series 2 RCUs of E2open Holdings as
part of the Business Combination. These shares and units were issued on a proportional basis to each holder of Class A shares in
CCNB1 and Common Units of E2open Holdings. These restricted shares and Common Units are treated as a contingent consideration
liability under ASC 805 and valued at fair market value. The contingent consideration liability was recorded at fair value on the
acquisition date and is remeasured at each reporting date and adjusted if necessary. Any gain or loss recognized from the
remeasurement is recorded in gain (loss) from change in fair value of contingent consideration on the Consolidated Statements of
Operations as a nonoperating income (expense) as the change in fair value is not part of the Company's core operating activities.

The contingent consideration liability was $5.1 million and $18.0 million as of February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024, respectively.
The fair value remeasurements resulted in a gain of $12.9 million, $11.5 million and $16.0 million for the fiscal years ended February
28, 2025, February 29, 2024 and February 28, 2023, respectively.

Except as required by law, the holders of the Class B common stock are not entitled to any voting rights with respect to such Class B
common stock. Dividends and other distributions will be declared simultaneously with any dividend on shares of Class A Common
Stock and ratably for the holders of Class B common stock, provided that no such dividends will be paid on any share of Class B
common stock until the conversion of such share into Class A Common Stock, if any, at which time all accrued dividends will be paid.

In the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company’s affairs, the holders of Class B
common stock are not entitled to receive any assets of the Company (other than to the extent such liquidation, dissolution or winding
up constitutes a conversion event (as defined in the Sponsor Side Letter Agreement), in which case such Class B common stock shall,
in accordance with the certificate of incorporation, automatically convert to Class A Common Stock and the holders of such resulting
Class A Common Stock shall be treated as a holder of Class A Common Stock).

There were 3,372,184 shares of Series B-2 common stock outstanding as of February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024. The Series B-2
common stock will automatically convert into Class A Common Stock on a one-to-one basis upon the occurrence of the first day on
which the 20-day volume-weighted average price (VWAP) is equal to at least $15.00 per share; provided, however, that the reference
to $15.00 per share shall be decreased by the aggregate per share amount of dividends actually paid in respect of a share of Class A
Common Stock following the closing of the Business Combination. If any of the Series B-2 common stock does not vest on or before
the 10-year anniversary of the Closing Date, such common stock will be canceled for no consideration.

There were 2,627,724 shares of Series 2 RCUs outstanding as of February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024. Similar to the Series B-2
common stock, the Series 2 RCUs will vest (a) at such time as the 20-day VWAP of the Class A Common Stock is at least $15.00 per
share; however, the $15.00 per share threshold will be decreased by the aggregate amount of dividends per share paid following the
closing of the Business Combination; (b) upon the consummation of a qualifying change of control of the Company or Sponsor and
(c) upon the qualifying liquidation defined in the limited liability company agreement.
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Upon the conversion of an RCU, the holder of such RCU will be entitled to receive a payment equal to the amount of ordinary
distributions paid on an E2open Holdings unit from the Closing Date through (but not including) the date such RCU converts into an
E2open Holdings unit. If any of the RCUs do not vest on or before the 10-year anniversary of the Closing Date, such units will be
canceled for no consideration, and will not be entitled to receive any Catch-Up Payments.

The Company has not paid any dividends to date and does not expect to in the future.

15. Financial Instruments

Foreign Exchange Forward Contracts

The Company's foreign exchange forward contracts are designed and qualify as cash flow hedges. The contracts currently hedge the
U.S. dollar/Indian rupee relationship with the duration of these forward contracts ranging from one-month to 24-months at inception.
These contracts cover a portion of the Company's spend in Indian rupees. The Company has not hedged its exposure to revenue or
expenses in other currencies.

As of February 28, 2025, the Company's foreign exchange forward contracts were concluded.

The Company's exposure to the market gains or losses will vary over time as a function of currency exchange rates. The amounts
ultimately realized upon settlement of these financial instruments, together with the gains and losses on the underlying exposures, will
depend on actual market conditions during the remaining life of the instruments.

The Company reports its foreign exchange forward contract assets and liabilities on a net basis in the Consolidated Balance Sheets
when a master-netting arrangement exists between it and the counterparty to the contract. A standard master netting agreement exists
between the Company and the counterparty to the foreign exchange forward contract entered into in August 2022. The agreement
allowed for multiple transaction payment netting and none of the netting arrangements involved collateral.

Cash Flow Hedging Activities

Interest Rate Collar Agreements

The Company's interest rate collar agreements (Collars) are designed and qualify as cash flow hedges. The Collars help manage the
Company's exposure to fluctuations in interest rates on the variable rate debt on a portion of the 2021 Term Loan. Changes in the fair
value of the Collars designated as cash flow hedges will be recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss) within stockholders’ equity and settled to interest expense over the term of the contracts.

On March 17, 2023, the Company entered into a Collar, effective March 31, 2023, with a notional amount of $200.0 million and a
maturity date of March 31, 2026. The executed cap was 4.75% and the floor was 2.57%. On March 24, 2023, an additional Collar was
executed, effective April 6, 2023, with a notional amount of $100.0 million and a maturity date of March 31, 2026. The executed cap
was 4.50% and the floor was 2.56%. For both Collars, the cap and floor interest rates were based on LIBOR through July 31, 2023 and
SOFR beginning July 31, 2023 through the respective maturity dates. The structure of the Collars is such that the Company receives
an incremental amount if the Collar index exceeds the cap rate. Conversely, the Company pays an incremental amount if the Collar
index falls below the floor rate. No payments are required if the Collar index falls between the cap and floor rates.

As of February 29, 2024, the amounts related to the Collars were recorded in prepaid expenses and other current assets and other
noncurrent assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of February 28, 2025 the amounts related to the Collars were recorded
accounts payable and accrued liabilities and other noncurrent liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The Company reports its Collar assets and liabilities on a net basis in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets when a master-
netting arrangement exists between the Company and the counterparty to the contract. A standard master netting agreement exists with
the counterparty to the Collars. The agreement allows for multiple transaction payment netting and none of the netting arrangements
involve collateral.

See Note 21, Other Comprehensive Loss for additional information regarding the cash flow hedges.
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16. Fair Value Measurement

The Company’s financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents; investments; accounts receivable, net; notes receivable,
accounts payable; notes payable; and financing lease obligations. Accounts receivable, net, notes receivable and accounts payable are
stated at their carrying value, which approximates fair value, due to their short maturity. The Company measures its cash equivalents
and investments at fair value, based on an exchange or exit price which represents the amount that would be received for an asset sale
or an exit price, or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between knowledgeable and willing market participants.
Certificates of deposit are valued at original cost plus accrued interest, which approximates fair value. The Company estimates the fair
value for notes payable and financing lease obligations by discounting the future cash flows of the related note and lease payments. As
of February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024, the fair value of the cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, certificates of deposit,
notes payable and financing lease obligations approximates their recorded values.

The following tables set forth details about the Company’s investments:

($ in thousands) Cost

Gross
Unrealized

Gains

Gross
Unrealized

Losses Fair Value
February 28, 2025
Asset-backed securities $ 162 $ 40 $ — $ 202

February 29, 2024
Asset-backed securities $ 162 $ 45 $ — $ 207

The asset-based securities are included in other noncurrent assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Observable inputs are based on market data obtained from independent sources. Unobservable inputs reflect the Company’s
assessment of the assumptions market participants would use to value certain financial instruments. This hierarchy requires the
Company to use observable market data, when available, and to minimize the use of unobservable inputs when determining fair value.

The Company’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis, by level, within the fair value hierarchy are
summarized as follows:

February 28, 2025
($ in thousands) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:

Investments:
Asset-backed securities $ — $ 202 $ — $ 202

Total investments — 202 — 202

Total assets $ — $ 202 $ — $ 202

Liabilities:
Interest rate collar agreements $ — $ 20 $ — $ 20
Cash-settled restricted stock units 13 — — 13
Tax receivable agreement liability — — 43,690 43,690
Warrant liability 479 — 103 582
Contingent consideration — — 5,128 5,128

Total liabilities $ 492 $ 20 $ 48,921 $ 49,433
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February 29, 2024
($ in thousands) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Investments:

Asset-backed securities $ — $ 207 $ — $ 207
Total investments — 207 — 207
Other assets:

Forward currency contracts — 46 — 46
Interest rate collar agreements — 1,830 — 1,830

Total other assets — 1,876 — 1,876
Total assets $ — $ 2,083 $ — $ 2,083

Liabilities:
Cash-settled stock units $ 34 $ — $ — $ 34
Tax receivable agreement liability — — 50,964 50,964
Warrant liability 11,012 — 3,701 14,713
Contingent consideration — — 18,028 18,028

Total liabilities $ 11,046 $ — $ 72,693 $ 83,739

Cash-Settled Restricted Stock Units

Cash-settled restricted stock units (RSUs) form part of the Company's compensation program. The fair value of these awards is
determined using the closing stock price of the Class A Common Stock on the last day of each balance sheet date which is considered
an observable quoted market price in active markets (Level 1).

Contingent Consideration

The following table provides a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the contingent consideration using significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3):

($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024
Beginning of period $ 18,028 $ 29,548

Gain from fair value of contingent consideration (12,900) (11,520)
End of period $ 5,128 $ 18,028

The change in the fair value of the contingent consideration is recorded in gain (loss) from change in fair value of contingent
consideration in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Tax Receivable Agreement

The Company's Tax Receivable Agreement liability is measured under both ASC 805 at fair value on a recurring basis using
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) and ASC 450 at book value. The following table provides a reconciliation of the portion of
the Tax Receivable Agreement liability measured at fair value under Level 3:

($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024
Beginning of period $ 50,964 $ 53,154

Payments (1,709) —
Gain from fair value of tax receivable agreement liability (5,565) (2,190)

End of period $ 43,690 $ 50,964

The change in the fair value of the Tax Receivable Agreement liability is recorded in gain (loss) from change in tax receivable
agreement liability in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
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Warrants

The Company’s warrant liability is measured at fair value on a recurring basis using active market quoted prices (Level 1) and
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3). The following table provides a reconciliation of the warrant liability:

($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024
Beginning of period $ 14,713 $ 29,616

Gain from fair value of warrant liability (14,131) (14,903)
End of period $ 582 $ 14,713

The change in the fair value of the warrant liability is recorded in gain (loss) from change in fair value of warrant liability in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The fair values of the Company’s Level 1 financial instruments, which are traded in active markets, are based on quoted market prices
for identical instruments. The fair values of the Company’s Level 2 financial instruments are based on daily market foreign currency
rates, interest rate curves and quoted market prices for comparable instruments or model-driven valuations using observable market
data or inputs corroborated by observable market data.

The Company’s contingent consideration is valued using a Monte Carlo simulation model. The assumptions used in preparing this
model include estimates such as volatility, contractual terms, discount rates, dividend yield and risk-free interest rates. This valuation
model uses unobservable market input, and therefore the liability is classified as Level 3.

The Company’s public warrants are valued using active market quoted prices, which are Level 1 inputs. The private placement
warrants are valued using a binominal pricing model when the warrants are subject to the make-whole table, or otherwise are valued
using a Black-Scholes pricing model. The 5,000,000 redeemable warrants purchased pursuant to the Forward Purchase Agreement are
valued utilizing observable market prices for public shares and warrants, relative to the present value of contractual cash proceeds.
The assumptions used in preparing these models include estimates such as volatility, contractual terms, discount rates, dividend yield,
expiration dates and risk-free interest rates. These valuation models use unobservable market inputs, and therefore the liability is
classified as both Level 1 and Level 3.

See Note 30, Subsequent Events for information regarding trading in the Company's warrants.

There were no transfers of financial instruments between levels of the fair value hierarchy during the years ended February 28, 2025,
February 29, 2024 and February 28, 2023.

17. Revenue

Total Revenue by Geographic Locations

Revenue by geographic regions consisted of the following:

Fiscal Year Ended
($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024 February 28, 2023
Americas $ 520,674 $ 536,316 $ 549,246
Europe 67,686 77,857 81,062
Asia Pacific 19,328 20,381 21,907

Total revenue $ 607,688 $ 634,554 $ 652,215

Revenues by geography are determined based on the region of the Company’s contracting entity, which may be different than the
region of the client. Americas revenue attributed to the United States was 85%, 84% and 83% during the years ended February 28,
2025, February 29, 2024 and February 28, 2023, respectively. No other country represented more than 10% of total revenue during
these periods.
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Remaining Performance Obligations

Revenue allocated to remaining performance obligations represents the transaction price allocated to the performance obligations that
are unsatisfied, or partially unsatisfied. It includes unearned revenue and amounts that will be invoiced and recognized as revenue in
future periods and does not include contracts where the client is not committed. The client is not considered committed when they are
able to terminate for convenience without payment of a substantive penalty under the contract. Additionally, as a practical expedient
of ASC 606, the Company has not disclosed the value of unsatisfied performance obligations for contracts with an original expected
length of one year or less. As of February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024, approximately $968.6 million and $863.1 million of
revenue was expected to be recognized from remaining performance obligations, respectively. These amounts are expected to be
recognized over the next five years.

Contract Assets and Liabilities

Contract assets primarily represent revenues recognized for performance obligations that have been satisfied but for which amounts
have not been billed. Contract assets were $18.3 million and $23.9 million as of February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024,
respectively. Contract liabilities consist of deferred revenue which includes billings in excess of revenue recognized related to
subscription contracts and professional services. Deferred revenue is recognized as revenue when the Company performs under the
contract. Deferred revenue was $218.3 million and $215.2 million as of February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024, respectively.
Revenue recognized during the fiscal year ended February 28, 2025, included in deferred revenue on the Consolidated Balance Sheets
as of February 29, 2024, was $203.4 million.

Sales Commissions

With the adoption of ASC 606 and ASC 340-40, in March 2019, the Company began deferring and amortizing sales commissions that
are incremental and directly related to obtaining client contracts. Amortization expense of $9.8 million, $6.3 million and $4.1 million
was recorded in sales and marketing expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the fiscal years ended February 28,
2025, February 29, 2024 and February 28, 2023, respectively. Sales commissions that would have an amortization period of less than
one year are expensed as incurred in sales and marketing expenses. As of February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024, the Company had
a total of $31.0 million and $21.4 million of capitalized sales commissions included in prepaid expenses and other current assets and
other noncurrent assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, respectively.

18. Warrants

As of February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024, there were an aggregate of 29,079,872 warrants outstanding. Each warrant entitles its
holders to purchase one share of Class A Common Stock at an exercise price of $11.50 per share. The warrants expire five years after
the Closing Date, or earlier upon redemption or liquidation. The warrants are currently exercisable and redeemable when various
conditions are met, such as specific stock prices, as detailed in the specific warrant agreements. However, the 10,280,000 private
placement warrants are nonredeemable so long as they are held by the Company's Sponsor or its permitted transferees. The warrants
were recorded as a liability in warrant liability on the Consolidated Balance Sheets with a balance of $0.6 million and $14.7 million as
of February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024, respectively. During the fiscal years ended February 28, 2025, February 29, 2024 and
February 28, 2023, a gain of $14.1 million, $14.9 million and $37.5 million was recognized in gain from change in fair value of the
warrant liability in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations, respectively.

See Note 30, Subsequent Events for information regarding trading in the Company's warrants.

19. Stockholders' Equity

Class A Common Stock

The Company is authorized to issue 2,500,000,000 Class A common stock with a par value of $0.0001 per share. Holders of the
Company’s Class A Common Stock are entitled to one vote for each share. As of February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024, there
were 310,098,908 and 306,237,585 shares of Class A Common Stock issued, respectively, and 309,922,254 and 306,060,931 shares of
Class A Common Stock outstanding, respectively.

Class V Common Stock

The Company is authorized to issue 42,747,890 Class V common stock with a par value of $0.0001 per share. These shares have no
economic value but entitle the holder to one vote per share. As of February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024, there were 30,692,235
and 31,225,604 shares of Class V Common Stock issued and outstanding, respectively, and 12,055,655 and 11,522,286 shares of Class
V Common Stock held in treasury, respectively.
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The holders of Common Units participate in net income or loss allocations and distributions of E2open Holdings. They are also
entitled to Class V Common Stock on a one-for-one basis to their Common Units which in essence allows each holder one vote per
Common Unit.

The following table reflects the changes in the Company’s outstanding stock:

Class A Class V Series B-1 Series B-2
Balance, February 28, 2022 301,359,967 33,560,839 94 3,372,184
Conversion of Common Units (1) 349,941 (568,832) — —
Vesting of restricted awards, net of shares

withheld for taxes (2) 695,445 — — —
Balance, February 28, 2023 302,405,353 32,992,007 94 3,372,184
Conversion of Common Units (1) 1,766,403 (1,766,403) — —
Issuance of common stock pursuant to restricted

stock awards (3) 408,881 — — —
Vesting of restricted awards, net of shares

withheld for taxes (2) 1,454,387 — — —
Issuance of unrestricted common stock (4) 25,907 — — —
Balance, February 29, 2024 306,060,931 31,225,604 94 3,372,184
Conversion of Common Units (1) 533,369 (533,369) — —
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of options 32,391 — — —
Vesting of restricted awards, net of shares

withheld for taxes (2) 3,295,563 — — —
Balance, February 28, 2025 309,922,254 30,692,235 94 3,372,184

(1) Class A Common Stock issued for the conversion of Common Units settled in stock. Class V Common Stock are retired
on a one-for-one basis when Common Units are converted into Class A Common Stock or settled in cash.

(2) The Class A Common Stock withheld for taxes revert back to the 2021 Incentive Plan, as defined below, and are used for
future grants.

(3) Issuance of Class A Common Stock associated with restricted stock award grants.

(4) Issuance of Class A Common Stock that was fully vested and unrestricted on the date of grant.

20. Noncontrolling Interest

Noncontrolling interest represents the portion of E2open Holdings that the Company controls and consolidates but does not own. As
of February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024, the noncontrolling interest represents a 9.0% and 9.3% ownership in E2open Holdings,
respectively. As part of the Business Combination, E2open Parent Holdings, Inc. became the owner of E2open Holdings along with
the existing owners of E2open Holdings through Common Unit ownership. The existing owners of E2open Holdings are shown as
noncontrolling interest on the Consolidated Balance Sheets and their portion of the net income (loss) of E2open Holdings is shown as
net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interest on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Generally, Common Units participate in net income or loss allocations and distributions and entitle their holder to the right, subject to
the terms set forth in the Third Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of E2open, LLC (Third Company
Agreement), to require E2open Holdings to redeem all or a portion of the Common Units held by such participant. At the Company’s
option, it may satisfy this redemption with cash or by exchanging Class V Common Stock for Class A Common Stock on a one-for-
one basis.

The Third Company Agreement contains provisions which require that a one-to-one ratio be maintained between the interests the
Company holds in E2open Holdings and the Company's outstanding common stock, subject to certain exceptions, including in respect
of management equity which has not been settled in the Company's common stock. Additionally, there are certain restrictions on the
transfer of Common Units as specified in the Third Company Agreement.
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During the fiscal year ended February 28, 2025, there were 533,369 Common Units converted into Class A Common Stock with a
value of $2.3 million based off the 5-day VWAP. During the fiscal year ended February 29, 2024, 1,766,403 Common Units were
converted into Class A Common Stock with a value of $7.5 million based off the 5-day VWAP. This activity resulted in a decrease to
noncontrolling interest of $2.3 million and $7.5 million during the fiscal years ended February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024,
respectively.

As of February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024, there were a total of 30.7 million and 31.2 million Common Units held by
participants of E2open Holdings, respectively.

The Company follows the guidance issued by the FASB regarding the classification and measurement of redeemable securities.
Accordingly, the Company has determined that the Common Units meet the requirements to be classified as permanent equity.

21. Other Comprehensive Loss

Accumulated other comprehensive loss in the equity section of Consolidated Balance Sheets includes:

($ in thousands)

Foreign
Currency

Translation
Adjustment

Unrealized
Holding Gains

(Losses) on
Foreign

Exchange
Forward
Contracts

Unrealized
Holding Gains

(Losses) on
Interest Rate

Collar
Agreements Total

Balance, February 28, 2023 $ (67,747) $ (856) $ — $ (68,603)

Other comprehensive gain 17,577 902 1,830 20,309
Tax effects 1,459 — — 1,459

Other comprehensive gain 19,036 902 1,830 21,768
Balance, February 29, 2024 (48,711) 46 1,830 (46,835)

Other comprehensive loss (14,875) (46) (1,850) (16,771)
Tax effects (229) — — (229)

Other comprehensive loss (15,104) (46) (1,850) (17,000)
Balance, February 28, 2025 $ (63,815) $ — $ (20) $ (63,835)

The effect of amounts reclassified out of unrealized holding losses on derivatives into net loss was as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended
($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024 February 28, 2023
Reclassifications:

Cost of revenue $ 1 $ 141 $ 201
Research and development 2 132 177
Sales and marketing — 7 7
General and administrative 1 59 90

Total $ 4 $ 339 $ 475

The effect of amounts reclassified out of unrealized gains for interest rate collars as on offset to interest expense was as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended
($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024
Reclassifications:

$100 million notional interest rate collar $ (538) $ (678)
$200 million notional interest rate collar (693) (897)

Total $ (1,231) $ (1,575)
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Accumulated foreign currency translation adjustments are reclassified to net income (loss) when realized upon sale or upon complete,
or substantially complete, liquidation of the investment in the foreign entity.

See Note 15, Financial Instruments for additional information related to the Company's derivative instruments.

22. Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is calculated as net loss available to common stockholders divided by the weighted average number of shares
of common stock outstanding during the applicable period. Diluted earnings per share is computed by using the basic earnings per
share plus any dilutive securities outstanding during the period using the if-converted method, except when the effect is anti-dilutive.
The following is a reconciliation of the denominators of the basic and diluted per share computations for net loss:

Fiscal Year Ended
(in thousands, except per share data) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024 February 28, 2023
Net loss per share:

Numerator - basic:
Net loss $ (725,785) $ (1,185,079) $ (720,202)
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest (65,955) (115,055) (71,499)
Net loss attributable to E2open Parent Holdings, Inc. - basic $ (659,830) $ (1,070,024) $ (648,703)

Numerator - diluted:
Net loss attributable to E2open Parent Holdings, Inc. - basic $ (659,830) $ (1,070,024) $ (648,703)
Net loss attributable to E2open Parent Holdings, Inc. - diluted $ (659,830) $ (1,070,024) $ (648,703)

Denominator - basic:
Weighted average shares outstanding - basic 308,268 303,751 301,946
Net loss per share - basic $ (2.14) $ (3.52) $ (2.15)

Denominator - diluted:
Weighted average shares outstanding - basic 308,268 303,751 301,946
Weighted average shares outstanding - diluted 308,268 303,751 301,946
Diluted net loss per common share $ (2.14) $ (3.52) $ (2.15)

Potential common shares are shares that would be issued upon exercise or conversion of shares under the Company's share-based
compensation plans and upon exercise of warrants that are excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per common share when
the effect would be anti-dilutive. All potential common shares are anti-dilutive in periods of net loss available to common
stockholders.

The following table summarizes the potential common shares excluded from the calculation of diluted loss per common share as their
effect would have been anti-dilutive:

Fiscal Year Ended
February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024 February 28, 2023

Series B-1 common stock 94 94 94
Series B-2 common stock 3,372,184 3,372,184 3,372,184
Restricted common units Series 2 2,627,724 2,627,724 2,627,724
Warrants 29,079,872 29,079,872 29,079,872
Common Units 30,692,235 31,225,604 33,279,284
Performance-based options 3,745,960 2,519,549 3,612,372
Time-based options 2,430,830 2,472,858 —
Performance-based restricted stock units 4,017,050 4,779,438 2,049,335
Time-based restricted stock units 13,568,248 11,836,338 2,937,429
Time-based restricted stock awards — 408,881 —

Units/Shares excluded from the dilution computation 89,534,197 88,322,542 76,958,294
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23. Share-Based Compensation

The E2open Parent Holdings, Inc. 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan, as Amended and Restated (2021 Incentive Plan), allows the
Company to make equity and equity-based incentive awards to officers, employees, directors and consultants. There were 15,000,000
shares of Class A Common Stock reserved for issuance under the 2021 Incentive Plan as of February 28, 2022. The "evergreen"
provision of the 2021 Incentive Plan provides for an annual automatic increase to the number of shares of Class A Common Stock
available under the plan. As of March 1, 2022, 2023 and 2024, an additional 4,849,684, 7,304,646 and 12,301,706 shares were
reserved for issuance under the "evergreen" provision, respectively. Shares issued under the 2021 Incentive Plan can be granted as
stock options, restricted stock awards, restricted stock units, performance stock awards, cash awards and other equity-based awards.
No award may vest earlier than the first anniversary of the date of grant, expect under limited conditions. See Note 30, Subsequent
Events for information about additional shares reserved as part of the "evergreen" provision of the 2021 Incentive Plan.

During fiscal 2023 and 2024, the board of directors approved a company-wide share-based compensation program under the 2021
Incentive Plan where all eligible employees received annual stock awards as part of their annual compensation package. Future awards
under this program are at the discretion of the board of directors and are not guaranteed for any fiscal year.

Options

Options are either performance-based or time-based. The fiscal 2022 options were performance-based and measured based on
obtaining an organic revenue growth target over a one-year period. The fiscal 2023 options were performance-based and measured
based on obtaining organic revenue growth, adjusted EBITDA and net booking targets over a one-year period. A quarter of all the
options vest at the end of the performance period and the remaining options vest equally over the following three years. The fiscal
2024 options were time-based with one-third of the options vesting at the end of the first year with the remaining options vesting
ratably each quarter over the remaining two-years. For fiscal 2025, the only options granted were the two awards described below.

The Company's executive officers and senior management are granted these performance-based and time-based options. The
performance target is set at 100% at the date of grant, and the probability of meeting the performance target is remeasured each
quarter over the performance period and adjusted if needed. The performance target for the options granted during May 2021 was
finalized in April 2022 above 100%. The performance target for the options granted in May 2022 was finalized in April 2023 below
100%. The performance target for the options granted in May 2023 was finalized in April 2024 below 100%.

In February 2024, Mr. Andrew Appel, Chief Executive Officer (CEO), was awarded performance-based options with a market
condition based on the closing price of the Company's stock for 20 days out of 30 consecutive trading days during the performance
period. The performance period will be for the three-years of the grant and be measured at each vesting period. The performance-
based options will time vest up to one-third after the first year and up to one-twelfth each of the following seven quarters with the
remaining earned shares vesting on the third anniversary of the grant.

On March 7, 2024, Mr. Appel's Chief of Staff, Mr. McIndoe, was awarded options valued at $0.5 million, or 111,112 shares, which
time-based with one-third of the options vesting at the end of the first year with the remaining options vesting ratably each quarter
over the remaining two-years.

On January 7, 2025, Ms. Susan Bennett, Chief Legal Officer, was awarded options valued at $0.5 million, or 164,836 shares, which
time-based with one-third of the options vesting at the end of the first year with the remaining options vesting ratably each quarter
over the remaining two-years.

As of February 28, 2025, there were 3,372,176 unvested performance-based options and 1,604,077 unvested time-based options.

RSUs

The RSUs are either performance-based or time-based. These awards are recorded as equity awards within the Consolidated
Statements of Stockholders' Equity. The fiscal 2022 performance-based RSUs were measured based on obtaining an organic revenue
growth target over a one-year period. The fiscal 2023 performance-based RSUs were measured based on obtaining organic revenue
growth, adjusted EBITDA and net bookings targets over a one-year period. The fiscal 2024 performance-based RSUs were measured
based on obtaining organic constant currency subscriptions revenue growth, constant currency adjusted EBITDA and net bookings
targets over a one-year period. The fiscal 2025 performance-based RSUs are measured based on obtaining an organic subscription
revenue growth and constant currency adjusted EBITDA targets over a one-year period.
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The performance target is set at 100% at the date of grant, and the probability of meeting the performance target is remeasured each
quarter over the performance period and adjusted if needed. The performance target for the performance-based RSUs granted during
May 2021 was finalized in April 2022 above 100%. The performance target for the performance-based RSUs granted in May 2022
was finalized in April 2023 below 100%. The performance target for the performance-based RSUs granted in May 2023 was finalized
in April 2024 with actual results below 100%. The performance target for the performance-based RSUs granted in May 2024 was
finalized in April 2025 with actual results below 100%.

The time based RSUs for executive officers, senior management and employees granted during fiscal 2022 and 2023 vest ratably over
a three-year period. Beginning in fiscal 2024, the time-based RSUs for executive officers, senior management and employees will vest
one-third at the end of the first year and then ratably each quarter over the remaining two years. The time-based RSUs for non-
employee directors of the Company's board of directors have a one-year vesting period.

During November 2023, executive officers received retention time-based RSUs of 2,052,680. In December 2023, an additional
434,784 retention time-based RSUs were granted to executive officers. The retention time-based RSUs have an eighteen-month
vesting period.

On May 14, 2024, Ms. Bennett was awarded an RSU grant valued at $0.7 million, or 150,000 shares, under our 2021 Incentive Plan
which vested after six months of issuance.

As of February 28, 2025, there were 4,017,050 performance-based RSUs and 13,568,248 time-based RSUs that were unvested and
expected to vest.

Redeemable Share-Based Awards

On February 12, 2024, Mr. Appel was awarded performance-based RSUs with a market condition based on the closing price of the
Company's stock for 20 days out of 30 consecutive trading days during the performance period. The stock hurdles range from $3.50 to
$15.00 with $3.50 generating an 8% attainment and $15.00 producing a 200% attainment. The performance period will be for the
three-years of the grant and be measured at each vesting period. On the first anniversary of the grant, Mr. Appel achieved a stock
hurdle of $4.50 per share generating an attainment of 25%, or 375,000 shares. These shares will vest one-third on the first anniversary
of the grant and quarterly thereafter with the full 375,000 shares vested on the third anniversary of the grant. Additional performance
hurdles will be determined each quarter over the remainder of the three-year performance period.

If there is a change in control, the award will immediately vest under the performance condition based upon the appropriate stock
hurdle and automatically time-vest. The vested RSU will be paid in the form of cash and/or equity in a ratio substantially similar to the
ratio received by the other shareholders in connection with the change in control. Additionally, the cash portion of the award will be
equal to at least 50%. As this award has a redemption feature for the change in control and cash value component, it is recorded as
redeemable share-based awards on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Mr. Appel was also awarded time-based RSUs that vest one-third after the first year and vest ratably each quarter over the remaining
two-years. If there is a change in control, the award will immediately vest and be paid in the form of cash and/or equity in a ratio
substantially similar to the ratio received by the other shareholders in connection with the change in control. Additionally, the cash
portion of the award will be equal to at least 50%. As this award has a redemption feature for the change in control and cash value
component, it is recorded as redeemable share-based awards on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The amount presented in the mezzanine as redeemable share-based awards will be the redemption amount as of the grant date,
multiplied by the portion of the requisite service period that has elapsed. The redemption amount is based on the number of shares that
would vest if a change in control occurred at the grant date multiplied by the grant date stock price. Once the RSUs have vested, the
associated redemption value will be reclassified from the redeemable share-based award to additional paid-in capital on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Restricted Stock Awards

Restricted stock awards (RSA) are time-based and granted to participants with the associated Class A Common Stock issued on the
day of grant. The Class A Common Stock is issued with restrictions and voting rights. When the applicable vesting terms have been
met, the restrictions are removed from the Class A Common Stock.

As part of Mr. Appel's compensation as interim CEO, he received an initial RSA grant in October 2023 valued at $0.7 million, or
275,101 shares, under the 2021 Incentive Plan which vested after six months of issuance, or April 12, 2024.
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Mr. Appel's Chief of Staff, Mr. McIndoe, was awarded an RSA grant in November 2023 valued at $0.4 million, or 133,780 shares,
under the 2021 Incentive Plan which vested after five months of issuance.

As of February 28, 2025, all of the RSAs were fully vested.

Liability Awards

For employees based in China, they are awarded cash-settled RSUs. The cash-settled RSUs issued in fiscal 2023 vest ratable over a
three-year period. Beginning in fiscal 2024, the cash-settled RSUs vest one-third at the end of the first year and then ratable each
quarter over the remaining two years. The cash-settled RSUs must be settled in cash and are accounted for as liability-type awards.
The fair value of these cash-settled RSUs equals the value of the Class A Common Stock on the date of grant and is remeasured at the
end of each reporting period at fair value. The change in fair value is recorded in share-based compensation expense in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations. The liability for the cash-settled RSUs was negligible as of February 28, 2025 and February
29, 2024 and is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of February 28, 2025 and
February 29, 2024, there were 25,971 and 37,479 unvested cash-settled RSUs.

As of February 28, 2025, there were 9,729,170 shares of Class A Common Stock available for grant under the 2021 Incentive Plan.

Named Executive Officer Departures

The Company's former Chief Financial Officer entered into a Transition Agreement in which all of his outstanding stock awards
accelerated vesting to August 31, 2022. Additionally, the exercise period for his options was extended from 90 days to one year with
exercises permitted through August 31, 2023. All of the options expired unexercised as of August 31, 2023.

In accordance with the executive plan, the Company's former Chief Executive Officer's options, time-based RSUs and performance-
based RSUs were prorated as of his vest date, October 11, 2023, resulting in 134,920 options and 147,606 time-based and
performance-based RSUs vesting. The 2024 fiscal year performance based RSUs remained unvested until the performance metrics
were determined in April 2024 below 100%, at which point 21,630 awards accelerated and vested. All of the options expired as of
January 8, 2024.

With the departure of the Company's former Chief Operating Officer (COO), a Release and Non-Competition Agreement (Separation
Agreement) was entered in which the former COO provided transition services through December 31, 2023 (Transition Period). As a
result of the former COO's departure, his options, time-based RSUs and performance-based RSUs were prorated as of December 31,
2023 resulting in 189,039 options and 187,325 time-based and performance-based RSUs vesting as of December 31, 2023. The 2024
fiscal year performance-based RSUs remained unvested until the performance metrics were determined in April 2024 below 100%, at
which point 19,227 awards accelerated and vested. All of the options expired as of March 30, 2024.

With the departure of the Company's former Executive Vice President and General Counsel, a Separation and Release Agreement was
entered into under which the General Counsel provided transition services through May 31, 2024. As a result of the General Counsel’s
departure, a portion of her options, time-based RSUs and performance-based RSUs were accelerated to June 10, 2024 resulting in
9,121 options and 204,511 time-based and performance-based RSUs vesting as of June 10, 2024. All of the options expired as of
September 9, 2024.

Activity under the 2021 Incentive Plan related to options was as follows:

Number of
Shares

(in thousands)

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price
Per Share

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual Life

(in years)
Balance, February 29, 2024 4,992 $ 5.04 7.9

Granted 1,976 3.99
Exercised (32) 4.62
Forfeited and expired (759) 7.57

Balance, February 28, 2025 6,177 $ 4.40 7.1

Vested and exercisable as of February 28, 2025 1,201 $ 5.24 7.9



103

Number of
Shares

(in thousands)

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price
Per Share

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual Life

(in years)
Balance, February 28, 2023 4,833 $ 8.42 8.5

Granted 4,632 4.25
Forfeited (4,473) 7.88

Balance, February 29, 2024 4,992 $ 5.04 7.9

Vested and exercisable as of February 29, 2024 613 $ 8.50 3.7

As of February 28, 2025, there was $6.5 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested options. The aggregate
intrinsic value of outstanding and exercisable stock option awards was zero as of February 28, 2025 since the Company's Class A
Common Stock price was less than the exercise price of the stock options awards.

Activity under the 2021 Incentive Plan related to RSUs was as follows:

Number of Units
(in thousands)

Weighted
Average Grant
Date Fair Value

Per Unit

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Recognition

Period (in years)
Balance, February 29, 2024 16,726 $ 5.43 2.0

Granted 11,832 4.09
Added by performance factor 54 6.21
Released (5,583) 5.60
Canceled and forfeited (5,444) 5.57

Balance, February 28, 2025 17,585 $ 4.44 2.0

Number of Units
(in thousands)

Weighted
Average Grant
Date Fair Value

Per Unit

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Recognition

Period (in years)
Balance, February 28, 2023 6,475 $ 8.44 2.4

Granted 16,293 5.00
Added by performance factor 39 9.02
Released (2,531) 7.67
Canceled and forfeited (3,550) 6.72

Balance, February 29, 2024 16,726 $ 5.43 2.0

As of February 28, 2025, there was $46.0 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested RSUs. The aggregate
intrinsic value of outstanding RSUs was $40.3 million as of February 28, 2025 which is the outstanding RSUs valued at the closing
price of the Company's Class A Common Stock on February 28, 2025.

Activity under the 2021 Incentive Plan related to cash-settled RSUs was as follows:

Number of Units
(in thousands)

Weighted
Average Grant
Date Fair Value

Per Share

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Recognition

Period (in years)
Balance, February 29, 2024 37 $ 5.78 2.0

Granted 7 4.41
Released (18) 5.78

Balance, February 28, 2025 26 $ 5.40 1.5
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Number of Units
(in thousands)

Weighted
Average Grant
Date Fair Value

Per Share

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Recognition

Period (in years)
Balance, February 28, 2023 25 $ 6.07 2.6

Granted 24 5.60
Released (8) 6.07
Canceled and forfeited (4) 5.96

Balance, February 29, 2024 37 $ 5.78 2.0

As of February 28, 2025, there was less than $0.1 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested cash-settled RSUs.
The aggregate intrinsic value of the cash-settled RSUs was $0.1 million as of February 28, 2025 which is the outstanding cash-settled
RSUs valued at the closing price of our Class A Common Stock on February 28, 2025.

The estimated grant-date fair values of the options granted or modified were calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
valuation model, based on the following assumptions:

Fiscal Year Ended
February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024

Expected term (in years) 6.00 0.68 - 6.25
Expected volatility 60.57% - 62.54% 48.97% - 62.80%
Risk-free interest rate 4.04% - 4.46% 3.38% - 5.30%
Expected dividend yield 0% 0%

The assumptions and estimates were as follows:

Expected Term: The expected term represents the weighted-average period the share-based awards are expected to remain outstanding
and is calculated using the simplified method, as the Company does not have sufficient historical information to develop reasonable
expectations about future exercise patters and post-vesting employment termination behavior. The simplified method calculates the
expected term as the midpoint between the vesting date and the contractual expiration date of the option.

Expected Volatility: The expected stock price volatility assumption was determined based on the historical volatility of the Company's
Class A Common Stock.

Risk-Free Interest Rate: The risk-free rate assumption was based on the U.S. Treasury instruments whose term was consistent with the
option's expected term.

Expected Dividend Yield: The Company does not currently declare or pay dividends on its common stock and does not expect to do so
for the foreseeable future.

The table below sets forth the functional classification in the Consolidated Statements of Operations of equity-based compensation
expense:

Fiscal Year Ended
($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024 February 28, 2023
Cost of revenue $ 5,620 $ 4,265 $ 1,466
Research and development 6,670 5,682 3,084
Sales and marketing 6,690 5,686 3,298
General and administrative 25,488 11,538 9,713

Total share-based compensation $ 44,468 $ 27,171 $ 17,561

24. Leases

The Company accounts for leases in accordance with ASC 842, which requires lessees to recognize lease liabilities and ROU assets on
the balance sheet for most operating leases.
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Real Estate Leases

The Company leases its primary office space under non-cancelable operating leases with various expiration dates through September
2031. Many of the leases have an option to be extended from two to five years, and several of the leases give the Company the right to
early termination with proper notification. Additionally, the Company has subleased three of its office leases as of February 28, 2025.

Several of the operating lease agreements require the Company to provide security deposits. As of February 28, 2025 and February 29,
2024, lease deposits were $3.1 million and $3.4 million, respectively. The deposits are generally refundable at the expiration of the
lease, assuming all obligations under the lease agreement have been met. Deposits are included in prepaid and other current assets and
other noncurrent assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

During the fiscal years ended February 28, 2025, February 29, 2024 and February 28, 2023, the Company incurred $0.6 million,
$0.7 million and $4.1 million impairments on its operating lease ROU assets and leasehold improvements, respectively, due to
vacating one, five and seven locations, respectively. The impairments were recorded in general and administrative expenses in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations.

During the fiscal year ended February 28, 2025, the Company terminated an operating lease as of March 2025 with an original lease
expiration date of July 2028. The Company incurred an early termination fee of $0.6 million and recognized a $0.1 million gain on the
write-off of the remaining ROU asset and liability beyond March 2025. ROU impairments were taken on this lease during August
2022 and 2023. During the fiscal year ended February 29, 2024, the Company terminated an operating lease early with a lease
expiration date of February 2026. The Company paid an early termination fee of $0.2 million and recognized a $0.2 million gain on
the write-off of the remaining ROU asset and liability. An ROU impairment was taken on this lease during August 2022.

Vehicle Leases

The Company leases vehicles under non-cancelable operating lease arrangements which have various expiration dates through January
2029. The Company does not have the right to purchase the vehicles at the end of the lease term.

Equipment Leases

The Company purchases equipment under non-cancelable financing lease arrangements related to software and computer equipment
which have various expiration dates through November 2028. The Company has the right to purchase the software and computer
equipment anytime during the lease or upon lease completion.

Balance Sheet Presentation

The following tables present the amounts and classifications of the Company's estimated ROU assets, net and lease liabilities:

($ in thousands) Balance Sheet Location February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024
Operating lease right-of-use assets Operating lease right-of-use assets $ 14,977 $ 21,299
Finance lease right-of-use asset Property and equipment, net 5,507 5,150

Total right-of-use assets $ 20,484 $ 26,449

($ in thousands) Balance Sheet Location February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024
Operating lease liability - current Current portion of operating lease obligations $ 6,146 $ 7,378
Operating lease liability Operating lease obligations 10,838 17,372
Finance lease liability - current Current portion of finance lease obligations 2,143 1,448
Finance lease liability Finance lease obligations 3,170 3,626

Total lease liabilities $ 22,297 $ 29,824
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Lease Cost and Cash Flows

The following table summarizes the Company's total lease cost:

Fiscal Year Ended
($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024 February 28, 2023
Finance lease cost:

Amortization of right-of-use asset $ 1,789 $ 1,506 $ 2,253
Interest on lease liability 381 214 212

Finance lease cost 2,170 1,720 2,465
Operating lease cost:

Operating lease cost 8,061 7,353 7,348
Variable lease cost 2,487 3,309 4,837
Sublease income (800) (650) (552)

Operating net lease cost 9,748 10,012 11,633
Total net lease cost $ 11,918 $ 11,732 $ 14,098

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases was as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended
($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024 February 28, 2023
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of

lease liabilities:
Operating cash outflows from operating leases $ 7,755 $ 8,406 $ 9,674

The following table presents the weighted-average remaining lease terms and discount rates of the Company's leases:

Fiscal Year Ended
February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024

Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years):
Finance lease 2.77 3.74
Operating lease 3.17 3.82

Weighted-average discount rate:
Finance lease 7.04% 7.31%
Operating lease 7.31% 7.02%

Lease Liability Maturity Analysis

The following table reflects the undiscounted future cash flows utilized in the calculation of the lease liabilities as of February 28,
2025:

($ in thousands) Operating Leases Finance Leases
2026 $ 7,247 $ 2,446
2027 5,786 1,869
2028 3,228 1,007
2029 1,435 561
2030 754 —
Thereafter 699 —

Total 19,149 5,883
Less: Present value discount (2,165) (570)
Lease liabilities $ 16,984 $ 5,313
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25. Retirement Plans

The E2open 401(k) Plan allows eligible employees to either make pre-tax 401(k) or after-tax Roth 401(k) contributions. These defined
contribution plans are sponsored by the Company and provide a variety of investment options. The Company matches 50% of the first
6% an employee contributes to these plans. Effective January 1, 2023, the Company match is made each payroll period. For prior
years, for an employee to be eligible for the matching contribution, the employee had to be actively employed on December 31 to
receive the matching contribution for the year. As a result of this change, two years of the Company match were made during the year
ended February 29, 2024. The Company made matching contributions of $3.7 million, $7.0 million and $2.4 million during the fiscal
years ended February 28, 2025, February 29, 2024 and February 28, 2023. The matching contribution related to the year February 28,
2023 was made in April 2023 in the amount of $3.5 million. During the years ended February 28, 2025, February 29, 2024 and
February 28, 2023, expense related to the defined contribution plans was $3.8 million, $4.0 million and $4.7 million, respectively.

26. Income Taxes

For financial reporting purposes, the components of loss before income tax provision were as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended
($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024 February 28, 2023
Domestic $ (374,412) $ (1,244,565) $ (925,809)
Foreign (350,210) (22,890) (44,769)

Loss before income tax provision $ (724,622) $ (1,267,455) $ (970,578)

The income tax (expense) benefit consisted of the following:

Fiscal Year Ended
($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024 February 28, 2023
Current:

Federal $ (2,574) $ (562) $ (765)
State (4,210) (903) (2,450)
Foreign (4,833) (3,949) (5,835)

Total current (11,617) (5,414) (9,050)

Deferred:
Federal (1,965) 58,772 209,618
State 3,177 19,293 40,137
Foreign 9,242 9,725 9,671

Total deferred 10,454 87,790 259,426
Total income tax (expense) benefit $ (1,163) $ 82,376 $ 250,376

As a result of the Business Combination, the Company acquired a controlling interest in E2open Holdings, which is treated as a
partnership for U.S. federal and most applicable state and local income tax purposes. As a partnership, E2open Holdings is not itself
subject to U.S. federal and certain state and local income taxes. Any taxable income or loss generated by E2open Holdings is passed
through to and included in the taxable income or loss of its partners, including the Company following the Business Combination, on a
pro-rata basis. The Company’s U.S. federal and state income tax benefits relate to the Company’s wholly owned U.S. corporate
subsidiaries that are consolidated for U.S. GAAP purposes but separately taxed for U.S. federal and state income tax purposes as
corporations as well as the Company’s allocable share of any taxable income of E2open Holdings following the Business
Combination. Additionally, the Company owns foreign subsidiaries that file and pay income taxes in their local jurisdiction. The
Company has elected to record Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income tax as a period cost.
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The Company’s income tax provision differs from the amounts computed by applying the U.S. federal income tax rate of 21% to
pretax loss as a result of the following:

Fiscal Year Ended
($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024 February 28, 2023
U.S. federal tax benefit at statutory rate $ 152,162 $ 266,166 $ 203,823

State tax, net of federal benefit 21,620 43,928 30,322
Foreign rate differential 18,913 417 19
Effect of foreign operations (45,052) 264 (2,396)
Tax credit carryforwards 548 216 1,126
Non-qualified stock options 239 1,066 1,662
Change in fair value of contingent consideration 2,462 2,198 3,146
Change in fair value of warrant liability 2,968 3,130 7,880
Net impact of noncontrolling interest and non-partnership

operations on partnership outside basis 14,571 (20,275) (8,711)
Nondeductible compensation (1,543) (874) (1,586)
Uncertain tax positions (1,547) (396) (6)
Other (944) 121 706
Change in valuation allowance (165,560) (213,585) 14,391

Total income tax (expense) benefit $ (1,163) $ 82,376 $ 250,376

As of each of the periods presented above, the Company did not provide deferred income taxes on the outside book-tax differences of
its foreign subsidiaries or any undistributed retained earnings which are indefinitely reinvested, including those earnings previously
subject to income taxes in the U.S. The reversal of these temporary differences or distributions could result in additional tax; however,
it is not practicable to estimate the amount of any unrecognized deferred income tax liabilities at this time.

The types of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the Company's deferred tax assets and liabilities are set
forth below:

($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024
Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforwards $ 59,863 $ 76,252
Capital loss carryforward 128,136 129,490
Investment in partnership 130,863 —
Tax credits 3,368 4,342
Property and equipment 1,410 995
Disallowed interest carryforward 73,600 58,950
Deferred commissions 20 260
Lease liability 4,257 6,073
Capitalized section 174 costs 3,413 3,428
Other deferred tax asset 5,525 4,673
Accruals and reserves 1,766 2,047
Deferred revenue 604 563

Total deferred tax assets 412,825 287,073

Deferred tax liabilities:
Intangibles 62,254 89,624
Investment in partnership — 13,132
Other deferred tax liability 3,578 5,266

Total deferred tax liabilities 65,832 108,022
Valuation allowance (390,338) (232,950)

Net deferred tax liabilities $ (43,345) $ (53,899)
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The increase of $125.7 million in the deferred tax asset for the fiscal year ended February 28, 2025, was primarily due to the impact of
the goodwill impairment on the outside basis in the investment in the partnership. The $157.4 million increase in the valuation
allowance was primarily due to an increase in the net deferred tax asset from the change in the outside basis in the investment in the
partnership and additional interest expense carryforward, which are fully covered by a valuation allowance. This was offset by tax
basis increases caused by nondeductible research costs, amortization and share-based compensation.

ASC 740, Income Taxes (ASC 740), provides for the recognition of deferred tax assets if realization of such assets is more-likely-than
not. Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon generating sufficient taxable income, ability to carryback losses, offsetting
deferred tax liabilities and availability of tax planning strategies.

The deferred tax asset valuation allowance and changes were as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended
($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024 February 28, 2023
Balance at beginning of year $ 232,950 $ 37,978 $ 56,617

Additions charged to operations 173,641 215,609 3,770
Additions charged to goodwill — — (257)
Net deductions (1) (16,253) (20,637) (22,152)

Balance at end of year $ 390,338 $ 232,950 $ 37,978

(1) Represents current year releases credited to expense and current year reductions due to decreases in net deferred tax
assets.

During the fiscal year ended February 28, 2025, the valuation allowance had a net increase of $157.4 million, primarily due to an
increase in the net deferred tax asset from the change in the outside basis in the investment in the partnership and additional interest
expense carryforward, which are fully covered by a valuation allowance. This was offset by tax basis increases caused by
nondeductible research costs, amortization and share-based compensation. During the fiscal year ended February 29, 2024, the
valuation allowance had a net increase of $195.0 million, primarily due to a legal entity restructuring which generated a net capital
loss carryforward of $129.5 million and an increase in interest expense carryforward of $23.6 million, offset by the reduction in the
net deferred tax liability from the change in the outside basis in the investment in the partnership which includes $9.4 million for the
vesting of restricted stock awards in additional paid-in capital in fiscal 2024. During the fiscal year ended February 28, 2023, the
valuation allowance had a net decrease of $18.6 million, primarily due to a U.S. legal entity restructuring offset by an increase for
restrictions on interest limitations in the United Kingdom.

As of February 28, 2025, the Company had net operating loss (NOL) carryforwards for federal, state and foreign income tax purposes
of approximately $257.0 million, $193.5 million (post apportionment pre-tax) and $63.6 million, respectively. As a result of the Tax
Cuts and Jobs Act (TCJA), NOLs of $137.1 million can be carried forward indefinitely. Pre-TCJA NOLs will begin to expire in fiscal
2027. The foreign net operating loss carryforwards are derived from multiple tax jurisdictions and will begin to expire during fiscal
2026. As of February 28, 2025, the Company had tax credits of approximately $7.4 million to reduce federal income taxes. The
majority are U.S. research tax credits. Federal credit carryforwards expire beginning in 2026.

The Company has federal capital loss carryforwards of approximately $546.1 million and state capital loss carryforwards of $530.5
million. The capital loss carryforwards will begin to expire in fiscal year 2028.

IRC Section 382 imposes limitations on a corporation’s ability to utilize its NOLs if the corporation experiences an ownership change,
as defined in Section 382. Based upon an analysis performed, utilization of the U.S. federal NOLs, research and development credits
and foreign tax credits in future periods will be subject to an annual limitation under IRC Section 382. As noted above, as of February
28, 2025, federal NOL carryforwards and tax credits before any Section 382 limitations were approximately $257.0 million and
$7.4 million, respectively. Of these amounts, approximately $92.3 million and $1.1 million will expire unused due to Section 382.
Accordingly, the Company has reduced the deferred tax assets based upon the anticipated federal attributes that are expected to expire
unutilized due to the annual limitation.

As of February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024, total gross unrecognized tax benefits were $4.0 million and $2.5 million,
respectively. Approximately $3.1 million of the unrecognized tax benefits as of February 28, 2025, if recognized, would have an
impact on the Company’s effective tax rate. The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as a
component of income tax expense. As of February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024, the total amount of gross interest and penalties
accrued was $0.1 million and $0.2 million, respectively, which was classified as other noncurrent liabilities in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets.
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefit was as follows:

($ in thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024
Beginning of period $ 2,528 $ 2,571

Gross increases:
Current year tax positions 579 19
Prior year tax positions 2,048 101

Gross decreases:
Prior year tax positions (251) —
Prior year tax positions due to statute lapse (886) (163)

End of period $ 4,018 $ 2,528

Management believes that it has adequately provided for any adjustments that may result from tax examinations. However, the
outcome of tax audits cannot be predicted with certainty. Should any issues addressed in the tax audits be resolved in a manner not
consistent with management's expectations, the Company could be required to adjust the provision for income tax in the period such
resolution occurs. Although the timing of the resolution and/or closure of audits is highly uncertain, the Company does not believe it is
reasonably possible that the unrecognized tax benefits will materially change in the next 12 months.

The Company is subject to taxation in the U.S., various states and foreign jurisdictions. The Company has several individual filing
groups in the U.S, some of which have NOLs dating back to 2015 and earlier. Fiscal 2021 through 2024 generally remain open to
examination by the taxing jurisdictions to which the Company is subject. However, carry forward attributes that were generated in tax
years prior to fiscal 2020 may be adjusted upon examination by the tax authorities until the statute of limitations closes for the tax year
in which the carryforward attributes are utilized.

The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) announced the Inclusive Framework on Base Erosion Profit
Sharing (Framework) which agreed to a two-pillar solution to address tax challenges arising from digitalization of the global
economy. Under pillar two, the Framework provides for a global minimum tax rate of 15%, calculated on a country-by-country basis.
The Framework must now be implemented by the OECD members who have agreed to the plan, effective in 2024. Numerous
countries have enacted legislation to adopt the Framework with a subset of the rules effective January 1, 2024, and the remaining rules
effective January 1, 2025, or in later periods. E2open does not anticipate the Framework will have a material impact on its financial
statements, largely driven by not meeting the revenue threshold of 750 million Euro for pillar two to apply. E2open will continue to
evaluate and monitor this position as further guidance is made available, including refining its analysis as appropriate.

27. Segments

The Company's chief operating decision maker, the CODM, who is the Company's CEO, manages the business, makes operating
decisions and evaluates operating performance on a consolidated basis. The Company consists of one operating segment providing a
cloud-based, end-to-end supply chain software platform and related professional services for its clients. The Company operates with
centralized functions and delivers its products through one platform.

The CODM assesses performance based on revenue, cost of revenue and significant expense categories as reported in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations. Assets are measured based on total assets as reported on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Total expenditures for additions to long-lived assets are reported as capital expenditures on the Consolidated Statements of Cash
Flows. The CODM uses revenue categories and cost of revenue excluding the amortization of acquired intangible assets as reported on
the Consolidated Statements of Operations to evaluate performance and allocate resources.

The CODM evaluates profitability excluding acquisition-related expenses; goodwill impairment; intangible asset impairment;
impairment of cost method investment, interest and other expenses, net; gain (loss) from change in tax receivable agreement liability;
gain from change in fair value of warrant liability; and gain from change in fair value of contingent consideration as reported on the
Consolidated Statements of Operations, as well as depreciation and amortization and share-based compensation as reported on the
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. The CODM manages the business using consolidated expense information as well as
regularly provided budget or forecasted expense information for the single operating segment.
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28. Commitments and Contingencies

Global Business Services Agreement

On December 27, 2024, the Company entered into a Master Service Agreement (MSA) with a third party which will provide certain
global business services, transformation advisory services and digital solutions for the Company in an effort to drive long-term
transformation and efficiencies for its internal processes. The term of the agreement is seven years. The MSA can be terminated after
twelve months with at least 180-days’ notice and payment of the applicable termination fee, which can range from $2.5 million to
$17.0 million depending upon the reason and timing of the termination.

Legal Proceedings

In 2014, Kewill Inc. (Kewill) (a predecessor of BluJay) entered into a software licensing and service contract with a customer that
resulted in a dispute over Kewill’s performance under the agreement. In June 2020, prior to the Company's acquisition of BluJay, the
customer filed suit. BluJay and its external counsel considered the claims meritless and intended to file a counter claim for delinquent
uncollected receivables. At the time of the BluJay Acquisition in September 2021, an allowance for credit losses was recorded against
the uncollected receivables from this customer. No further accrual was established for this litigation at the time of the acquisition or in
subsequent periods through the first quarter of fiscal 2024, as in management's judgment, which was based on the advice of external
legal counsel, the claims were without merit. Any loss beyond the uncollected receivables was considered remote and the maximum
exposure was believed to be immaterial. In February 2022, consistent with the related contractual terms, the case moved to binding
arbitration. Upon conclusion of the arbitration proceedings in August 2023, the arbitrator ruled against BluJay. On September 14,
2023, the parties agreed to a settlement for $17.8 million which resolved the matter and released the Company from all alleged claims.
The settlement was paid on September 20, 2023.

The settlement is not an admission of liability or wrongdoing by the Company or its predecessors, nor does it validate the alleged
claims.

The Company accrued $17.8 million for the settlement in the second quarter of fiscal 2024 as part of general and administrative
expenses on the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations.

From time to time, the Company is subject to contingencies that arise in the ordinary course of business. The Company records an
accrual for a contingency when it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably
estimated. The Company does not currently believe the resolution of any such contingencies will have a material adverse effect upon
the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets, Statements of Operations or Statements of Cash Flows.

29. Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Supplemental cash flow information and non-cash investing and financing activities are as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended
(In thousands) February 28, 2025 February 29, 2024 February 28, 2023
Supplemental cash flow information - Cash paid for:

Interest $ 92,912 $ 100,984 $ 62,151
Income taxes 7,940 8,113 10,587

Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Capital expenditures financed under financing lease obligations 2,146 4,209 1,662
Capital expenditures included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,293 230 2,733
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for operating lease obligations 249 10,432 2,023
Prepaid maintenance under notes payable — 462 —
Retirement of fully depreciated assets 6,640 2,609 419
Shares withheld for taxes on vesting of restricted stock 8,660 3,452 1,610
Conversion of Common Units to Class A Common Stock 2,253 7,544 2,481
Redeemable share-based awards 191 — —
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30. Subsequent Events

The 2021 Incentive Plan has an "evergreen" provision that provides for an annual automatic increase to the number of shares of Class
A Common Stock available under the plan. As of March 1, 2025, an additional 5,766,943 shares were reserved for issuance under the
"evergreen" provision.

On March 24, 2025, the staff of the NYSE Regulation determined to commence proceedings to delist the Company's warrants, ticker
symbol "ETWO-WT," from trading on the NYSE pursuant to Section 802.01D of the Listed Company Manual due to minimum
trading price requirements and trading of these warrants was immediately suspended. The Company's warrants have an exercise price
of $11.50 and expire in February 2026. As of March 25, 2025, the Company's warrants began trading on the OTC Markets under the
ticker symbol OTC:ETWOW. As a result, any over-the-counter market quotes reflect inter-dealer prices without retail mark-ups,
mark-downs or commissions and may not represent actual transactions.

On April 18, 2025, the Company signed an amendment to the Credit Agreement to extend the maturity date of the 2021 Revolving
Credit Facility to February 4, 2028 to coincide with the maturity date of the 2021 Term Loan. Additionally, the availability under the
2021 Revolving Credit Facility decreased from $155.0 million to $123.8 million.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We have disclosure controls and procedures in place to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed or
submitted under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (Exchange Act) is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. These controls and procedures are accumulated and
communicated to management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure.

Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer,
we performed an evaluation of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of February 28, 2025. In designing and evaluating these disclosure controls and procedures, our
management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable
assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and management necessarily was required to apply judgment in evaluating and
implementing possible controls and procedures. Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have not been any changes in our internal controls over financial reporting during the quarter ended February 28, 2025 that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. We review our disclosure
controls and procedures, which may include internal controls over financial reporting, on an ongoing basis. From time to time,
management makes changes to enhance the effectiveness of these controls and ensure that they continue to meet the needs of our
business over time.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for designing, implementing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such
term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act. Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting as of February 28, 2025 based on the criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework
(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on this assessment,
management concluded that as of February 28, 2025, our internal control over financial reporting was effective.

This 2024 Annual Report includes an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm regarding internal control
over financial reporting, which appears in Part II, Item 8., Financial Statements, of this 2025 Annual Report.
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Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

Management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that our disclosure controls and
procedures or our internal controls over financial reporting will prevent all errors or fraud. A control system, no matter how well
designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met.
Therefore, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be
considered relative to their costs. Due to the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluations of controls can provide absolute
assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within will be detected by us.

Item 9B. Other Information

Rule 10b5-1 Trading Arrangements

During the quarter ended February 28, 2025, none of our directors and officers adopted, modified or terminated a Rule 10b5-1 trading
arrangement or a non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement (each as defined in Item 408 of Regulation S-K under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended).

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions That Prevent Inspections

Not applicable.

PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this Item 10 will be contained in our definitive proxy statement to be filed with the SEC in connection
with our 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (Proxy Statement), which is expected to be filed no later than 120 days after the end of
our fiscal year ended February 28, 2025, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item 11 will be set forth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Shareholder Matters

The information required by this Item 12 will be set forth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

The information required by this Item 13 will be set forth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this Item 14 will be set forth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(a) Financial Statements

See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules in Part II, Item 8. of this 2025 Annual
Report.

Financial Statements Schedules

All schedules are omitted because the information required is not applicable or is shown in the financial statements or
notes herein or not present in amounts sufficient to require submission of the schedule.
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Exhibits

(b) The exhibits listed in the following Exhibit Index are filed or incorporated by reference as part of this 2025 Annual
Report.

Exhibit Index

Exhibit Number Description
2.1 † —Business Combination Agreement, dated as of October 14, 2020, by and among CC Neuberger Principal Holdings

I, E2open Holdings, LLC and the other parties thereto. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of CCNB1’s
Form 8-K/A (File No. 001-39272), filed with the SEC on October 15, 2020).

2.2 † —Amendment No. 1 to the Business Combination Agreement, dated January 28, 2021 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 2.1 of CCNB1’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-39272), filed with the SEC on January 29, 2021).

3.1 —Certificate of Incorporation of the E2open Parent Holdings, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of
E2open Parent Holdings, Inc.’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-39272), filed with the SEC on February 10, 2021).

3.2 —Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation of E2open Parent Holdings, Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.3 of E2open Parent Holdings, Inc.'s Form S-1 (File No. 333-259562) filed with the SEC on September
15, 2021).

3.3 —Bylaws of E2open Parent Holdings, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 of E2open Parent Holdings,
Inc.’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-39272), filed with the SEC on February 10, 2021).

4.1 —Form of Warrant Certificate of CC Neuberger Principal Holdings I (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of
CCBN1’s Form S-1/A (File No. 333-236974), filed with the SEC on April 17, 2020).

4.2 —Warrant Agreement, dated April 28, 2020, between Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company and CC
Neuberger Principal Holdings I (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of CCNB1’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
39272), filed with the SEC on April 28, 2020).

4.3 —Description of the Registrant’s Securities Registered under Section 12 of the Exchange Act (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.3 to Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on May 1, 2023)

10.1 —Third Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of E2open Holdings, LLC, dated as of
February 4, 2021, by and among E2open Parent Holdings, Inc. and each other person who is or at any time
becomes a member of E2open Holdings, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of E2open Parent
Holdings, Inc.’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-39272), filed with the SEC on February 10, 2021).

10.2 † —Tax Receivable Agreement, dated of February 4, 2021, by and among E2open Parent Holdings, Inc., Insight
E2open Aggregator, LLC as the Tax Receivable Agreement party representative and each other person who is or
at any time becomes a party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of E2open Parent Holdings, Inc.’s
Form 8-K (File No. 001-39272), filed with the SEC on February 10, 2021).

10.3 —Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of September 1, 2021, by and among E2open Parent
Holdings, Inc. and the other parties thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of E2open Parent Holdings,
Inc.’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-39272), filed with the SEC on September 2, 2021)

10.4 —Form of Subscription Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of CCNB1’s Form 8-K/A (File No.
001-39272), filed with the SEC on October 15, 2020).

10.5 —Form of Forward Purchase Agreement between CC Neuberger Principal Holdings I and the investor named
therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of CCNB1’s Form S-1 (File No. 333-236974), filed with the
SEC on April 21, 2020).

10.6 —Letter Agreement re: Forward Purchase by and between CC Neuberger Principal Holdings I and Neuberger
Berman Opportunistic Capital Solutions Master Fund L.P., dated as of October 14, 2020 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 of CCNB1’s Form 8-K/A (File No. 001-39272), filed with the SEC on October 15,
2020).

10.7 —Backstop Facility Agreement by and between CC Neuberger Principal Holdings I and Neuberger Berman
Opportunistic Capital Solutions Master Fund L.P., dated as of October 14, 2020 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 of CCNB1’s Form 8-K/A (File No. 001-39272), filed with the SEC on October 15, 2020).

10.8 —Sponsor Side Letter by and among Sponsor, Eva F. Huston, Keith W. Abell, CC NB Sponsor I Holdings LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company, Neuberger Berman Opportunistic Capital Solutions Master Fund LP, a
Cayman Islands exempted company and CC Neuberger Principal Holdings I (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.4 of CCNB1’s Form 8-K/A (File No. 001-39272), filed with the SEC on October 15, 2020).

10.9 —Credit Agreement, dated as of February 4, 2021, by and among E2open, LLC, the lenders party thereto and
Goldman Sachs Bank USA, as administrative agent and collateral agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6
of E2open Parent Holdings, Inc.’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-39272), filed with the SEC on February 10, 2021).
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Exhibit Number Description
10.10 —Amendment No. 1 to the Credit Agreement, dated as of June 18, 2021, by and among E2open, LLC, the lenders

party thereto and Goldman Sachs Bank USA, as administrative agent and collateral agent (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 of E2open Parent Holdings, Inc.’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-39272), filed with the SEC
on July 14, 2021)

10.11 —Amendment No. 2 to Credit Agreement, dated September 1, 2021, by and among E2open Intermediate, LLC,
E2open, LLC, Goldman Sachs Bank USA, and the financial institutions parties thereto as lenders and issuing
banks (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of E2open Parent Holdings, Inc.’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
39272), filed with the SEC on September 2, 2021)

10.12 —Amendment No. 3 to Credit Agreement, dated April 6, 2022, by and among E2open Intermediate, LLC, E2open,
LLC, Goldman Sachs Bank USA, and the financial institutions parties thereto as lenders and issuing banks
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on April 29, 2022)

10.13 —Amendment No. 4 to Credit Agreement, dated June 16, 2023, by and among E2open Intermediate, LLC, E2open,
LLC, Goldman Sachs Bank USA, and the financial institutions parties thereto as lenders and issuing banks
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K (File No. 001-39272), filed with the SEC on June 21,
2023)

10.14 —Amendment No. 5 to Credit Agreement and Agency Resignation and Appointment, dated April 18, 2025, by and
among, E2open Intermediate, LLC, E2open, LLC, Goldman Sachs Bank USA, USB and Stamford Branch, and
the financial institutions parties thereto as lenders and issuing banks (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
Form 8-K/A Amendment No. 1, filed with the SEC on April 28, 2025)

10.15 + —E2open Parent Holdings, Inc. 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan, As Amended and Restated (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.18 to Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on April 29, 2022)

10.16 + —Form of Executive Stock Option Grant Notice (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to Form 10-K, filed
with the SEC on May 1, 2023)

10.17 *+ —Form of Executive Performance Based Restricted Stock Unit Notice
10.18 *+ —Form of Executive Restricted Stock Unit Notice
10.19 + —Form of Executive Retention Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of E2open Parent Holdings,

Inc.’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-39272), filed with the SEC on November 22, 2023)
10.20 + —E2open Parent Holdings, Inc. 2021 Terms of Employment, dated March 1, 2021, between the Company, E2open,

LLC and the executive named therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of E2open Parent Holdings,
Inc.’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-39272), filed with the SEC on March 1, 2021).

10.21 + —Amended and Restated Employment Letter Agreement, by and between E2open Parent Holdings, Inc. and
Andrew Appel, dated as of February 8, 2024 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of E2open Parent
Holdings, Inc.’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-39272), filed with the SEC on February 14, 2024)

10.22 + —Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement for Andrew Appel, dated as of February 12, 2024
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of E2open Parent Holdings, Inc.’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-39272),
filed with the SEC on February 14, 2024)

10.23 + —Performance-Based Stock Option Award Agreement for Andrew Appel, dated as of February 12, 2024
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of E2open Parent Holdings, Inc.’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-39272),
filed with the SEC on February 14, 2024)

10.24 + —Time-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement for Andrew Appel, dated as of February 12, 2024
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of E2open Parent Holdings, Inc.’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-39272),
filed with the SEC on February 14, 2024)

10.25 + —Time-Based Stock Option Award Agreement for Andrew Appel, dated as of February 12, 2024 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.5 of E2open Parent Holdings, Inc.’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-39272), filed with the SEC
on February 14, 2024)

10.26 + —Time-Based Restricted Stock Units Award Agreement for Andrew Appel (Sign-On Award), dated as of February
12, 2024 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of E2open Parent Holdings, Inc.’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
39272), filed with the SEC on February 14, 2024)

10.27 + —Executive Severance Plan, dated as of February 4, 2021, by and among E2open Parent Holdings, Inc. and the
executive named therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 of E2open Parent Holdings, Inc.'s Form 10-K
(File No. 001-39272), filed with the SEC on May 20, 2021).

10.28 *+ —Executive Annual Incentive Plan of E2open Parent Holdings, Inc.
19.1* —E2open Parent Holdings, Inc. Insider Trading Policy
21.1* —List of Subsidiaries of the Company
23.1* —Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
31.1* —Certifications of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2* —Certifications of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.1* —Certifications of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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Exhibit Number Description
32.2* —Certifications of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
97.1 —Clawback Policy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 97.1 of E2open Parent Holdings, Inc's Form 10-K, filed

with the SEC on April 29, 2024)
101.INS —XBRL Instance Document.
101.SCH —XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
104 —Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document and contained in Exhibit 101)

* Filed herewith

+ Indicates a management or compensatory plan.

† Schedules to this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Registration S-K. The Registrant hereby agrees to
furnish a copy of any omitted schedules to the Commission upon request.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.

E2open Parent Holdings, Inc.
(Registrant)

/s/ Andrew M. Appel
April 29, 2025 Andrew M. Appel

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and as of the date indicated.

Signature Capacity Date
/s/ Andrew M. Appel Chief Executive Officer April 29, 2025

Andrew M. Appel (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Marje Armstrong Chief Financial Officer April 29, 2025
Marje Armstrong (Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ Deepa L. Kurian Chief Accounting Officer April 29, 2025
Deepa L. Kurian (Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ Chinh E. Chu Chairman of the Board of Directors April 29, 2025
Chinh E. Chu

/s/ Keith W. Abell Director April 29, 2025
Keith W. Abell

/s/ Dr. Stephen C. Daffron Director April 29, 2025
Dr. Stephen C. Daffron

/s/ Martin Fichtner Director April 29, 2025
Martin Fichtner

/s/ Eva F. Harris Director April 29, 2025
Eva F. Harris

/s/ Ryan M. Hinkle Director April 29, 2025
Ryan M. Hinkle

/s/ Timothy I Maudlin Director April 29, 2025
Timothy I. Maudlin






